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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK
EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE
“STOCK EXCHANGE?”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which a
higher investment risk may be attached than other companies
listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should be
aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and
should make the decision to invest only after due and careful
consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small
and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities traded
on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than
securities traded on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in
the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange
take no responsibility for the contents of this report, make no
representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly
disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or
in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of China Brilliant
Global Limited (the “Company’) collectively and individually accept full
responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange
(the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with
regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable
enquiries, confirm that, to the best of their knowledge and belief, the
information contained in this report is accurate and complete in all
material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there are no
other matters the omission of which would make any statement herein
or this report misleading.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
FREHE

On behalf of the board of Directors (the “Board”) of the Company,
| am pleased to present the annual report of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for the financial year ended 31
March 2023.

The COVID-19 repeatedly hit the word, especially during the second
half of 2022, China went through several rounds of COVID-19,
inevitably impacted its economy. As the geopolitics tension grew
and risks of economic downturn increased, material uncertainties
existed across the operating environment. Thanks to the recovering
from COVID-19 in the beginning of 2023, economic activities
gradually restored. Gold and jewellery trading of the Group steadily
increased while the leading business declined. As such, revenue of
the Group for the year ended 31 March 2023 reached approximately
HK$93,930,000, representing an increase of approximately 21% as
compared to approximately HK$77,806,000 for the year ended 31
March 2022.

The Group commenced the preparation for its banking business at the
Astana International Financial Centre (“AIFC”) since 2019, which was
officially kicked off in August 2021. Although the banking business is
at the development stage and has not yet contributed to the Group’s
result, the turnover of the banking business shows an year-on-year
increment of approximately 274%. As of 31 March 2023, deposits from
customers amounted to HK$31,539,000, while loans and advances
(net of allowance for credit losses) reached HK$49,200,000.

While our banking business is still under development, it has recorded
loss since its preparation and launch and has not been able to
meet the initial expectations of the Company. As such, on 2 June
2023, CBG Financial Services Group Limited, being a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, and | entered into a disposal agreement,
pursuant to which the parties agreed to sell and purchase 18.9%
of the issued shares of Brillink Holdings Limited (“Brillink Holdings”)
at the cash consideration of HK$184.9 million. Upon completion of
the disposal, Brilink Holdings will cease to be a subsidiary of the
Company.

| remain optimistic about the future development potential of fintech
business, considering the Group as a whole and various operating
environment factors, the partial withdrawal of our investment and
utilizing such resources and capital for other promising investment is
more beneficial to the current development of the Group.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
FREHE

Meanwhile, CBG Services Holdings Limited, being a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, and Shenzhen Pengyuan Smart
Technology Company Limited entered into an acquisition agreement
in relation to the purchase of the 100% equity interest in Shenzhen
China Brilliant Property Services Company Limited (“Shenzhen
Brilliant Property”) at the cash consideration of RMB89.2 million. Upon
completion of the acquisition, Shenzhen Brilliant Property will become
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.

Shenzhen Brilliant Property engages in the provision of property
management services that spans across different cities and regions of
the PRC, with a total of 22 property management projects, involving
large-scale industrial warehouses, residential quarters, industrial
parks, commercial plazas, and other types of properties and loT
technology application platforms. As the government of China has
been encouraging the further development of the industry through
cost reduction, this is a very promising opportunity for the Group and
will provide higher return for the Company and its shareholders as a
whole.

The Group also understands the importance of environmental
protection and climate change and the society has been gaining
awareness of environmental protection. As such, the Group will
continue to implement environmental protection measures, minimize
products with carbon footprints and establish long term carbon
reduction goals, with an aim to contribute more to environmental
protection.

Looking forward, despite the challenges such as operating
environment and geopolitics, the Group will steadily proceed
with its existing strategic plans, explore property management in
China and loT technology. The Group successfully implements
“property+technology”. Scientific construction gradually becomes
an important mean for property management companies to improve
quality, reduce cost, raise efficiency and innovate. The Group
constructs a platform with business development ability that covers
various service scenarios. Providing comprehensive solutions for
property service enterprises and property owners has become an
important development strategy for property management companies.
The Group also grasps the development opportunities of gold and
jewellery trading business and seek investment opportunities with
satisfying returns, with and aim to expand its income source and
enhance profitability to create more value and benefits for the Group
and its shareholders. We will continue to adopt the prudent approach
to balance our business development progress and liquidity, so as to
lay a solid foundation for the long-term development of the Group as a
whole.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
FREHE

During this challenging year, | would like to take this opportunity to
extend my sincere gratitude to those who support our strategies
and those who work hand in hand with the Group. Especially the
management and employees who full-heartly support the Group’s
growth and dedicated themselves during the COVID-19 pandemic. We
give special thanks to our business partners and shareholders who
have been supporting us for years. We are confident that, leverage
on the outstanding team of the Group, the priority of Shareholders’
interests, stable development, competitive strengths and further
enhancement of the Group’s position on the market, we will be
constantly increasing our corporate value.

Mr. Zhang Chunhua
Chairman

Hong Kong

30 June 2023
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEERR O

FINANCIAL REVIEW, BUSINESS PERFORMANCE
AND OUTLOOK

Revenue

During the year, the Group is engaged in gold and jewellery trading
and retailing, lending business and fintech business. As a result,
the Group’s revenue for the year ended 31 March 2023 amounted
to approximately HK$93,930,000, representing an increase of
approximately 21% from approximately HK$77,806,000 for the year
ended 31 March 2022. The increase was mainly from the Gold and
Jewellery Business because of the increase in trading of golden
jewellery products in the PRC.

Cost of sales and gross profit margin

Cost of sales of the Group increased from approximately
HK$72,786,000 for the year ended 31 March 2022 to approximately
HK$87,916,000, for the year ended 31 March 2023, representing
an increase of approximately 21%. As the gold jewellery wholesale
contributed a significant part of the revenue, which had a lower gross
profit margin, which was partially offset by high gross margin in lending
business, the overall gross profit margin decreased from approximately
6.45% to 6.40% in current year.

Other gains and losses, net

Other gains and losses, net during the year amounted to a loss
approximately HK$9,257,000, which was increased by approximately
HK$1,731,000 as compared with that of 2022 (2022: HK$7,526,000).
The increase was mainly attributable to the loss arising on fair value
change of financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.

Selling expenses

The Group’s selling expenses were approximately HK$162,000
for the year ended 31 March 2023 decreased from approximately
HK$517,000 for the year ended 31 March 2022. The decrease was
mainly attributable to the decrease the marketing and promotion
expenditure of the gold and jewellery trading and retailing business.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses experienced an increase of approximately
HK$1,765,000 from approximately HK$41,536,000 for the year ended
31 March 2022 to approximately HK$43,301,000 for the year ended
31 March 2023 which was mainly due to an increase in staff costs and
services fee in fintech business and amortisation of intangible assets in
amounting to HK$3,256,000 for the year ended 31 March 2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEERR O

FINANCIAL REVIEW, BUSINESS PERFORMANCE
AND OUTLOOK (Continued)

Finance costs

The Group’s finance costs experienced an increase of approximately
HK$24,000 from approximately HK$78,000 for the year ended 31
March 2022 to approximately HK$102,000 for the year ended 31
March 2023. The increase in such expenses was mainly due to interest
on lease liabilities increased.

Share of results of an associate
During the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, the Group had
share of results of an associate amounted to approximately Nil.

Impairment loss recognised in respect of interest in an
associate

Impairment loss recognised in respect of interest in an associate in
amounting to Nil is for the associate, Darling Paganini Holding Limited
(“Darling Paganini”) for the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022.

Impairment losses recognised under expected credit loss
model, net of reversal

Impairment losses recognised under expected credit loss model, net
of reversal are approximately HK$4,570,000 (2022: impairment losses
reversed of HK$1,517,000) for the year ended 31 March 2023.

Result for the year

The Group recorded a net loss of approximately HK$51,378,000 for
the year ended 31 March 2023, compared to a loss of approximately
HK$46,154,000 for the year ended 31 March 2022. The loss
for the year mainly due to () loss arising on fair value change of
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss in amounting to
HK$9,617,000; (i) loss on fintech business on development stage in
amounting to HK$31,346,000 and (i) other administrative expenses in
amounting to HK$18,449,000.

Dividend
The Board do not recommend the payment of a dividend for the year
ended 31 March 2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEERR O

FINANCIAL REVIEW, BUSINESS PERFORMANCE
AND OUTLOOK (Continued)

Inventories

As at 31 March 2023, inventories increased in amounting to
HK$16,816,000 (as at 31 March 2022: HK$634,000) mainly due to an
increase the sales orders.

Loan receivables

As at 31 March 2023, loan receivables increased in amounting to
HK$71,898,000 (as at 31 March 2022: HK$42,005,000) mainly due to
an increase from loans and advances from fintech business.

Contract liabilities

As at 31 March 2023, contract liabilities increased in amounting to
HK$18,700,000 (as at 31 March 2022: HK$2,495,000) mainly due to
increase from advance payments received from customers for sales of
goods.

Deposits from customers

As at 31 March 2023, deposits from customers increased in
amounting to HK$31,539,000 (as at 31 March 2022: HK$7,272,000)
mainly due to increase from the demand and time deposits from
corporate and individual customers.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEERR O

FINANCIAL REVIEW, BUSINESS PERFORMANCE
AND OUTLOOK (Continued)

Total equity

As a results of loss for the year, as at 31 March 2023, the Group’s
a total equity decreased by approximately HK$26,080,000 to
approximately HK$49,059,000 (31 March 2022: HK$75,139,000).

Liquidity and financial resources

The Group adopts a prudent cash and financial management policy. In
order to achieve better cost control and minimise the cost of funds, the
Group’s treasury activities are centralised and cash is generally placed
in deposits with banks.

As at 31 March 2023, total cash and cash equivalents of the Group
amounted to approximately HK$45,089,000 (31 March 2022:
HK$92,144,000). The decrease in total cash and cash equivalent
was mainly due to (i) poor operation results in amounting to
HK$43,352,000, (i) net changes from loan receivables set off with
deposits from customers in amounting to HK$8,110,000; and (iii)
change in inventories in amounting to HK$17,426,000

Treasury policies and foreign currency exchange exposure
As most of the Group’s trading transactions, monetary assets and
liabilities are denominated in United States Dollar, Renminbi and Hong
Kong Dollar, the impact of foreign exchange exposure to the Group
was insignificant and there was no significant adverse effect on normal
operations.

Cash is generally deposited at banks in the Republic of Kazakhstan,
PRC and Hong Kong and denominated mostly in United States Dollar,
Renminbi and Hong Kong Dollar. During the year ended and as at 31
March 2023, no related hedges were made by the Group (2022: nil).

Charges on Group’s assets
The Group did not have any charges on assets as at 31 March 2023
and 31 March 2022.

Contingent liabilities
As at 31 March 2023, the Group had no material contingent liabilities
(2022: nil).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEERR O

FINANCIAL REVIEW, BUSINESS PERFORMANCE
AND OUTLOOK (Continued)

Significant investments, acquisitions or disposals
The Group does not have any material acquisition or disposal during
the year ended 31 March 2023.

Capital structure and use of proceeds

Capital structure

The Company’s authorised, issued and fully paid share capital were as
follows:

MBEE - FBERREARREuW

EXRE - WBHHE
BE_T-=F=-A=1+—HILEFE  AQ7A
WEEAERRBRLE -

BXARBRASRERRE
BARRE
ARBZIEE  BBRITRBREADT

Number of shares Share capital
B EE B
HK$’000
T
Authorised: JETE ¢
As at 1 April 2022 and R-TE-_—_FWA—BK
31 March 2023 (HK$0.1 each) —E-=#=ZA=+—H
(SRR MEE01E L) 2,500,000,000 250,000
Issued and fully paid: BEETEERE:
As at 1 April 2022 and RZZEZZFWMA—AK
31 March 2023 (HK$0.1 each) —E-=F=ZA=+—H
(B EEETT) 1,457,238,414 145,724
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEERR O

FINANCIAL REVIEW, BUSINESS PERFORMANCE
AND OUTLOOK (Continued)

Capital structure and use of proceeds (Continued)

Capital structure (Continued)

The Group’s capital structure is sound with healthy working capital
management. As at 31 March 2023, the Group’s total equity
amounted to approximately HK$49,059,000, representing a decrease
of approximately 35% compared with that as at 31 March 2022 (31
March 2022: HK$75,139,000). As at 31 March 2023, the Group’s cash
and cash equivalents totaled approximately HK$45,089,000 (as at 31
March 2022: HK$92,144,000). The current ratio (note 1) and the quick
ratio (note 2) of the Group as at 31 March 2023 was 2.51 (as at 31
March 2022: 1.63) and 2.24 (as at 31 March 2022: 1.63) respectively.
The gearing ratio (note 3) of the Group as at 31 March 2023 was 0.31
(as at 31 March 2022: Net cash position).

Apart from the above, there has been no material change in the capital
structure of the Group during the year.

Notes:
() Current Ratio = Current Assets = Current Liabilities
(b) Quick Ratio = (Current Assets — Inventories) = Current Liabilities

() Gearing Ratio = (Debts — Cash and cash equivalents) = Equity

Use of proceeds

The use of proceeds had been fully utilized before 1 April 2022. There
is not any proceeds had been received or utilised during the year
ended 31 March 2023.

MBEE BEREARREZW

BEARAREBERBSRERZE)
BEAERE(E)

AEBZEARERR 2BELASERS
F-R-ZE-_=F=ZA=+—H A&£BHZ
48N 25 4 549,059,0008 T (—E - —F=A
=—+—H:75139,000/ ) W -_T = —F =
A=+ —BRAP#H35% - R T - =F=A
=t+—B AEBZREMRESSEY R
#745,089,0008 T (RZE_—F = HA=+—
H 92,144,000 L) c REEBR T = =4F
ZAZt+—HAZAHER(MFED) R RS X
(MisE2) p Rl A2l (R E-_—F=/=+—
B 163 k224 (R_E-_—_F=A=+—8:
163)c AZZE-_=F=A=+—H8 XAEEH
BERBELR(MEI) AR T
Z—AZT B REeFEMRE) -

B S AR 2 AR R A 9 3 A
EAEH -

BLE-RBEE-RBAR
) EBLE=(FBHEE-F8) - RDAE
AEBELE=(EY - R RALEEN)
FrSMIAME
FIBRERGR_T-__FHNA—BRIEE
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEERR O

EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had a total of 33 employees (31
March 2022: 25). Total staff costs for the year ended 31 March 2023
decreased to approximately HK$16,030,000 (2022: HK$16,118,000)
mainly due to decrease in staff costs in fintech business and
employees share award scheme.

The Group’s remuneration policy is basically determined by the
performance of individual employees and Directors and the market
condition. In addition to salaries and discretionary bonuses, employee
benefits included medical schemes, pension contributions, share
option schemes and staff training.

Human resources and employees’ remuneration

On 2 December 2020, Brillink Holdings Limited (BHL, formerly known
as CBG Fintech Holdings Limited), a subsidiary of the Company,
adopted a Share Award Scheme (the “BHL Share Award Scheme”).
The principal objectives of the BHL Share Award Scheme are (i) to
recognise the contributions by employees and to provide them with
incentives in order to retain them for the continual operation and
development of Fintech segment; and (ii) to attract suitable personnel
for further development of Fintech segment.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

Gold and Jewellery business
The Group commenced its Gold and Jewellery Business in 2015 and
continued to develop this business in the period under review.

During the period under review, the Group’s Gold and Jewellery
Business included wholesale and retail of jewellery and related
ancillary business (including but not limited to custom-made jewellery,
valet-procurement of jewellery and various after-sales services), and
most of the processing businesses are performed in the form of
commissioned processing by external factories. The gold and jewellery
products sold by the Group mainly included gold jewellery, platinum
jewellery, diamond jewellery, gemstone jewellery, emerald and karat
gold jewellery.

China Brilliant Global Limited | Annual Report 2022/23
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEERR O

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK (Continued)

Gold and Jewellery business (Continued)

The Group’s jewellery wholesale business was mainly conducted
through the wholesale of jewellery products to jewellery wholesalers
byZE U A OFII) AR AT, a wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, where the jewellery products being wholesaled were mainly
gold jewelries. During the period under review, the Group has the
secondary membership (Z £ & & & &) of Shanghai Gold Exchange
and continued to develop the secondary gold sales agency business
(E& I 7). The Group may place orders for bullion via the
online trading platform of Shanghai Gold Exchange. After claiming the
bullion, the Group may commission external factories to process into
finished gold jewellery and wholesale to jewellery wholesalers.

The Group will continue to focus on developing its Jewellery Business.
With reference to its past sales experience, the Group intends to step
up its efforts in identifying more jewellery wholesaler customers in
South China, thereby expanding the sales channels of its secondary
gold sales agency business (& & — #& X I ¥ 7% ). Meanwhile,
the Group will put more efforts to raise the sales proportion to its
major high-end corporate customers (which principally purchase or
customize jewellery as corporate gifts/awards) so as to increase the
jewellery sales as well as generate profits.

The revenue from the Gold and Jewellery Business increased by
approximately HK$14,998,000 from approximately HK$73,930,000 for
the year ended 31 March 2022 to approximately HK$88,928,000 for
the year ended 31 March 20283. The increase in revenue from the Gold
and Jewellery Business for the year under review was mainly because
of the increase in trading of golden jewellery products in the PRC.
Going forward, the Group will try further effort to control the selling
and administrative expenses while balancing the development of this
business.

FBEERRE@®

EERKEER(H)
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EBENHELR AEEAEENEER
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HES - QREXBNHERE - RK 8
NeEHEmEERER (EERBAFTEHIK
BEREERR M) WHELG - LA
KEHEBELFRAIENE -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEERR O

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK (Continued)

Lending business

The Group commenced its Lending Business in Hong Kong in 2016
through acquiring a group of companies with a valid money lending
licence in Hong Kong to diversify its income source. The Lending
Business continued to develop during the period under review. The
Group will pay a closer attention to the market situation and the
external economic environment and consider the possibility of further
expansion in the Lending Business.

There were five major outstanding loan receivables with the Group in
amounting to HK$26,646,000 (before allowance for credit loss) as at
31 March 2023. All of them were carried out as part of the ordinary
and usual course of business of the Group and brought in interest
income to the Group.

The revenue from the lending business decreased by approximately
HK$217,000 from approximately HK$3,387,000 for the year ended
31 March 2022 to approximately HK$3,170,000 for the year ended
31 March 2023. The decrease in revenue mainly due to a decrease
in loan interest income. However, the impairment losses recognised
under expected credit loss model, net of reversal in amounting to
HK$3,805,000 resulted in loss in this segment.

The Group has conducted internal risk assessment on these loan
arrangements and noted both of the borrowers have substantial
investments and assets in the PRC which support their respective
financial capability to repay the loans, thus no securities or collaterals
was sought. The purpose of the loans is to enhance their short-term
cash flow.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEERR O

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK (Continued)

Fintech business
The Group commenced its Fintech Business in 2019 and continued to
develop this business in the year under review.

Since October 2019, the Group has started preparations for its
banking business at the Astana International Financial Centre
(“AIFC”). On 4 December 2020, Astana Financial Services Authority
(“AFSA”) granted Brillink Bank Corporation Limited (“Brillink Bank”) an
approval-in-principle letter for a license to conduct regulated activities
with non-retail banking customers under AIFC. Brilink Bank was
officially established in AIFC on 25 December 2020 as an indirect
non-wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. On 26 March 2021,
AFSA granted Brillink Bank a license to conduct regulated banking
activities, including taking deposits, granting credits, advising on credit
financing, arranging credit financing, and providing money services.
On August 2021, Brillink Bank had completed the independent
assessment of implementation of controls over the Core IT Banking
System as well as technical assessments were conducted to validate
the adequacy and effectiveness of the actual technical or security
controls implemented. The Fintech business had been started on the
same time.

As at 31 March 2023, there was deposits from customers and loans
and advances with Brillink Bank in amounting to HK$31,539,000 and
HK$49,859,000 (before allowance for credit loss) as at 31 March
2023, respectively. As a result of a loss in this segment, due mainly to
development stage.

The Group will review the market situation and the profitability of the
business periodically. Then the Group will adjust the business volume
in accordance with market demands and determine the resources to
be further allocated based upon the business volume and operating
situation from time to time.

FBEERRE@®

ERMBRER
AEER-_F-NFHEESBRBMEES
WHREEFERERRZER -

A NF+AR AEBCHBEEN
Hi 55 40 B B < R0 ([P 2T 38 A B R & mh P
DDEEIRITER - RZZEZFTF+=-HAWMA -
P H S5 40 B4 AR 75 2 32 3 ([ P 2 35 49 2 j AR
& H ) M Brillink Bank Corporation Limited
([Brillink Bank]) #% tH R Bl M4 #E & 3 - 72 350
HEMBEE ST LE NRIETERTER
EITZHEEED o Brilink Banki A —ZE -4
T A THBAEMEEMNBRE SR LIE
XKL ABARENEEIEZEWNBAR - ¥
—E—F=ZAZ+NE WEHEHRESH R
7% & 12 |5 1A Brillink Bank 1% H B2 R A 17 45
BERIRITEE  BRERMAGTH - FHEE-
MEERERERZNR THEERERER
BEERS - R —_—F/\ 7 - Brilink Bank
BSERHEITIZO R 1T1E B HUIT R AT 5 68
MR EI B EITEMRE S LR EERE R
MEMIZ2EHEERIRER - & @E
FEBEREME -

AT =F=H=+—H " Brilink BankB&
BEPHEFUARER KBRS R /31,539,000
75 7T 549,859,000/ 7T (5 E BB &R © It
DEESEE FTEANEEBEMME -

N~

AR LR B E Hide AT TR R TS H) B A BE
RE - AREBREDTSFRKAERH
YWIRBITRNEBELLEBRURAEE
DEER

jj o
=
2

—%

2022/23 iR | BREEREBERAT

17



18

DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EERGHRERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhang Chunhua (“Mr. Zhang”), was appointed as the
Chairman and executive director of the Company on 12 February
2018. Mr. Zhang is in charge of the overall corporate strategies and
business development of the Group. Mr. Zhang founded a trading
company in Shenzhen and it evolved to become a global supply chain
management corporation which Mr. Zhang is currently the chairman.
Mr. Zhang is responsible for the overall strategic development of the
corporation which is a top 100 import/export corporation in the PRC
and a pioneer of supply chain management in the PRC. Mr. Zhang has
over 16 years of experience in supply chain management in the PRC.
Mr. Zhang is a member of the Chinese People’s Political Consultation
Conference National Committee and the chairman of 7 JI| T T 7% 3£ B

Py
crme.

From 1996 to 2003, Mr. Zhang worked in the Electronic Banking
Department of China Construction Bank, Shenzhen branch, (“CCB
Shenzhen Branch”) and mainly responsible for the development and
management of CCB Shenzhen Branch’s technology products. In the
past decade years of banking work experience, Mr. Zhang has deep
insights into the theoretical knowledge of banking, product services
and management, and is familiar with bank organizational structure,
bank products, business operations, network construction, financial
technology etc.

Mr. Zhang has led the development of the first batch of customers
of the financial technology products of CCB Shenzhen Branch,
promoted the convenience of the banking system and made a
positive contribution to the sprouting and development of science as a
supporter of the beginning of the mainland bank technology finance.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EERGHRERE

Ms. Chung, Elizabeth Ching Yee (“Ms. Chung”), was appointed
as an executive director, and the chief executive officer of the
Company on 18 May 2018. Ms. Chung has extensive professional
experience in Global brand building and investment advisory. She
was appointed as CEO and executive director of Paganini Milano (SG)
PTE Limited in early 2017, responsible for brand positioning, strategic
planning, and business development. She leads her team to develop
retail business globally. Prior to that, Ms. Chung was a director at BOCI
Securities Limited and an assistant vice president at HSBC Broking
Securities (Asia) Limited responsible for investment advisory for over
10 years, in charge of a department that make recommendations
and provide professional investment advices on asset allocation
and portfolio management. She mainly responsible for developing
and maintaining strategic asset management plans for the assigned
portfolio and managing relationships with various financial institutions
like hedge funds, private equity firms and listing companies. Besides
that, she achieved portfolio investment targets by analyzing and
recommending asset allocation, disposition and evaluating alternative
investment opportunities to clients.

Ms. Chung was appointed as a non-executive Director of InvesTech
Holdings Limited (stock code: 1087) on January 2023 and as an
independent non-executive Director of Star Plus Legend Holdings
Limited (stock code: 6683) on April 2023.

Ms. Chung graduated at Rutgers University, and started her
professional career at General Electric Capital Corporation in the
United States of America and she joined AT. Kearney (Hong Kong)
Limited after returning Hong Kong.

Ms. Zhang Chunping (“Ms. Zhang”), was appointed as an
executive director of the Company on 12 February 2018. Ms. Zhang
has over 15 years of experience in financial management in the
PRC and she is the Senior Vice President of China Brilliant Group
and general manager of Shenzhen China Brilliant Property Services
Company Limited. Ms. Zhang is responsible for overseeing the
financial operation of the corporation and liaising with various bankers
of the corporation for banking facilities and other services.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EERGHRERE

Ms. Chan Mei Yan Hidy (“Ms. Chan”), was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 12 February 2018. Ms. Chan
is also the Chairman of the audit committee (“Audit Committee”) of the
Company and a member of the Nomination Committee. Ms. Chan is a
finance expert with more than 20 years professional and commercial
exposure in international accounting firm, multinational corporations
and Hong Kong listed companies. She served as a Principal of Crowe
Horwath (HK) CPA Limited. Ms. Chan graduated from the University
of Hong Kong with a bachelor degree in accounting. She also holds
a master degree in business administration from the University
of Manchester. Ms. Chan is the member of certain professional
associations. Ms. Chan was Committee member and Chairman, SME
Sub-committee of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
(“ACCAY) for 8 years. She is elected in the ACCA Global Council
Election in December 2017. She was a member of ACCA Resource
Oversight Committee and International Assembly. She is a member of
ACCA’s Governance, Risk and Performance Global Forum.

Mr. Zhang Weidong, joined the Group in 31 May 2021 as an
independent non-executive director of Brillink Bank Corporation
Limited and appointed as an independent non-executive Director,
a member of the Audit Committee and the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee of the Group on 12 November 2021.

Mr. Zhang Weidong was the founding partner and president of Alpha
Win Capital Limited. He was an executive director of OP Financial
Investments Limited (stock code: 1140) and a partner of Oriental
Patron Financial Group primarily responsible for private equity
investments. Mr. Zhang Weidong has over 15 years of experience in
the operation and management of commercial banking, during which
he worked in the International Business Department of ICBC with his
final position as deputy general manager grade of the department.
During his tenor with ICBC, Mr. Zhang Weidong spent 3 years in
ICBC Almaty Branch, where he was in charge of treasury, credit
lending and office operations. Moreover, Mr. Zhang Weidong has
12 years of investment banking experience, served as an executive
director of ICEA Finance Group (the investment banking arm of ICBC)
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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and managing director of Alpha Alliance Finance Holdings Limited,
responsible for corporate finance and sales department respectively.
He is also an independent non-executive Director of Tianjin Port
Development Holdings Limited (stock code: 3382) and ZZ Technology
Group Company Limited (formerly: Zhongjin Technology Service
Group Company Limited, stock code: 8295). Mr. Zhang Weidong
holds a master degree from Renmin University of China in Economics,
a diploma of Programme for Management Development of Harvard
Business School and held a fellowship from Columbia University in
New York.

Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean (“Ms. Lee”), was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 12 February 2018. Ms. Lee
is also the Chairman of the Nomination Committee and a member
of both the Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee. Ms.
Lee was appointed as an independent non-executive Director of
Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited (stock code: 08018) on
September 2013. Prior to that Ms. Lee obtained a degree of Master
of Business Administration (Executive) at City U in October 2014. Ms.
Lee also obtained her Doctor of Business Administration from the City
University of Hong Kong in November 2018.

Ms. Lee is currently Wealth Management Director at AIA International
Ltd Hong Kong. Before that Ms. Lee run her own business in luxury
fur retail. From 2006-2012 Ms. Lee worked for King Fook Holdings
Limited and her last position was director of sales and brand
development, Greater China. From October 2012 to January 2015, Ms.
Lee worked for Boucheron Hong Kong Limited as a retail director. Ms.
Lee was a director of Yan Oi Tong, a registered non-profit charitable
organisation, from 2010 to 2014 and 2017, 2019, 2020.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EERGHRERE

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. LAM John Cheung Wah (“Mr. Lam”), was appointed as the
Group’s subsidiary, Brilink Bank Corporation Limited, a director on 3
May 2022, has expensive in investment and development in banking
and real estate industry for over 30 years.

Mr. Lam joined the Nanfung Group in 2013 and was the Vice Chairman
and Executive Director of Nan Fung Property Holdings Limited which
is engaged in property investments and development in China. He sits
on various committees of business and was responsible for general
management of the organizations.

Prior to this, he was an Executive Director of Dah Sing Bank, Limited
and a Director of Dah Sing Securities Limited, Dah Sing Life Assurance
Co. Limited and Dah Sing Bank (China) Limited.

Mr. Lam was employed by Hang Seng Bank Limited as an assistant
general manager from 2003 to 2005. Before Hang Seng Bank Limited,
Mr. Lam worked in various senior positions in The Hongkong and
Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited and the Royal Bank of Canada
for over 21 years. He is an advisor of Brilliant Bank Corporation Limited
currently.

Mr. Lam obtained in June 1988 and June 1977, respectively, a
Bachelor’'s Degree in Business Management and a Marketing Diploma
from Ryerson Polytechnical Institute, now Ryerson University in
Toronto, Canada. And was designated as a Fellow of the Institute of
Canadian Bankers in 1980.

Mr. Lam is the Vice Chairman of China Real Estate Chamber of
Commerce Hong Kong and International Chapter Limited, member of
the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference Guangzhou
Committee and as a Senior Advisor to the Greater Bay Area
Association.

China Brilliant Global Limited | Annual Report 2022/23

EREERE

EEEX4E(EXEDRN-_ZE-_—-F7A
— BEZE AN EENE A R Brilink Bank
Corporation Limited ) Z =& » I iAM& & M A 2
RITREMETEEBBIOFHLER -

EEER-T-SEMABEENERE
UREEERERRERARBEFR
ERHTEE  ZARARTELFENERER
M- BASAEFEIENE  LAKK
FAAMGA TR -

SR WEBEARHBITARABDZHTES
RR#EFBRRE]  KRAASRBRERA
AR AFIBIT(FEDBERRARIZES »

ELREER TR -2 _TTAFTERE
HIRITERAGERLIE - MABEIRTT
ERAFIZA  EXRETRBELELEELR
TERAF K INZE K E KRR 1T (Royal Bank
of Canada) & X Z (B A #21F » IHIRT
Brilliant Bank Corporation Limited & & °

EXESIR—NANANERAR—NEtESF
N AEUBINE X % fa % Ryerson Polytechnical
Institute (3R /% 1% B % A2 (Ryerson University))
BETEHELBNEMBEE  TR—NAN
TFERZTANERBIRBEE L -

EXER2ETHBENERS T ENER
DEERATEEIE FEARBABEE
FEMNTEZESZREURKERG S RE
A o



DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EERGHRERE

Mr. Chan Koon Fat (“Mr. Chan”) has been appointed as the
chief financial officer, Company Secretary and the Authorised
Representative of the Company on 12 February 2018. Mr. Chan, has
over 20 years of experience in the areas of capital markets, accounting
and finance, investment and corporate management covering a
number of industry sectors such as real estate, medical and garment.
Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Chan is the chief financial officer and
company secretary of On Real International Holdings Limited (stock
code: 8245) from March 2016 to August 2017 and is responsible for
all financial, accounting, investment and corporate finance matters.
Since August 2007, Mr. Chan held senior positions including chief
financial officer, financial controller and company secretary of certain
companies which were listed on Singapore Exchange Limited. Mr.
Chan holds a Master of Business Administration (Financial Services)
of Hong Kong Polytechnic University and a bachelor degree in
accounting of Lingnan University, Hong Kong. He is a fellow and
practicing member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHE

The Director of the Company are pleased to present the annual report
and the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 March 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details of
the principal activities of the principal subsidiaries are set out in note
36 to the consolidated financial statements.

SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

An analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by principal activities for
the year ended 31 March 2023 is set out in note 5 to the consolidated
financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS
The Group’s loss for the year ended 31 March 2023 and the state of
affairs of the Company and of the Group at that date are set out in the

financial statements on pages 79 to 204.

The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend for the
year ended 31 March 2023.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group for the year under review is set
out in the Management Discussion and Analysis section of this annual
report on pages 8 to 17.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

EEEHE

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION HMBEEREE

The following is a summary of the published results and assets and AEBBTRAEMREEEHECEENE
liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years. EREEHENAT -

Results E

Year ended 31 March
BEZE=A=+—HLEE
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—EBEI=f —FT—-— B —ZE-FTFE —ZT-hEF

HK$000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTEx TAIT TABT FTAET THET

Revenue W & 93,930 77,806 59,038 100,560 84,047
Loss before tax BRITAIEE (51,378) (46,154) (38,277) (35,033) (53,994)
Income tax expense T8 M - - - (39) (12)
(51,378) (46,154) (38,277) (35,072) (54,006)

Discontinued operation ERIEEEETE

Loss for the year from REDEIEEE
discontinued operation EBZFEN
E 1B

- - (867) (3,039) -

Loss for the year attributable N A RIEZRIFHA A
to equity holders of EIEFERNEE
the Company (51,378) (46,154) (39,144) (38,111) (54,006)
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

EEEHE

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION (Continued)

Assets and Liabilities

MBENEE
BEERAR

As at 31 March

(%)

W=R=+—H
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—EC-= T T —T-TFE —T-NEF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
i e FET FET FHET FHET
Property, plant and W BEREZE
equipment 808 1,385 2,189 2,418 3,267
Right-of-use assets FRAEEE 999 170 2,085 4,071 -
Investment property wEWME - - - - 11,107
Intangible assets BEEE 12,397 14,375 - - -
Prepayments A /1B 211 - 4,670 - -
Goodwill &S - - - - 1,765
Interest in an associate REEENE) 2R - - - 482 9,883
Loan receivables U E = - - - - 2,259
Current assets TmENE E 154,349 152,871 154,466 92,386 117,238
Current liabilities HBAE (61,491) (93,662) (9,415) (8,535) (22,964)
Non-current liabilities ERBEE (58,214) - (70,515) (2,270) -
Net assets BEFE 49,059 75,139 83,480 88,552 122,555
Share capital [N 145,724 145,724 145,724 145,245 145,096
Reserves 1 (127,445) (119,494) (84,535) (56,693) (22,541)
Equity attributable to owners N2 15 A A FE1G
of the Company i 18,279 26,230 61,189 88,552 122,555
Non-controlling interests FEIE AR == 30,780 48,909 22,291 - -
Total equity g L] 49,059 75,139 83,480 88,552 122,555
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHE

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year are set out in notes 15 to the consolidated
financial statements.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Details of movements in the Intangible assets of the Group during the
year are set out in notes 17 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital and share
options during the year are set out in notes 32 and 33 to the
consolidated financial statements, respectively.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association (the “Articles of Association”) or the laws of
the Cayman Islands, being the jurisdiction in which the Company
was incorporated, which would oblige the Company to offer new
shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders of the Company
(“Shareholders”).

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company'’s listed securities during the
year ended 31 March 2023.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and of the
Group during the year are set out in note 34 to the consolidated
financial statements and in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity, respectively.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHE

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2023, the Company had no reserves available
for distribution as calculated in accordance with the Companies
Law (2001 Revision) of the Cayman Islands. Under the laws of the
Cayman lIslands, the share premium account is distributable to the
Shareholders provided that immediately following the date on which
the dividend is proposed to be distributed, the Company will be
in a position to pay off its debts as and when they fall due in the
ordinary course of business. The share premium account may also be
distributed in the form of fully paid bonus shares.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year under review, sales to the Group’s five largest
customers accounted for approximately 93% (2022: 89%) of the
Group’s total sales for the year and sales to the largest customer
included therein accounted for approximately 33% (2022: 46%) of the
Group'’s total sales.

During the year under review, supplies from the Group’s five largest
suppliers accounted for approximately 100% (2022: 100%) of the
Group’s total purchases and purchases from the Group’s largest
supplier included therein accounted for approximately 100% (2022:
99%) of the Group’s total purchases.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or any of their
associates or any Shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the
Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital)
had any beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest customers or
suppliers during the year.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHE

SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITIES AND SERVICES AND
ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY

The Group recognises the importance of environmental sustainability
against modern ecological challenges. Therefore, the Group
committed to the long-term sustainability of its businesses and
the communities with which it engages. The Group pursues this
business approach by managing its business prudently and executing
management decisions with due care and attention. The Group
is committed to acting in an environmentally responsible manner.
Recycling and use of ecofriendly stationery, plus a series of measures
to save paper and energy, resulted in more efficient use of resources,
as well as reduction of waste.

Further details of the Groups environmental, social and governance
initiatives, please refer to the disclosure in the “Environmental, Social
and Governance Report”.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

Continuous dialogue is maintained with stakeholders that include
customers, employees, regulators and the public. The Company
seeks to balance the views and interests of these various stakeholders
through constructive conversations with a view to charting a course
for the long-term prosperity of the Company and the communities we
touch.

EMPLOYEES

Hard-working and dedicated employees are the backbone of a
company. The Company treasures its loyal and industrious staff
members. In addition, it adopts non-discriminatory hiring and
employment practices and strives to provide a safe and healthy
workplace.

GOVERNMENT/COMMUNITY

The Group recognises the importance of contributing within the
local community and the Group encourage its people to develop
close links with charities, schools and other institutions, both locally
and nationally, to help to build more economically sustainable local
environments. Strenuous efforts are exerted to ensure compliance
with the laws and regulations of the jurisdictions in which the Company
operates.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHE

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company who held office during the year and up
to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhang Chunhua (Chairman)
Ms. Chung, Elizabeth Ching Yee
Ms. Zhang Chunping

Independent Non-executive Directors

Ms. Chan Mei Yan Hidy
Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean
Mr. Zhang Weidong

In accordance with article 108 of the Articles of Association, Mr. Zhang
Chunhua, Ms. Zhang Chunping and Ms. Chan Mei Yan Hidy will retire
from office and, being eligible to offer themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company (the “AGM”).

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS’
CONFIRMATIONS OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent
non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of his/her
independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules. The
Company considers all of its independent non-executive Directors to
be independent.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHE

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Mr. Zhang Chunhua, an executive director, entered into a Director’s
service contract with the Company for a fixed term of three years,
commencing from 12 February 2018, and thereafter be continuous
until terminated by either party by serving on the other party not less
than three months’ prior notice in writing, and is subject to retirement
by rotation and re-election at the general meeting of the Company in
accordance with the Articles of Association.

Ms. Chung, Elizabeth Ching Yee, an executive director, entered into a
Director’s service contract with the Company for a fixed term of three
years, commencing from 18 May 2018, and thereafter be continuous
until terminated by either party by serving on the other party not less
than three months’ prior notice in writing, and is subject to retirement
by rotation and re-election at the general meeting of the Company in
accordance with the Articles of Association.

Ms. Zhang Chunping, an executive director, entered into a Director’s
service contract with the Company for a fixed term of three years,
commencing from 12 February 2018, and thereafter be continuous
until terminated by either party by serving on the other party not less
than three months’ prior notice in writing, and is subject to retirement
by rotation and re-election at the general meeting of the Company in
accordance with the Articles of Association.

Ms. Chan Mei Yan Hidy, an independent non-executive director,
entered into a Director’s service contract with the Company for a
fixed term of three years, commencing from 12 February 2018, and
thereafter be continuous until terminated by either party by serving on
the other party not less than one month’s prior notice in writing, and is
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the general meeting
of the Company in accordance with the Articles of Association.

Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean, an independent non-executive director,
entered into a Director’'s service contract with the Company for a
fixed term of three years, commencing from 12 February 2018, and
thereafter be continuous until terminated by either party by serving on
the other party not less than one month’s prior notice in writing, and is
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the general meeting
of the Company in accordance with the Articles of Association.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHE

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS (Continued)

Mr. Zhang Weidong, an independent non-executive director, entered
into a Director’s service contract with the Company for a fixed term
of three years, commencing from 12 November 2021, and thereafter
be continuous until terminated by either party by serving on the other
party not less than one month’s prior notice in writing, and is subject
to retirement by rotation and re-election at the general meeting of the
Company in accordance with the Articles of Association.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Board are authorised by the Shareholders in general meeting to
fix the Directors’ remuneration. Other emoluments are determined
by the Board with reference to Directors’ duties, responsibilities and
performance, the results of the Group as well as the prevailing market
conditions.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions of the Group are set out in
note 37 to the consolidated financial statements. Such transactions
did not constitute connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions under the GEM Listing Rules.

The Directors confirmed that during the year under review, the
Company has complied with the disclosure requirements in
accordance with Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

None of the Directors had a material beneficial interest, either directly
or indirectly, in any contract of significance to the business of the
Group to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party
during the year.

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS, CHIEF
EXECUTIVE AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors, chief executive and the five

highest paid individuals of the Group are set out in notes 11 and 12 to
the consolidated financial statements, respectively.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Group were
entered into or existed during the year.

China Brilliant Global Limited | Annual Report 2022/23

EEZRBESHW@

BYFATESRAREECHARBFTL
—HEZERBKEH BT —F+—A+=
B BEHA=F HREEBEEX =
FRA-—TRE—HTEHTIR—ERAZER
EEBEMRL > WERRABEEAMINA
REBERARGLWESERNREREEE -

EEM=

EXeRBERNBRRAGLERETESM
T HEMMEhESTERLEEE MY
BERRE AKEXEARBRTHRARE

}:'_‘F_o
BEHREALXRS
AEEEMEATR D2 HIERNEAUH

WRMEES7 - ZERXRHATHERGCGEM LT R
A2 ERFAERAERS -

EXHR  ROBEFERN  AARDETGEM
FHRANFE20TE 2 KEHRTE °

EEzafEs
FR - B F B E ) B R D F) 3 AT B

BARGIY BHAKREZEBMEBEKX
ZEXNTHREERIEEERES #E -

EE -BRUTERINGRSEHM
ATHE £

AEEESF  HRTBHABRAERRS H
ATHIMFBEDBIE NGRS T RERM T
NRI2

EEAH

FRAALET VX EEREEREEAREE
ERSAETMNERFDEBZAL -



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHRE

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

The Company adopts and administers a share option scheme which is
currently in force and effect for the purpose of providing incentives and
rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the success of the
Group’s operations.

The current share option scheme was approved by the Shareholders
at the annual general meeting of the Company held on 10 September
2021 (the “2021 Scheme”) in place of the previous share option
scheme of the Company which was adopted in August 2011 and
expired in August 2021 (the “2011 Scheme”). Options granted under
the 2011 Scheme which remained outstanding are set out below.

A summary of the 2021 Scheme is set out below:

The 2021 Scheme became effective for a period of 10 years
commencing on 10 September 2021. Eligible participants of the 2021
Scheme include the employees and directors of the Group, business
partners, agents, consultants or advisers appointed by the Group.
Under the 2021 Scheme, The subscription price for Shares under the
New Share Option Scheme may be determined by the Board at its
absolute discretion, provided that it shall not be less than the highest
of: (i) the closing price of the Shares on the Stock Exchange as shown
in the daily quotations sheet of the Stock Exchange on the Offer Date,
which must be a Business Day; (ii) the average of the closing prices
of the Shares as shown in the daily quotations sheets of the Stock
Exchange for the five (5) consecutive Business Days immediately
preceding the Offer Date; and (jii) the nominal value of the Share on
the Offer Date. A nominal consideration of HK$1.00 is payable by
the grantee upon acceptance of an Option. An offer of the grant of
an Option shall be deemed to have been accepted by an Eligible
Participant concerned in respect of all Shares which are offered
to such Eligible Participant when the duplicate letter comprising
acceptance of the Offer duly signed by the Eligible Participant with
the number of Shares in respect of which the Offer is accepted
stated therein, together with a remittance in favour of the Company of
HK$1.00 by way of consideration for the grant thereof is received by
the Company within twenty-one (21) days from the Offer Date (or such
shorter period referred to in the paragraph above).

No share option was granted under 2021 Scheme.
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EETHE
SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (Continued) BREE @)
2011 scheme —E2——F58

Further details of the 2011 Scheme are disclosed in note 33 to the BT —— T8N E—PHFBEREEM

consolidated financial statements. T ¥R M FE33HK & -
Number of share options
At Granted  Exercised Lapsed At Exercise period  Exercise price
Name or category of 1April  duringthe  duringthe  during the 31 March Date of share of share options of share options
participant 2022 period period period 2023  options granted* granted granted**
R=B=Zf R=%B== BHERE B
SAERRAER mMA-B  HAkE HATE  BHAAR ZA=+-H BRERLAE ZITEHR ZITEE™
HKS per share
AT(ER)
Directors
B
Mr. Zhang Chunhua 13,800,000 - - — 13,800,000 27 June 2018 27 June 2019 to 0.59
26 June 2028
REERE TN\ —ZNE
NAZTEE ANAZTtAZ
“ZTo)\F
~NAZTAE
Ms. Zhang Chunping 13,800,000 - - — 13,800,000 27 June 2018 27 June 2019 to 0.59
26 June 2028
REERT —B)N\E 3
~NAZT+EA ANAZTERAZE
—ZCN\E
~NATtAH
Ms. Chung Elizabeth 13,800,000 - - — 13,800,000 27 June 2018 27 June 2019 o 0.59
Ching Yee 26 June 2028
ERERT —EN\E ZE0E
~NAZt+H ~NAZTEEZE
—BoNE
~NAZTRA
Ms. Chan Mei Yan Hidy 300,000 - - - 300,000 27 June 2018 27 June 2019 to 0.59
26 June 2028
REBZT —E-N\E E2-NE
NAZTEE ~NAZTERZE
ZECN\E
~NAZTAE
200,000 - - - 200,000 18 December 2018 18 December 2019 0.33
to 18 December 2028
Z2-N\F ZE-NE
TZA+NA TZATN\BZE
—ZCN\E
+ZA+NA
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EEEHE

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (Continued)

2011 scheme (Continued)

BREE @)

—F——F5EER)

Number of share options
BREHE
At Granted  Exercised Lapsed At Exercise period  Exercise price
Name or category of 1 April  duringthe  duringthe  during the 31 March Date of share of share options of share options
participant 2022 period period period 2023  options granted* granted granted**
R=B=Zf R=B-=f RHERE RHERE
SREABAER mMA-B  HARE HATE  BAAR ZA=+-H BRERLAE ZITEHR ZITEE™
HKS per share
BT(ER)
Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, 300,000 - - - 300,000 27 June 2018 27 June 2019 1o 059
May Jean 26 June 2028
FEARL —E-N\E —Z-0E
NAZH+A ~NAZTERZE
—BONE
~NAZTAH
200,000 - - - 200,000 18 December 2018 18 December 2019 to 0.33
18 December 2028
—EN\F ZE-NE
TZATNE TZATN\BZE
—ZI-)\F
TZATNE
42,400,000 - - — 42,400,000
Employees of
the Group
58S
In aggregate 13,160,000 - - — 13,160,000 27 June 2018 27 June 2019 to 0.59
26 June 2028
CH —E-N\E —E-NE
~NAZtTtH AAZTERE
—ToN\E
~NAZTRE
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EEEHE

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (Continued)

2011 scheme (Continued)

BiRESE (m)

—F-—F58E)

Number of share options
BEREYA
At Granted  Exercised Lapsed At Exercise period  Exercise price
Name or category of 1April  duringthe  duringthe  during the 31 March Date of share of share options of share options
participant 2022 period period period 2023  options granted* granted granted**
—g-Z R=B==% Rk E BHERE
SAELABAER mMA—-B  BAkH HATE  BAAY ZA=+-H BRESLAE ZITHHR 2T B
HK$ per share
BEn(ER)
Others
Hit
In aggregate 16,600,000 - - — 16,600,000 27 June 2018 27 June 2019 to 0.59
26 June 2028
At ZEN\E “E-NE
NAZtH+H ANAZTtRAZ
“EO)\E
NAZTAH
34,700,000 - - — 34,700,000 18 December 2018 18 December 2019 to 0.33
18 December 2028
“E-0\F ZE-NE
TZATNE TZA+NBZE
o \E
TZATNR
51,300,000 - - — 51,300,000
106,860,000 - - — 106,860,000
* The time of acceptance of the share options was within 21 days from the BREZEWNEE AEEREZHA LT

options offer date. The share options granted are subject to certain vesting
period and vary for each category of participant as specified under the
respective share option schemes.

o The exercise price of the share options is subject to some adjustments in the
case of rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes in the Company’s

share capital.

e There were no share options granted and exercised during the year

As at 31 March 2023, the Company had outstanding options to
subscribe for up to 106,860,000 shares under the 2011 Scheme.
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EEEHE

BHL SHARE AWARD SCHEME

On 2 December 2020, Brillink Holdings Limited (BHL, formerly known
as CBG Fintech Holdings Limited), a subsidiary of the Company,
adopted a Share Award Scheme (the “BHL Share Award Scheme”).
The principal objectives of the BHL Share Award Scheme are (i)
to recognise the contributions by employees and to provide them
with incentives in order to retain them for the continual operation
and development of the Fintech segment; and (i) to attract suitable
personnel for further development of Fintech segment.

On 23 December 2020, 1,474 Shares were granted, accepted and
vested to certain directors and other participants, which represented
approximately 8% of the Company’s shares in issue at that date. CBG
Financial Services Group Limited had transferred 1,474 shares to the
directors and employees. The fair value of the Shares granted was
approximately HK$5,297,000.

On 30 September 2022, 180 shares were granted, accepted and
vested to certain directors and other participants. Brillink Holdings
Limited has allotted 180 new shares under the BHL Share Award
Scheme, which represented approximately 0.9% of its enlarged shares
in issue at that date. The fair value of the 180 shares awarded on the
granted was valued at HK$21,761 each share. For the year ended
31 March 2023, the Group recognised expenses of approximately
HK$521,000 (2022: nil) in the statement of profit and loss.

A summary of the movements of the BHL share awards during the
year ended 31 March 2023 are as follows:

EEAIE IR AR 2 € B &t 8

R-B-_FBF+_A—H  ARAFIHBATE
AR AR AT (BHRAER - BIERAERR
BT AR AR A —ER (D B E AT & (5
BATERR AR D B2 BT 21 )) - BRI R AR5 12 B
FEMETZERANRBREENER TS
BRI BHEREERERAKESIRMEE
BABEZERE  Li)ASRE D MBNE
—HBERERSIGEAE -

NR-_ZE-_FBE+_A-+=R ETEEK
HMm2HEEDERD  BEAREB1474R R
7 hZBEARREEEITIRMD #98% - BAEEE
BemiREEBEERARENEERREESE
BATARR RS - EREHWROAFEEL A
5,297,000/ 7T °

/!

R-ZE-——FALAZ=Z+tH BEFTEFKEM
SHEDERL BEAKLEBEI1S0RE G -
BHERER AR ERIE SRR G EE
5T 8| B2 B180R% ¥ A% 10 + 1h 3% B S I KB %
1T 9 490.9% B % [ A9180/% i 10 &y A F
BEABR2A7T61EBTL HE2-_TE_=4=A
—t+—BLEFE AEERBERPHEHA
¥ 49521,0008 T (ZE - —F : T) o

RE-R-=F=A=+—ALFEEHE
RGO EHHEDEBMT

Number of BHL Share Awards

ENERRAERHA

As at As at

Grantees Date of grant Vesting date 1 April 2022 Granted Vested Called 31 March 2023
RZ%ZZ R=B==
EEA BB FEAH mA—H 2R 2EE ERK =A=+-H
Directors
B2
Ms. Chung Elizabeth 23 December 2020 22 December 2021 599 - - - 599
Ching Yee

BHERT “ECFET-ACTER ZBC-4#t-A-TZH
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BHL SHARE AWARD SCHEME (Continued) EHERKRDERGS @)

Number of BHL Share Awards

38

BEHERRGEBHE
As at As at
Grantees Date of grant Vesting date 1 April 2022 Granted Vested Called 31 March 2023
R-B-Zf R-B-=F
EEA B A FEAN mA-H 2R EHE BEEl =A=+-H
Other participants
Hit 3R %
Other employee(s)
AfES
Staff A 23 December 2020 22 December 2023 368 - - = 368
8TA “EREF-A-+=B “E--F+-A-f-H
23 December 2020 22 December 2023 369 - - - 369
“E-BEF-A-+ER ZE-=E+-A-TCA
Staff B 23 December 2020 22 December 2021 46 - - - 46
8718 “ToTE+-AC+EA “E--F+-F-tCH
Staff C 23 December 2020 22 December 2025 46 - - - 46
EIC “F-FE+-ACt=R ZE-RE+-A-tZH
Staff D 23 December 2020 22 December 2025 46 - - - 46
EID “E-EE+-f-+=R ZECRET-A-TCAH
Staff E 30 September 2022 29 September 2025 - 30 - - 30
BTE ZECCENA=TH ZECREAAZTAA
30 September 2022 29 September 2027 - 30 - - 30
ZEZZENACTH ZECEERAZTAA
Staff F 30 September 2022 29 September 2025 - 30 - - 30
8TF “ECCFNAZTH ZECREAAZTAR
30 September 2022 29 September 2027 - 30 - - 30
ZEZENA=TH ZEZEFENAZ AR
Staff G 30 September 2022 29 September 2025 - 30 - - 30
8716 ZEZZERAETH ZZZREARZTAR
30 September 2022 29 September 2027 - 30 - - 30
ZECZEAA=TH ZECEERAZTAA
Total 1474 180 - - 1,654
@3
* In the process of recalling - TR

China Brilliant Global Limited | Annual Report 2022/23



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHE

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2023, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and chief executive in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)) which
were notified to the Company and the Exchange pursuant to Divisions
7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions
which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of
the SFO), or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company under Section 352 of the SFO, or which were, pursuant
to the code of conduct regarding securities transactions by Directors
adopted by the Company, notified to the Company and the Exchange,
were as follows:

Long positions in the ordinary shares of the Company

EERFTETHRAERREGKRERH
IRz KRR

RZBZ=F=A=+—H ' F2RFETHK
ABRARBSHEERBBER (TR RES
KBGO (TFEH R AR EXVED) 2 Ik
M REERGO S - BERBEZEFRBAEED
EXVEBETR F87 BB R & AN KBk 3 P
2R KE (BRERBRERES L EEDIEE
X REREEIRREBIERIORE)
HALHEN AR RREF 5 M B EFHI5E352
FRBEFZELMAZER AR - HRE
RRRRMEBEFETESFRHZITR
STRIZE MG ANA R R B BT 2 #E s SOk B
T

RAQRAEBRZIFR

Percentage of
the Company’s
issued share

Number of capital

Name of Director Notes Capacity and nature of interest ordinary shares Note (7)

EARFERT

EABSL

EEHNA M BORESEER EiERHE Bff 3E(7)

Mr. Zhang Chunhua (1) Interegt of a controlled corporation 834,851,294 57.29%

EEELLE —EREH AT 2w

Mr. Zhang Chunhua (2)  Personal interest 57,098,000 3.92%
REELE {8 A

Ms. Zhang Chunping (38) Personal interest 13,800,000 0.95%
REF AL+ (EPN- ¥

Ms. Chung Elizabeth Ching Yee (4)  Personal interest 16,609,000 1.14%
EEHELL 18 ARE 2

Ms. Chan Mei Yan Hidy (5)  Personal interest 500,000 0.03%
BREBLL 8 A#m=

Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean (6) Personal interest 500,000 0.03%

FHEPLL

8 A 25
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES (Continued)

Long positions in the ordinary shares of the Company
(Continued)

Notes:

(1)

)

Save

834,851,294 shares of the Company are held by Birilliant Chapter Limited
and its entire issued share capital is held 20% by Source Mega Limited, a
company incorporated in the Republic of Seychelles. The directors of Brilliant
Chapter Limited are Mr. Zhang Chunhua and Ms. Zhang Chunping and the
sole director of Source Mega Limited is Ms. Zhang Chunping. Ms. Zhang
Chunping is the executive director of the Company. Mr. Zhang Chunhua
is the brother of Ms. Zhang Chunping. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Zhang
Chunhua is deemed to be interested in 834,851,294 shares of the Company
held by Brilliant Chapter Limited.

Mr. Zhang Chunhua is personally interested in 43,298,000 shares of the
Company. In addition, he is also entitled to his share options to subscribe for
18,800,000 shares of the Company in his capacity as a director of the Group.

Ms. Zhang Chunping is entitled to her share options to subscribe for
13,800,000 shares of the Company in her capacity as a director of the
Group.

Ms. Chung Elizabeth Ching Yee is personally interested in 2,809,000 shares
of the Company. In addition, she is also entitled to her share options to
subscribe for 13,800,000 shares of the Company in her capacity as a
director of the Group.

Ms. Chan Mei Yan Hidy is entitled to her share options to subscribe for
500,000 shares of the Company in her capacity as a director of the Group.

Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean is entitled to her share options to subscribe for
500,000 shares of the Company in her capacity as a director of the Group.

Based on 1,457,238,414 shares in the Company in issue as at 31 March
2023.

as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2023, none of the Directors

and chief executive of the Company had an interest or short position
in the ordinary shares or underlying shares of the Company or any of
its associated corporations that was notified to the Company and the
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO, or was
required to be recorded pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Exchange pursuant to Rule
5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the sections headed “Share Option Schemes”
and “Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and Short Positions
in Shares and Underlying Shares” above, at no time during the year
were rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares
in or debentures of the Company granted to any of the Directors or
their respective spouses or minor children, or were any such rights
exercised by them; or nor was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a
party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire such rights
in any other body corporate.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 March 2023, shareholders (other than the Directors or chief
executive of the Company) who had interests or short positions in the
shares or underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3
of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO were as
follows:

Long positions in the ordinary shares or underlying shares
of the company

ESREROEESFZEF

REXBEREFEI N EERERTBRAR
R BB B D 2 i 25 KOR B | B P i B8
EFH RFEAEASEBERAE@NES  ®
FEARBIRKEFRRBEREARRT
ZBinsiEsmEm 2N - REF TR ET
AR FAE R ANA R R EAE A E R T IR
BETVAIREE R EMEMEABRBER
AERENZEFR

FTERRZEZRKE

RIZE-=F=A=+—H REARARNHK
MR %A RIEE 75 R B IR A FEXVED
F2RFEID WX ARMARBRTE » LB
FEERN AR BIRIRE 77 M B 1R B 55 33615 78
wlFz B LMz ERIREZRR(ARFE
EXTETHRABRINMOT

RAQAEBERSHEBARGZHER

Percentage of

Number of the Company’s

ordinary shares issued share

or underlying capital

Name of shareholder Notes Capacity and nature of interest shares Note (3)

HARLFERT

EERH BABSL

BREE M BOREREER HEARIBZEE Bt 3E(3)

Brilliant Chapter Limited (1)  Beneficially owned 834,851,294 57.29%

EmMa

Mr. Zhang Chunhua (2)  Interest of a controlled corporation 834,851,294 57.29%
REESRE —EREH AT S

(2)  Personal interest 57,098,000 3.92%

& A 25
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (Continued)

Long positions in the ordinary shares or underlying shares
of the company (Continued)

Notes:

(1) Brilliant Chapter Limited is a limited liability company incorporated in the
Republic of Seychelles and its issued share capital is beneficially owned as
to 80% by Mr. Zhang Chunhua and as to 20% by Source Mega Limited, a
company incorporated in the Republic of Seychelles (as a nominee of Ms.
Zhang Chunping). Mr. Zhang Chunhua is the brother of Ms. Zhang Chunping.

2) Mr. Zhang Chunhua is personally interested in 43,298,000 shares of the
Company. In addition, he is also entitled to his share options to subscribe for
18,800,000 shares of the Company in his capacity as a director of the Group.

) Based on 1,457,238,414 shares of the Company in issue as at 31 March
2023.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESSES

None of the Directors or the controlling Shareholders of the Company
or their respective associates (as defined under the GEM Listing Rules)
have any interests in a business which competes or may compete with
the business of the Group, or has any other conflict of interest with the
Group during the year.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is formulated
by the remuneration committee of the Company (“Remuneration
Committee”) on the basis of their performance, qualifications and
competence. As incentives for their contributions to the Group,
the employees of the Group and all the Directors (including the
independent non-executive Directors and non-executive Directors)
may also be granted share options by the Company from time to time
pursuant to the share option scheme.

The emoluments of the Directors are either determined by the
Remuneration Committee or recommended to the Board, having
regard to the Group’s operating results, individual performance
and comparable market remuneration packages for executive and
non-executive directors of listed issuers in Hong Kong.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an audit committee (“Audit Committee”) on
7 March 2000 and has formulated and from time to time amended its
written terms of reference in accordance with the provisions set out in
the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”).

The primary duties of the Audit Committee include review and
supervision of the Group’s financial reporting system and risk
management and internal control procedures, review of the Group’s
financial information and review of the Group’s relationship with its
auditors.

The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Ms. Chan Mei Yan Hidy (Chairman of the Audit
Committee), Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean and Mr. Zhang Weidong.

The Group’s audited financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2023 have been reviewed by the Audit Committee, who is of the
opinion that such statements comply with the applicable accounting
standards, the GEM Listing Rules and legal requirements, and that
adequate disclosures have been made.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Directors considered that the Company has complied with all the
code provisions set out in the CG Code as contained in Appendix 15
to the GEM Listing Rules throughout the year under review.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this annual report, the Company has maintained the
prescribed public float under the GEM Listing Rules based on the
information that is publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors.

EREET
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AUDITOR
The accounts for the year were audited by Elite Partners CPA Limited
(“Elite”) whose term of office will expire upon the forthcoming AGM. A

resolution will be submitted to the forthcoming AGM to re-appoint Elite
as auditors of the Group.

On behalf of the Board

Mr. Zhang Chunhua
Chairman

Hong Kong
30 June 2023
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

ERERWE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance with a view to assuring the conduct of management of
the Company as well as protecting the interests of all Shareholders.
The good corporate governance principles adopted by the Company
emphasise a quality board for leading and controlling of the Company,
effective internal controls, transparency and accountability to all
Shareholders.

The Company’s code of corporate governance practices was adopted
with reference to the CG Code and Corporate Governance Report
(“CG Report”) as contained in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules.

During the year under review, the Company has complied with the
provisions of the CG Code.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the Directors on terms no less exacting than the
required standard of dealings as set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of
the GEM Listing Rules. In response to specific enquiry made by the
Company, each of the Directors gave confirmation that he complied
with the required standard of dealings and the code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by the Directors throughout the year
ended 31 March 2023.

INSIDER INFORMATION

With respect to procedures and internal controls for handling and
dissemination of inside information, the Company is fully aware of its
obligations under the new Part XIVA of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance, Chapter 571 and Rules 17.10, 17.11 and 17.11A of the GEM
Listing Rules. The Board has adopted a policy which contains the
guideline to the Directors and officers of the Company to ensure that
the inside information of the Company is to be disseminated to public
in an equal and timely manner in accordance with the applicable laws
and regulations.
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CULTURE

The Board believes that a healthy corporate culture underpins the
long-term business, economic success and sustainable growth of the
Group. A strong culture enables the Company to deliver long-term
sustainable performance and fulfil its role as a responsible corporate
citizen. The Company is committed to developing a positive and
progressive culture that is built on its purpose, vision, mission and
values. The followings are the key features of the Company’s culture:

Integrity

The Group is committed to achieving high standards of business
ethics and corporate governance across all our activities and
operations. The Directors, management and staff are all required to
act lawfully, ethically and responsibly, and the required standards and
norms are explicitly set out in the training materials for all new staff
and embedded in various policies such as the Group’s employee
handbook (including therein the Group’s code of conduct), the
anticorruption policy and the whistleblowing policy of the Group.

Commitment

The Group believes that the culture of commitment to workforce
development, workplace safety and health, diversity, and sustainability
is one where people have a feeling of commitment and emotional
engagement with the Group’s mission. This sets the tone for a
strong, productive workforce that attracts, develops, and retains the
best talent and produces the highest quality work. Moreover, the
Company’s strategy in the business development and management
are to achieve long-term, steady and sustainable growth, while having
due considerations from environment, social and governance aspects.

The Board sets and promotes corporate culture and expects and
requires all employees to reinforce. All of our new employees are
required to attend orientation and training programs so that they may
better understand our corporate culture, structure and policies, learn
relevant laws and regulations, and raise their quality awareness. In
addition, from time to time, the Company will invite external experts to
provide training to our management personnel to improve their relevant
knowledge and management skills.

The Board considers that the corporate culture and the purpose,
values and strategy of the Group are aligned.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Overall Management

The Board is responsible for the overall management of the business
of the Group, formulating the Group’s overall strategic direction and
corporate governance and maintaining appropriate levels of review,
challenge and guidance in its relationship with the management. The
management is delegated with the authority and responsibility by
the Board for the day-to-day management and administration of the
Group.

The Board is provided with the updates from management to give a
balanced and understandable assessment of the performance, recent
development and prospects of the Group on a regular basis. The
Board is the ultimate decision-making body for all matters material to
the Group and discharges its responsibilities on corporate governance
either by itself or the Board Committees set out in Code Provision
A.2.1 of the CG Code which include the following:

1. to develop and review the policies and practice on corporate
governance of the Group and make recommendations;

2. to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of the Directors and senior management;

3. 1o review and monitor the Group’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

4, to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual applicable to the Directors and employees;
and

5. to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the corporate governance report of the Company.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Composition

During the year under review, Mr. Zhang Chunhua, Ms. Chung,
Elizabeth Ching Yee and Ms. Zhang Chunping were continuously
appointed as executive Directors.

Ms. Chan Mei Yan Hidy, Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean and Mr. Zhang
Weidong were continuously appointed as independent non-executive
Directors (“INEDs”).

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises three
executive Directors and three independent non-executive Directors.
All Directors, gave sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the
Company for the year ended 31 March 2023. Each executive Director
has sufficient experience to hold the position so as to carry out his/
her duties effectively and efficiently. In full compliance with Rules
5.05(1) and (2) of the GEM Listing Rules, the Company had in place
three independent non-executive Directors and at least one of whom
has appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise. They provided the Company with
diversified industry expertise, advised the management on strategic
development and assumed that the Board maintains high standard of
compliance with financial and other mandatory reporting requirements
as well as provide adequate checks and balances to safeguard the
interests of shareholders and the Company as a whole.

The Board as at 31 March 2023 comprised:

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhang Chunhua (Chairman)
Ms. Chung, Elizabeth Ching Yee (Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Zhang Chunping

Independent non-executive Directors

Ms. Chan Mei Yan Hidy

Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean

Mr. Zhang Weidong

The names, biographical details of the Directors and the relationships

among them are set out in the “Directors and Senior Management”
section of this annual report.
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An updated list of the Directors identifying their roles and functions
from time to time is posted on the website of the Exchange and the
Company’s website from time to time.

Board Independence

The Company recognises that Board independence is key to
good corporate governance. The Company has in place effective
mechanisms that underpin an independent Board and that
independent views are available.

The current composition of the Board, comprising more than one third
of the Board being INEDs, and the members of the Audit Committee
are all INEDs exceed the independence requirements under the
Listing Rules. The Nomination Committee, Remuneration Committee
and Audit Committee are all chaired by INEDs. The remuneration of
INEDs are subject to a regular review to maintain competitiveness
and commensurate with their responsibilities and workload. The
independence of each INED is assessed upon his appointment and
annually.

Directors are requested to declare their direct or indirect interests, if
any, in proposals or transactions to be considered by the Board at the
Board meetings and abstain from voting, where appropriate. External
independent professional advice is available to all Directors, including
independent non-executive Directors, whenever deemed necessary.

The INEDs have consistently demonstrated strong commitment and
the ability to devote sufficient time to discharge their responsibilities at
the Board.

The Company has also established channels through formal and
informal means whereby INEDs can express their views in an open
manner, and in a confidential manner, should circumstances requires.

The Company has reviewed the implementation of the mechanisms in
relation to the Board Independence and considered it to be effective
during the Reporting Period.
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Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer

During the year under review, the Chairman was responsible for
ensuring that the Board functions effectively and smoothly. In doing so,
the Chairman ensured that good corporate governance practices were
adhered to and proper procedures were established and followed,
and that all Directors were properly briefed and received all relevant
information prior to each Board meeting. The Chairman was also
responsible for overseeing the implementation of corporate strategies
of the Group. The Board considers that the current arrangement is
adequate in view of the size and complexity of the Group’s operations.
The Board will, nonetheless, review the business growth of the Group
and locate suitable candidate to fill the vacancy of the chief executive
officer when considered essential and will continue setting out a
clear division of responsibilities at the board level and the day-to-day
management team to ensure a proper balance of power and authority
within the Company.

The role of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer are separate and
exercised by different individual which complies with the CG Code
provision A.2.1.

Board meetings

The Board meets in person or through electronic means of
communication at least four times every year. Notice of at least 14
days for all Board meetings were given to all Directors, who were all
given an opportunity to include matters in the agenda for discussion.

The company secretary of the Company (“Company Secretary”)
assists the Chairman in preparing the agenda for each meeting,
and ensures that all applicable rules and regulations regarding the
meetings are observed. The finalised agenda and accompanying
Board papers are then sent to all Directors prior to each meeting.
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Board meetings (Continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2023, the individual attendance record of
each Director is as follows:
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Directors Attendance
- B R 8
Executive Directors

HITES

Mr. Zhang Chunhua (Chairman) 4/4
REESXE(EE)

Ms. Chung, Elizabeth Ching Yee 4/4
BEHELL

Ms. Zhang Chunping 4/4
RENFLZ T

Independent non-executive Directors

BUYFRHTES

Ms. Chan Mei Yan Hidy 4/4
PRER L+

Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean 4/4
FHAPL L

Mr. Zhang Weidong 4/4

RERELE

Code provision A.6.3 of the CG Code requires every director should
ensure that he can give sufficient time and attention to the issuer’s
affairs and should not accept the appointment if he cannot do so.

The Board held four regular meetings for the year ended 31 March
2023. During regular meetings of the Board, the Directors discussed
and formulated the overall strategies of the Company, monitored
financial performances and discussed the annual and interim results,
set annual budgets, as well as discussed and decided on other
significant matters.
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Board meetings (Continued)

Apart from the regular Board meetings of the year, the Board met on
other occasions when a board-level decision on a particular matter
was required. The Directors would receive the agenda and documents
to be tabled for consideration in advance of each Board meeting.

The Company Secretary recorded the proceedings of each Board
meeting in details by keeping detailed minutes, including all decisions
made by the Board together with concerns raised and dissenting
views expressed (if any). Draft Board minutes were circulated to all
Directors for comments and approval as soon as practicable after the
meeting. All minutes are open for inspection by the Directors at any
reasonable time on their request. All Directors have access to relevant
and timely information at all times as the Chairman ensures that
management will supply the Board and its committees with all relevant
information in a timely manner.

During the year, the Company provides regular updates on the
business performance of the Group to the Directors, so as to ensure
that they had appropriate understanding of the Group’s business and
of their duties and responsibilities under the GEM Listing Rules and the
relevant statutory and regulatory requirements.

Delegation by the Board
The Company has set out the respective functions and responsibilities
which can be reserved to the Board and delegated to management.

The Board delegates day-to-day operations of the Group to executive
Directors and senior management while reserving certain key matters
for its approval. The Board is responsible for the approval and
monitoring of the Company’s overall strategies and policies, approval
of business plans; evaluating the performance of the Company and
overseeing its management. It is also responsible for promoting
the success of the Company and its businesses by directing and
supervising the Company’s affairs.

Decisions of the Board are communicated to the management through
executive Directors who have attended at Board meetings.
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Directors’ work commitments outside the group

Directors are required to disclose in a timely manner to the Company
Secretary for any change, the number and nature of offices held in
public companies or organisations and other significant commitments,
and the identity of such public companies or organisations. Such
information is disclosed in the “Directors and Senior Management”
section of this annual report.

The Company provides newly appointed Directors with briefings
on the businesses of the Group and training materials on corporate
governance, directors’ duties and responsibilities and other matters
under the GEM Listing Rules and other relevant rules and regulations.

Directors’ liability insurance

The Company has arranged appropriate liability insurance to cover
the Directors’ risk exposure arising out of corporate activities. The
insurance coverage is reviewed annually.

Term of appointment and re-election

Details of the terms of appointment of the Directors are disclosed in
the section “Directors’ service Contracts” of the report of the Directors
in this annual report. All Directors are subject to retirement by rotation
and re-election at the general meeting in accordance with the Articles
of Association.

Every newly appointed Director is provided with a package of
orientation materials detailing the duties and responsibilities of
Directors under the GEM Listing Rules, the Articles of Association,
related ordinances and relevant regulatory requirements of Hong
Kong.

Every Director is aware that, before accepting appointment as a
Director, he/she must be able to give sufficient time and attention to
the affairs of the Company.

Under the CG Code provision A.4.2, all directors appointed to fill
a casual vacancy should be subject to election by shareholders at
the first general meeting after their appointment and every director,
including those appointed for a specific term, should be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years.
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Term of appointment and re-election (Continued)

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, at each annual general
meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their
number is not three (3) or a multiple of three (3), then the number
nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by
rotation, provided that every Director (including those appointed for a
specific term) shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once
every three years. Any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual
vacancy shall hold office only until the next following general meeting
of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election at the meeting
but shall not be taken into account in determining the Directors or the
number of Directors who are to retire by rotation at such meeting.

TRAINING AND CONTINUING DEVELOPMENT
FOR DIRECTORS

Under the CG Code provision A.6.5, all Directors had participated in
continuous professional development with respect to directors’ duties,
relevant programs and seminars or had perused reading materials and
updated information in relation to business and industrial development.
The Directors had provided the relevant training records for the Year to
the Company.

The Company is committed to arranging and funding suitable training
to all Directors for their continuous professional development. Each
Director is briefed and updated from time to time to ensure that he/
she is fully aware of his/her roles, functions, duties and responsibilities
under the Listing Rules and applicable legal and regulatory
requirements and the governance policies of the Group.
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TRAINING AND CONTINUING DEVELOPMENT
FOR DIRECTORS (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the individual training record of
each Director is as follows:
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Directors Training Note?
ES & )|z
Executive Directors

HITES

Mr. Zhang Chunhua (Chairman) v
REERE(EE)

Ms. Chung, Elizabeth Ching Yee v
EFELL

Ms. Zhang Chunping v
REYL L

Independent non-executive Directors

BUAFRHMTES

Ms. Chan Mei Yan Hidy v
BRERB X+

Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean v
AL L

Mr. Zhang Weidong v
RETR S

Note: B it -

(1) This includes attending briefings, seminars, conferences, forum relevant to (1) BESMAARARISNINPER TN EE SR

the directors’ duties and responsibilities, the Group’s business, development,
strategies, etc, arranged by the Company or external organisations or
reading regulatory/corporate governance updates.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is responsible for facilitating the Board’s
process and communications among Board members and with the
Shareholders and the management, and advising the Board and its
committees on all corporate governance matters. He reports to the
Chairman of the Board and/or the Chief Executive Officer and her
selection, appointment or dismissal shall be a Board decision.

The Directors have access to the advice and services of the Company
Secretary to ensure that Board procedures and all applicable laws,
rules and regulations are followed.

Throughout the year under review, Mr. Chan Koon Fat was
continuously appointed as the Company Secretary of the Company.

In accordance with Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules, Mr. Chan has
taken no less than 15 hours of the relevant professional training during
the year under review.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company has adopted the board diversity policy. The policy
sets out the approach to achieve diversity in the Board that should
have a balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives
appropriate to the requirements of the Group’s business and
compliance with policies. The composition and diversity policies
of the Board is reviewed annually and regularly. The Board should
ensure that its changes in composition will not result in any undue
interference. The Board members should possess appropriate
professionalism, experience and trustworthiness in performing duties
and functions. The Board would diversify its members according to the
Company’s situations and need. While participating in nomination and
recommendation of director candidates during the year, each member
of the Board may consider a range of diversity perspectives, including
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
or professional experience in achieving diversity for the benefit of the
Company’s various business development and management. The
Board has to review the policy concerning diversity of Board members
and to disclose the policy or a summary of the policy in the corporate
governance report, including any quantitative targets and standards
and its progress with policy implementation.

China Brilliant Global Limited | Annual Report 2022/23

DEHWE

RAMERRREESTGZIEFUARESRS
RERKRRMNEEEMZER  UBEDL
XERFEHRNEFEREZBQREER -
WREEETEN/ LEFERATERSTIE
MBZHEE ZERBEERAEESRE -

EXAERARMEZ ZFE LIRS - UER
BTEZSRFMAAERER ERER
5

REEFEEF RBETLBERTER
ARBHRRIWE o

RIZGEM E AR BIZE5.150% - BREE N EEESE
EARE2EBT PN EBEEEE -

EETZTILBE

ARBERMEBFEZILCBR  ZABRH
JIERBEEZ L2 HE - UIREAREKE
EBLEBTHRBREEFTSEBHEENS
ReE - BBEZ B ARAEFRED
BENEFEZHAKLEZTIEBRR -EFQR
AREAKABNESH ITSEREMIET
B-EBFERERETREMBERERLSR
BEEXNE  BREHE EFS/AT
ARBZMRARBREELRKESZTTIE - EF
EEXNBERNFRALEERHREARENER
B AEBERZERERED  BRETR
RIER - Fik UERBEESHEXLER
RARBERANEREKERNREEZZ
Tt - BEEEARNERETEREZZ T
BRI N EEARETHBEXRRIE
M2 BRAATZERNEMAFERR
HIZENERNEE -



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TEERRE

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY (Continued) BEEEFSZ B ER@E

Currently, the composition of the Board is well balanced with each Rl S EZEEHEAEREKZLENLEE
Director having skills, experience and expertise complementing the HEMAKARE KR MERAKXKEBTEE
business operations and development of the Group and from a = HMESEOHKDEBRRIT LS  RESE
variety of backgrounds. There is diversity of education, professional HHE  BEEES BN - 4R - F5 -

background, functional expertise, gender, age, culture and industrial VAL RITHE KB 2R Z (b -
experience.
Composition of the Board Age Gender
EERER Fik MR

B 40-49 40ZE495% B Female 1
m 50-59 50ZF595%

60 or above B0BREIA L

W Executive
Director
BITES

® Independent
Non-executive
Director

BUIFHITESR

m Male EtE

(As at 31 March 2023) (R=—ZE=-=%=ZA=+—8H)

Workforce diversity EI%nik

The gender ratio of male to female in the workforce (including senior RBEMBEE  BEL(BESRERERE MBSz
management) for the Relevant Period is 17:16. The total gender BlA17:16 - REBEMEEERTE - BAXRSE
diversity of the Group is balanced and the Group will continue to BEEEEFETERNZ T - BRI
maintain the gender diversity in workforce. For further details of gender Bl X A5 1 B 2% 7o b SRER &9 18 b 1 [F) 4R 8
ratio and initiatives taken to improve gender diversity together with 2% - B2HRER -  H2REARAMSTNHE
the relevant data, please refer to the disclosure in the Environmental, B -

Social and Governance Report.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy on payment of dividends.
The Board shall consider the following factors before declaring or
recommending dividends:

° the Company’s actual and expected financial performance;

° retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company and
each of the members of the Group;

° the Group’s working capital requirements, capital expenditure
requirements and future expansion plans;

° the Group’s liquidity position;

° general economic conditions, business cycle of the Group’s
business and other internal or external factors that may have an
impact on the business or financial performance and position of
the Company; and

° other factors that the Board deems relevant. The payment of
dividend is also subject to compliance.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely the
Remuneration Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Audit
Committee for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s affairs.

All Board committees of the Company are established with defined
written terms of reference. The terms of reference of the Board
committees are posted on the website of the Exchange and the
Company’s website.

The majority of the members of the Remuneration Committee
and the Nomination Committee are non-executive or independent
non-executive Directors; which the list of the chairman and members
of each Board committee is set out below.

The Board committees are provided with sufficient resource to
discharge their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the
Company’s expense.
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ERERWE

BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Remuneration Committee

In accordance with the CG Code, the Company established the
Remuneration Committee on 17 June 2005 with written terms of
reference. The Remuneration Committee comprises two independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Zhang Weidong (Chairman of the
Remuneration Committee), Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean and one
executive Director, Ms. Chung, Elizabeth Ching Yee.

The principal responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee include
making recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and
structure for remuneration of all Directors and senior management
and reviewing the specific remuneration packages of all executive
Directors and senior management by reference to corporate goals and
objectives resolved by the Board from time to time.

Directors’ Remuneration Policy

A directors’ remuneration policy has been adopted. It aims to set out
the Company’s policy in respect of remuneration paid to Executive
Directors and Non-executive Directors.

The directors’ remuneration policy sets out the remuneration structure
that allows the Company to attract, motivate and retain qualified
Directors who can manage and lead the Company in achieving its
strategic objective and contribute to the Company’s performance and
sustainable growth, and to provide Directors with a balanced and
competitive remuneration. The remuneration policy is, therefore, aiming
at being competitive but not excessive. To achieve this, remuneration
package is determined with reference to a matrix of factors, including
the individual performance, qualification and experience of Directors
concerned and prevailing industry practice. It will be reviewed and,
if necessary, updated from time to time to ensure its continued
effectiveness.

ESZETEW

FHESE

REGRERTAUZHE ARBER=F
ERFEANATEEXRIFMNEESS - WHIFTH
EHRELE FHZESHMBBUIN
TEERFRELEFMEZES IR FH5
PREAR—BRITEFTEFELTHEK -

FNEEe s T ERERENRARTMEE
ELRAEEBZF BRI RBRESS
RERE URE2ZTEFETHHRZD
¥ERKENR  BHMERTEFERSR
EEBZBEFMEE

ESHMBUR

E=EFMBRRCER® - HBRRFIAER
APTEERFRTESINOFHORR
AR °

EENHFMERRATEHWNGEE  EARRA]6E
ML BBERREABNES  ERFHE
WERRBEARFERABRKAR AN
RENMKRBEMAIFEERELHER X AE
ERHFERAEBRFNNTH - Bt FHM
BERNEBREEAARFINETBE - RTER
E-RR FMOIR2E-RIRREE
BREHEFNEARR EBREERAR
BITWITRED - ZERRGEm  LHEA
FERTHEN  URBRREFEAN-
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Directors and Senior Management’s Remuneration

Details of directors’ emoluments, five highest paid individuals and the
remuneration of the members of the senior management during the
year under review are set out in notes 11 and 12 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Pursuant to code provision E1.5. of the CG Code, the remuneration
of the members of the senior management (other than the Directors)
whose particulars are contained in the section headed “Directors and
Senior Management” of this annual report for the Relevant Period by
band is set out below.

ESZETEW

EERSHREIEE R FHEN
ERREBEFENTHETG  AE2EaSHFA
TERERERBRENTHNFBERRES
B 755 R R P 511 8212 o

RAR R EA ST AR STRIESCEEEALR
ERMBAAZEANE MR REEEXE (T
BREF)NFMFBHIIMT  HFEHN
AEREERSREEE] 8 -

Number of Individual
For the year ended 31 March

A
HE=H=+—HLEE
Remuneration Band (in HK$) 2023 2022
i EM 4B B0 (78 7T) —E== —E-—
Nil to 1,000,000 — —
= %1,000,000
1,000,001 to 1,500,000 4 4

1,000,001%1,500,000

During the year under review, one Remuneration Committee meeting
was held to review the remuneration structure of the Directors. The
individual attendance record of each Remuneration Committee
member is as follows:

REBEFE FMEZESRT -REFZAR
NEENHHRE FTHEESRKESR
HEE®EZCHEM T :

Members Attendance
RE R E
Mr. Zhang Weidong (Committee Chairman) 11
REREE(ZEESTE)

Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean 11
FHEALL

Ms. Chung, Elizabeth Ching Yee 11

BEFREZT
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Nomination committee

In accordance with the CG Code, the Company established the
Nomination Committee on 29 March 2012 with written terms of
reference. The Nomination Committee comprises two independent
non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean
(Chairman of the Nomination Committee) and Ms. Chan Mei Yan Hidy
and one executive Director, Ms. Chung, Elizabeth Ching Yee.

The principal responsibilities of the Nomination Committee include
formulating nomination policy and making recommendations to
the Board on nomination and appointment of Directors and Board
succession, developing selection procedures for nomination
candidates, reviewing the size, structure and composition of the
Board, as well as assessing the independence of independent
non-executive Directors.

To enhance the nomination process for a director candidate, a
Nomination Policy was adopted as a guidance on the selection
process and board succession planning. The Nomination Committee
utilises various methods for identifying director candidates, including
recommendations from the Board members, management, and
professional search firms and may review of resume and job history,
conduct personal interviews and verification of professional and
personal references or perform the background checks, etc. On
evaluation of the director candidates including incumbents and
candidates nominated by the Shareholders, the Board and the
Nomination Committee will take into account whether a candidate
has the qualifications, skills and experience, gender diversity, etc.
that can add to and complement the range of skills, experience and
background of the existing Directors and may consider the following
qualifications are at a minimum to be required of a director candidate
in recommending to the Board potential new Director, or the continued
service of existing Director:

° the highest personal and professional ethics and integrity;
° proven achievement and competence in the nominee’s field and
the ability to exercise sound business judgment; skills that are

complementary to those of the existing Board;

° the ability to assist and support management and make
significant contributions to the Company’s success;

ESZETEW

REZEET

REGRERTUZHE ARRER=F
——HF=ZAZTABKRIREREZES - XHIE
HERRBELE REZEEAMBELIF
HITEFFTEILLTREBZESIRE) K
XBRLLR—BRTEFEFHELLAK -

REZBGZIEBERBIERABEK - MU
EHEEZRARZANEZTSHEINES
SROER BRI RBEEANBEEREFT
WMHEFE AR - RBRANK - A RFE
BYFATEST 2B -

AREEEREANRERF  AATRM
RARREREREFRESSHTHEY
13l - BEEEGRMSENENECESR
EA BERAEEERE TRERZE
BHEATMEY  YRTHERTELR -
ETEAASRRRETERAARBRET
EREEE - NIHEEEREAREREIR
EHMETEERFEEAE EEGRIEAE
ESHEEREALTABER RERE
B MBSEESTNENRBRRAEE
B EREEENHE LEEERES
FRANESSRBEEAENES  NRAE
FHEBE S ABOERMT

¢ BEEBKTOEARERETRE
&

o ERRAADEHDHEEREAR R
7+ A RAES RAF R HIBR BB
ARG EFBRIARN R
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EE XA R/ :
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Nomination committee (Continued)

° an understanding of the fiduciary responsibilities that is required
of a member of the Board and the commitment of time and
energy necessary to diligently carry out those responsibilities;
and

° independence as required by the GEM Listing Rules.

During the year under review, one Nomination Committee meeting
was held to review the structure, size and composition of the Board
of Directors. The individual attendance record of each Nomination
Committee member is as follows:

ESZETEW

REESE(H)
s THEFTENEMANHEETNANE
TREFETMFENSRLBEN &

o EAMBGEMLMRRIRENFILIE -

REBEFE REZEEHRT-REH N
BMEEEGNRE  RERKBAEK - 248
ZEgRRESEHFERZCHEDT

Members Attendance
B8 R B
Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean (Committee Chairman) 11
FHEARL(ZEEEE/E)

Ms. Chan Mei Yan Hidy 11
BRE R X+

Ms. Chung, Elizabeth Ching Yee 11

BEFELLT

Audit committee

The Company established the Audit Committee on 7 March 2000
and has formulated and from time to time amended its written terms
of reference in accordance with the provisions set out in the CG
Code. The existing Audit Committee comprises three independent
non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Chan Mei Yan Hidy (Chairman of
the Audit Committee), Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean and Mr. Zhang
Weidong.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee include review and
supervision of the Group’s financial reporting system and internal
control procedures, review of the Group’s financial information and

review of the Group’s relationship with its auditors.

The Audit Committee held five meeting during the year under review.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Audit committee (Continued)

ESZETEW

EREEE ()

The individual attendance record of each Audit Committee member is ERZESENESBNESH 20T
as follows:

Members Attendance
I24=1 H FE R B
Ms. Chan Mei Yan Hidy (Committee Chairman) 5/5
REBLL(ZESEE)

Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean 5/5
THEPL L

Mr. Zhang Weidong 5/5

REREE

The Group’s unaudited quarterly and interim results and audited
annual results during the year ended 31 March 2023 have been
reviewed by the Audit Committee, which was of the opinion that the
preparation of such results complied with the applicable accounting
standards and requirements and that adequate disclosure has been
made.

EXTERNAL AUDITOR

The Audit Committee of the Company is responsible for considering
and reviewing the appointment of the external auditors and reviewing
any non-audit functions performed by the external auditors, including
whether such non-audit functions could lead to any potential material
adverse effect on the Group.

During the year under review, the remuneration in respect of annual
audit and non-audit services provided by the auditors, amounted to
HK$949,000 and HK$NIl.

AEEBE_T_=F=-A=tRULFEZ
ARECFTERTHREEARBECFEES
ERMBEZZEEEN BEERZEERAR/Z
FERBCRENABER G ERER
WEAFHTED WEE -

SIS A5 BY B

ARRIBZZEGAEERREHNINEZH
Aib 2 2= 1 Jo 28 B SIS 12 B A FT B 17 2 (X f) 3F
TEBE  BRZEZBBEETHAKHE
TREMEBEERTNEE -

REIBEFENRN - BREZBEMEEZFEXER
BR 7 I 3E4Z BRI 2 Bl & 9 51 &2 949,000/ 7T
REBT -
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DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES
FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the preparation
of the financial statements of the Group and ensure that the financial
statements are in accordance with statutory requirements and
applicable accounting standards. The Directors also ensure the timely
publication of the financial statements of the Group.

The statements of the external auditors of the Group, Elite Partners
CPA Limited, about their reporting responsibilities on the financial
statements of the Group are set out in the section headed
“Independent Auditor’s Report” of this annual report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for the maintenance of a sound and
effective risk management and internal control systems of the Group
in order to safeguard assets against unauthorized use or disposition,
ensure maintenance of proper books and records for the provision
of reliable financial information for internal use or publication, and
ensure compliance with relevant legislations and regulations. The
risk management and internal control systems of the Group are
designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Group has established a set of internal control policies and
procedures. The management and various departments conduct
periodic self-assessment of the effectiveness of the internal control
policies and procedures. Besides, the Company has engaged
an external independent internal control consultant to perform
independent review on the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk
management and internal controls systems (of the Group including
material financial, operational, compliance controls) during the year
under review.

During the year under review, the Board has conducted an annual
review on the overall effectiveness of the Group’s risk management
and internal control systems. The external internal control
consultant also reported to the Board on their factual findings and
recommendation for improvements on the risk management and
internal control system of the Group. The Board considers its risk
management and internal control systems effective and adequate.

China Brilliant Global Limited | Annual Report 2022/23

EERGBETH A B |MRARIEZ
B

EENEREAEERELAEE ZWH]ME
3 e AR BA IS IR TR IBOE FE RE KB A g At
EHRH - EFTRERER T EAEEZ M
B -

AEE ZINEZBEFETE R G EBH
BERARMABAKREMEHRR ZFREL
BFHZBRAHNAFERBIZBENRE] —

gl e
[ By B B % (0 B2

EZeRAaRARERRESMZRARE
I N A BRI R A REIARE B E TR IR
RERLHE - BREFZEZRERCE
IR R AT SE M I A R AR AR T3 - &
BRETEBARLEZR - ARBZARE
B RABERRGE S EEEMIEERELZE
BEBEENEAR BHREENKRER
MR BB AIEMIEBERE

AEECHT-ERNBEHIBREERF - &
2 E K % @ BT E BB 17 (A R aR 2 51 B R
KRIZFH)RRR - WO - KRB E R I RSB
ST ERE I B - Bh AN S B (O] B A R O R
REELABEHRG(RREEAME - £
ReaREN)RERRBERETBELERM -

REEFE EFeCHAEENRARER
RAEER RRNBERBREETFER
SMNEB R EBIE BIBEREI N R E F g WA R F P
BENEENARAREARENAREERA
MIEF RGN EZ EFERSHARER
RAMEFRGBERNTRE



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

ERERWE

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(Continued)

Anti-Corruption

The Group is committed to preventing, detecting, and reporting to
any levels of bribery and corruption. The Anti-Corruption Policy is
provided principles for all directors, officers, and employees to operate
conduct business with integrity and to reduce the risk of corruption
and bribery. The Group conducts periodic and systematic fraud risk
assessments to mitigate fraud risks identified internally and externally.
Proper trainings and briefings related to bribery, corruption, conflicts of
interest, money laundering and financing of terrorism, non-compliance
with the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance will also be provided to all
employees.

Whistleblowing

A Whistleblowing Policy is provided guidance on the procedure of
reporting allegations of any fraud and misconduct, malpractice or
irregularity by employees and stakeholders. All filed whistleblowing
reports and the identity of the whistleblowers are treated in a strictly
confidential manner in accordance with the procedures set out in the
policy. The matter raised may be investigated internally and referred to
the Board, or be referred to external lawyers or auditors.

Once the investigation is completed, a report including the impact
of the matter reported and an action plan will be prepared by
the Audit Committee. Disciplinary and other appropriate actions
will be determined by the responsible line management while
recommendations will be made by the Audit Committee for the
Board’s final decision on the actions required.

No incident of fraud or misconduct that has material effect on the
Group’s financial statements or overall operations was reported during
the Relevant Period. The Whistleblowing Policy is reviewed annually by
the Audit Committee to ensure its effectiveness.

INTERNAL AUDIT FUNCTION

The Company have set up an internal audit department for one of
its subsidiary, Brillink Bank Corporation Limited (“Brillink Bank”). The
Board has reviewed, on an annual basis, the need for an internal audit
function for the Group and is of the view that in light of the size, nature
and complexity of the business of the Group, as opposed to diverting
resources to establish a separate internal audit department, it would
be more cost effective to appoint external independent professionals
to perform independent review of the adequacy and effectiveness of
the risk management and internal control systems of the Group.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS AND INVESTOR
RELATIONS

General Meeting

As one of the measures to safeguard the Shareholders’ interests
and rights, separate resolutions will be proposed at Shareholders’
meeting on each substantial issue including the re-election of individual
directors. All resolutions put forward at the Shareholders’ meeting
will be conducted by poll pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules and the
poll voting results will be published on the Stock Exchange’s website
(www.hkexnews.com) and the Company’s website (www.cbg.com.hk).
During the year ended 31 March 2023, an annual general meeting of
the Company was held on 19 August 2022 (the “2022 AGM”) to seek
the Shareholders’ approval on, among other things, the granting the
general mandates to issue and repurchase the Company’s shares and
re-election of the Directors. The Board member’s attendance record is
set out as follows:

REREMNRIREEMIE

BRXE
EARERRFNERENNREE 22—
BHEATHEBREEFANES)BERR
ARELERBLRABZRREL - IBEERRE
ARELRENRBERBEREGEM LR 8l
UIREFARR BERAERBEHRR
Fff 48 3% (www.hkexnews.com) & 7K 2~ &) 43 ik
(www.cbg.comhk) E A o BLEZT = =4
Z“A=T—HIFE ARERZZZ__FN
AthBERTT-ARERBFAS (===
FREBEFAG])  USRKBRIE(EFRE
)R BETRERARR G H— AL
REREF -EFEgNENDFEIHHI A
T

Directors Attendance
B= B IR B
Executive Directors

HITESE

Mr. Zhang Chunhua (Chairman) 11
REESXE(EE)

Ms. Chung, Elizabeth Ching Yee (Chief Executive Officer) 11
BRELL(BEHTE)

Ms. Zhang Chunping 11
REFX L

Independent non-executive Directors

BUBTES

Ms. Chan Mei Yan Hidy 11
PRERZL

Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean 11
FHEPL L

Mr. Zhang Weidong 11

RETRELE

Code provision A.6.7 of the CG Code requires all independent
non-executive directors and non-executive directors should attend
general meetings of listed issuers.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS AND INVESTOR
RELATIONS (Continued)

The forthcoming AGM is scheduled to be held on or before 30
September 2023 and notice of the meeting will be sent to the
Shareholders in accordance with the relevant requirements under the
Articles.

Procedures and Right for Shareholders to Convene
Extraordinary General Meeting

The following procedures for shareholders to convene an extraordinary
general meeting (the “EGM”) are subject to the Articles, and the
applicable legislation and regulation, in particular the GEM Listing
Rules:

1. If any one or more Shareholder(s) holding at the date of deposit
of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital
of the Company carrying the right of voting at the general
meetings of the Company, such Shareholder(s) may submit a
written requisition to the Board or the secretary of the Company
to require an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the
Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two (2) months
after the deposit of such requisition.

2. The Board should within 21 days from the date of the deposit
of the requisition proceed duly to convene the EGM to be
held within a further 21 days. If the Board fails to do so,
the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the
same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Shareholders may also make reference to Article 64 of the Articles.
Shareholders who have enquiries regarding the above procedures may

write to the company secretary of the Company at Flat B, 9/F., 9 Des
Voeux Road West, Sheung Wan, Hong Kong.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS AND INVESTOR
RELATIONS (Continued)

Procedures for Shareholders to Propose a Person for
Election as a Director

The provisions for a Shareholder to propose a person for election as
a Director are laid down in article 113 of the Articles of Association.
No person other than a Director retiring at the meeting shall, unless
recommended by the Board for election, be eligible for election to the
office of Director at any general meeting unless a notice in writing of
the intention to propose such person for election as a Director, signed
by a Shareholder (other than the person to be proposed for election as
a Director) duly qualified to attend and vote at the meeting for which
such notice is given, and a notice in writing signed by such person of
his willingness to be elected shall have been lodged at the head office
or at the Registration Office. The minimum length of the period during
which such notices are given shall be at least seven clear days and the
period for lodgement of such notices shall commence no earlier than
the day immediately after the despatch of the notice of the general
meeting appointed for such intention and end no later than seven days
before the date of such general meeting.

Procedure for Putting Forward Proposals at Shareholders’
Meetings

There are no provisions allowing Shareholders to make proposals
or move resolutions at Shareholders’ meeting under the Articles or
the laws of the Cayman Islands. Shareholders who wish to make
proposals or move a resolution may, however, convene an EGM in
accordance with the “Procedures and Rights for Shareholders to
Convene Extraordinary General Meeting” set out above.

Investors Relations and Communication with Shareholders
The Board recognises the importance of maintaining an ongoing
dialogue with the Shareholders through various channels including
general meetings and corporate communications such as
announcements, quarterly, interim and annual reports and circulars.
Latest information of the Group is also available on the Company’s
website.

China Brilliant Global Limited | Annual Report 2022/23

IREREMNRREEREZ@E

RREBARZSEREENER

BERABRRREEAERZ2EREEZIRAEHIN
ABERAMAENSME - BEETALGER
RELREZERHRINAERETMBRA
ELEERES BRIFZALTREFZTSME
BIHERLFERLNELREN—BK
ROAFFR/ZWIERDBETZALIAERR
HENEHBNRESL  MERBALMESE
NERAEMERTBRZ BAAXIEME
BE S it FhE - IR BAMZ R LATD
REERA - BRRXBEBAEMNZBHEZHARE
BT EREREREREZ I MRAERET
BRIVH MERKHEITSERZBREX
SRTHEMALA -

RERAXERZEZNER

AMAUSFSHEEEA ML EERXAFER
RIERA S L REERAB BB HAVRES °
Am - AEREERIBHDENRZEN
B R R ¥ b SCRT 8 [A R A R A R Bl K
SRR LB BRBIRERNKRE -

REEFAFRRBRREN
EXeHOBEZRRBEBERRARGREA
ABAIAE  FE  hHRFERENE
H)) R EBRRFSEBANERN - AEE
RMEMMAIRNARABUEER -



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS AND INVESTOR
RELATIONS (Continued)

Investors Relations and Communication with Shareholders

(Continued)

The Company has adopted its Shareholders’ communications
policy. Enquiries and proposals from Shareholders, investors and all
stakeholders are welcomed. Shareholders may send written enquiries
to the Company, for the attention of the Company Secretary, by fax:
(852) 2838 2922, e-mail at ir@cbg.com.hk or mail to Flat B, 9/F., 9 Des
Voeux Road West, Sheung Wan, Hong Kong. Such written enquiries or
proposal with full name, contact details and identification must deposit
and send to said various communication channels.

Any enquires in relation to the Company’s shareholdings, share
transfer or registration may contact the Company’s share registrar.
Their contact details are set out in the section headed “Corporate
Information” of this annual report.

The Company has established a range of communication channels
between lItself and Its Shareholders, investors and other stakeholders.
These include (i) the publication of quarterly, interim and annual reports
and/or dispatching circulars, notices, and other announcements; (ii)
the annual general meeting or extraordinary general meeting providing
a forum for Shareholders to raise comments and exchanging views
with the Board; (iii) updated and key information of the Group available
on the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website; (iv)
the Company’s website offering communication channel between the
Company and its stakeholders; (v) the Company’s share registrar in
Hong Kong serving the Shareholders in respect of all share registration
matters; and (vi) attending meetings with analysts, which led by our
executive Directors with existing and potential investors.

The Company held its 2022 AGM on 19 August 2022, which was
attended by shareholders, including their proxies or representatives,
and shares voted represent 100% of the total issued shares of the
Company. All resolutions proposed at the 2022 AGM were passed.

Having considered the multiple channels of communication and
shareholders engagement in the general meeting held during the year,
the Board is satisfied that the shareholders communication policy has
been properly implemented during 2022 and is effective.
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elite
partners

CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
CHINA BRILLIANT GLOBAL LIMITED
(Incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Brilliant Global Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) set out on pages 79 to 204, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 March 2023, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at
31 March 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA?)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAS”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities
for the Audit of Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a

separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter

AEERER

BAREFELSE
BEBSNELHNE  WREZFEATS
BRABGAMBRRPREENER - F

%E%%%ﬁﬁﬁ%%ﬁ%ﬁ%%%%%ﬁ
2@@%%%@ AU F FIRE R %
25

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

ESETHFERNAEEARERE R

Impairment assessment on loan receivables and trade receivables

FE W B R % M B K (B T A

Refer to notes 21 and 22 to the consolidated financial
statements respectively.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had loan receivables
and trade receivables with gross carrying amounts of
approximately HK$76,505,000 and HK$4,413,000,
respectively and provision for allowance for expected
credit losses on loan receivables and trade receivables of
approximately HK$4,607,000 and HK$174,000 respectively
were recognised to the consolidated statement of financial
position.

Management applied judgment in assessing the expected
credit losses. Expected credit losses are estimated by
grouping the receivables based on shared credit risk
characteristics and collectively/individually assessed
for likelihood of recovery, taking into account its aging
category, and applying expected credit loss rates to the
respective gross carrying amounts of loan receivables and
trade receivables.

BRI HRE M EREW E21%22 o
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4,607,000/ 7T X 174,00078 TL E R 4r & B S AR R R IR T A
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Our audit procedures in relation to the management’s
impairment assessment of loan receivables and trade
receivables included:

° obtaining an understanding of the Group’s procedures
on credit period given to counterparty by the
management;

o checking, on a sample basis, the aging profile of the
receivables as at 31 March 2023 to the underlying
financial records and post year-end settlements to
bank receipts;

° inquiring of management for the status of each of
the material balances of trade receivables which
were past due at the end of the reporting period and
corroborating explanations from management with
supporting evidence, such as understanding ongoing
business relationship with the customers based on
trade records, checking historical and subsequent
settlement records of and other correspondence with
the customers;
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter

FRREZEIR

FREFXSEEHE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EFETHFRRNNEREAREASE

Impairment assessment on loan receivables and trade receivables (Continued)

FE U B 7K K% MK BR RO ME AT A (4R

We had identified impairment assessment on loan
receivables and trade receivables as a key audit matter
because of significant judgments had to be made for the
assessment of impairments under the expected credit loss
model.

BEECHRKE R BRI E R G HR SR s =
FEE REARBEBEMEEEBEEAFNGREZREN
EAHIE -
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Our audit procedures in relation to the management’s
impairment assessment of loan receivables and trade
receivables included: (continued)

° for the analyses of historical information of the
counterparty, discussing with management to
understand the management’s identification of
significant increase in credit risk, defaults and credit-
impaired receivables, corroborated management’s
explanation with supporting evidence;

o for forward-looking information about the loan
receivables and trade receivables, assessing the
reasonableness of economic indicator selection,
economic scenarios and weightings application,
assessed the reasonableness of the estimation by
comparing with industry data; and

o assessing the appropriateness of the expected
credit loss provisioning methodology, examining the
key data inputs, on a sample basis, to assess their
accuracy and completeness, and challenging the
assumptions, including both historical and forward-
looking information, used to determine the expected
credit losses.

We considered the management conclusion to be
consistent with the available information.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter

AREZER

FEFLSHEE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EFETHFERRNAERFARERSE

Valuation of promissory note

AERZMHE
Refer to note 31 to the consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group held a promissory note
with carrying amount of approximately HK$58,149,000. As
a result of a decrease in the fair value of the promissory
note, approximately HK$9,617,000 was recognised
to consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

Management recognised the promissory note at fair value
by reference to the valuation of similar instruments and
other market based information. The inputs to the valuation
techniques used to measured fair value are classified
into level 3 fair value hierarchy in HKFRS 13 Fair Value
Measurement.

F2RFRA VB RRMES -
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Our audit procedures in relation to valuation of promissory
note included:

o evaluating the fair value at initial recognition and at
the end of the reporting period against the valuation

of similar instruments and other market based
information;

BEEARMGANZEENESEFEHE:

s REBUTIANGEEMEMTISESFGEIHRER
MR EHRNQFEE:

2022/23 3R | BAEEIREBERAE

73



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

18 37 #% BB #R 5

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter

AREZER

FARFZSIHW®E

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EFETHFRRNAEEFARELSE

Valuation of promissory note (Continued)

AR\ 2 A EGR)

The fair value of promissory note was valued by
independent qualified professional valuers.

We had identified the valuation of the promissory note as
a key audit matter because valuation of promissory note is

complex and require application of significant judgment by
the management.
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Our audit procedures in relation to valuation of promissory
note included: (continued)

enquiring the management and assessing the
methodology used in fair value measurement and
the appropriateness of the key assumptions and
parameters based on our knowledge;

checking, on a sample basis, the accuracy and
relevance of the input data used by comparing key
underlying financial data inputs to external sources
and management information applicable;

° evaluating the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the independent qualified professional
valuers; and

o checking the arithmetical accuracy on the valuation
model.

We considered management’s fair value measurement on
promissory note was supportable by available evidence.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the annual report,
but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon (the “Other Information”).

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the Other Information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the Other Information and, in doing so,
consider whether the Other Information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on
the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this Other Information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS AND THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee are responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of the consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

China Brilliant Global Limited | Annual Report 2022/23
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for
our audit opinion.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Mr. Wong Ho Kwan with Practising Certificate
number PO7543.

Elite Partners CPA Limited

Certified Public Accountants

10/F, 8 Observatory Road, Tsim Sha Tsui
Kowloon, Hong Kong

Hong Kong, 30 June 2023
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FERmREMEERBER

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HEZ T - =4 -A=+—HILFE

2023 2022
—B-=HF —ET——
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B & TExT T

Revenue Y 25 93,930 77,806
Cost of sales $HE AR (87,916) (72,786)
Gross profit EF 6,014 5,020
Other gains and losses, net Hfh e &R R (9,257) (7,526)
Selling expenses HERX (162) (817)
Administrative expenses TEAX (43,301) (41,536)
Finance costs HBEER (102) (78)
Impairment losses recognised under BIEBHEEBBEEXNER L

expected credit loss model, net of WEEE - HkRED

reversal 41(a) (4,570) (1,517)
Loss before tax BR#AIEE (51,378) (46,154)
Income tax expense FriS % f < - =
Loss for the year FAEE (51,378) (46,154)
Other comprehensive income: HttZmEYR2s:
Item that are or may be reclassified B AEAGEER D EE

subsequently to profit or loss: BmoEHE -
Exchange differences on translation of ~— #EFINEREL 2

foreign operations e H =% (688) 126
Other comprehensive (loss)/income for ~ FRE M2 (EE) I ZE

the year (688) 126
Total comprehensive loss FR2HEEBREEE

for the year (52,066) (46,028)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FERmREMEERBER

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HEZ T - =4 -A=+—HILFE

2023 2022
—B-=HF —ET——
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 TExT T
Loss for the year attributable to: EBLFERNEE:
— Owners of the Company - AR EHEEA (40,784) (37,322
- Non-controlling interests - e s (10,594) (8,832)
(51,378) (46,154)
Total comprehensive loss BEFEFREZEEBE
for the year attributable to: FOR-C
— Owners of the Company - RARBEEA (41,515) (37,185)
— Non-controlling interests - FEERR =S (10,551) (8,843)
(52,066) (46,028)
Loss per share BREBE 14
Basic and diluted (HK cents) A AR #EOB) (2.80) (2.56)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.

N
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

FE M BRR R

As at 31 March 2023 R=-ZE - =F=A=+—H

2023 2022
—EC=HF —E- &
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 2 T#&T T T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment Yz - WmEKEE 15 808 1,385
Right-of-use assets EREEE 16 999 170
Intangible assets mREE 17 12,397 14,375
Interest in an associate REE RN A 2 HERE 19 - =
Prepayment TEF K18 23 211 =
Total non-current assets B EEEE 14,415 15,930
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Inventories FE 20 16,816 634
Trade receivables 25 WER K 21 4,239 5,393
Loan receivables JE W B =X 22 71,898 42,005
Prepayment, deposits and other BRRIE - FTek
receivables H A jE U 5k IR 23 11,694 6,495
Amount due from an associate JE W — R Bt 22 A ) 2 FRIE 24 4,583 6,170
Prepaid tax BB 30 30
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEED 25 45,089 92,144
Total current assets mEBEEHE 154,349 152,871
CURRENT LIABILITIES nBEE
Trade payables B EMNIRR 26 4 10
Other payables and accruals o &< 5K I8 K E 5T IR 27 10,216 7,844
Contract liabilities aHEaR 28 18,700 2,495
Deposits from customers BEFER 29 31,539 7,272
Lease liabilities HE&E 30 1,032 94
Promissory note A RIE 31 = 75,947
Total current liabilities RBEELHR 61,491 93,662
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEERE 92,858 59,209
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

FE M BRR R

As at 31 March 2023 R=-ZE - =F=A=+—H

2023 2022
—EC-=f —FE - &
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5E T FAETT
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EEHABERTHEE
LIABILITIES 107,273 75,139
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FREEME
Lease liabilities HEEE 30 65 =
Promissory note ENEE 31 58,149 -
Total non-current liabilities ERBEEHLE 58,214 -
NET ASSETS BEERE 49,059 75,139
EQUITY 2%
Share capital A& 7S 32 145,724 145,724
Reserves {1 (127,445) (119,494)
Equity attributable to owners ARTHBEAEILER
of the Company 18,279 26,230
Non-controlling interests FEPE IR = 30,780 48,909
TOTAL EQUITY gl 49,059 75,139

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised REPBRRENR-_ZSE-_=ZF~A=1+HE
for issue by the board of directors on 30 June 2023 and were signed EEef AREETE  YEHUTALTR
on its behalf by: REZTEEE:

Mr. Zhang Chunhua Ms. Chung, Elizabeth Ching Yee

REESE HEeEL
Chailrman Director
FE EF

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated BEFT 2 Y 3E Bz 4R & B 75 3R 3% < 48 X 31
financial statements. 7 e

N
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HEZ T - =4 -A=+—HILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

BRNAATREA
Foreign
Share  currency Share Capital Non-
Share  premium translation option ~contribution  Accumulated controlling
capital  account reserve reserve reserve losses ~ Subtotal interests Total
HEER EREA } X
R ROEER fiff BREGRE fie  ZiEE Nt FERER Bit
(hoeg) (hote¢) (hoteq) (hotee)
Wids) e g (B
HK§ 000 HKS$'000 HK$1000 HK§ 000 HKS 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$000
Tt  Tér  TEr  TEr T Tt TEr  TEr  TEn
Asat 1 Apri 2021 N-E_-FMA-H 145,724 523511 635 30,282 12328 (651,241) 61,189 2.1 83480
Loss for the year EnEER - - - - - B3y 1) 6832 {6154
Other comprehensive incomefoss) for the year: EREp2Eb/(BE):
Exchange diferences on rangation of foreign operation A E BN R EX 28 - - 137 - - - 137 ) 1%
Total comprehensive incomef{oss) for the year ERRENG/ (GRS - - 137 - - IR/ AL ] B3 (609
Non-conroling interests arisng on chenge nownership ~—~~ HBAT A BEEES
inerests in subsicaries without ost o contrl (8% %EE)
Bt 2EERES - - - - - o) ) B& B
Recognion of equity settd share-based payment EhRE %ﬁﬁéuﬁxf BEE2AR - - - 2581 - - 2587 - 2587
Lapsed of share options BRiEx = - - (359) - 359 - - -
Asat 31 March 2022 and as at 1 Apr 2022 S by
S 1) 145,724 523511 mn 32,464 12,328 (688,569) 26,20 48909 75139
Loss for the year EnEE - - - - - go7sy {0784 (054 (1379
Other comprehensive oss)/ncome for the year: ERERRTE(EE) Ra:
Exchange differences on translation of oreign operation }ﬁii,éwxﬁz ERER = = (731) = - - (731) X (688)
Total comprehensive loss for the year ER2EERLE - - (731) - - S 1) 711
Deemed captal contrbuton flom isste of promissorynote.~~ BFRFARZEEE - - - - B - B - B
Non-controling interests arishg on chenge nownership~—~ HBATRAERESES
interests n subsicris without lost of contrl (PRXEEHE)
EEEBRER - - - - - 8,099 8,099 (8,099 -
Recognion of employees share award scheme on THBAREANES
subsidary el RAREHE - - - - - - - 51 51
As at 31 March 2023 W-BZ=F=f=1-H 15724 52511 # 30,464 ams A% 18219 30,780 49,059
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

he year ended 31 March 2028 Bl E L - =F = H=1+—HIEFE

For t

Notes:

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Share premium account

Under the Companies Law (2001 Revision) of the Cayman Islands, the
share premium account of the Company is distributable to its shareholders
provided that immediately following the date on which the dividend is
proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a position to pay off its
debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

Statutory reserve fund

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations for business enterprises in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”), a portion of the profits of the entities
which are registered in the PRC has been transferred to the statutory reserve
fund which is restricted as to use. When the balance of such reserve fund
reaches 50% of the capital of that entity, any further appropriation is optional.
The statutory reserve fund can be utilised, upon approval of the relevant
authority, to offset prior years’ losses or to increase capital. However, the
balance of the statutory reserve fund must be maintained at least 25% of
capital after such usage.

Foreign currency translation reserve

Foreign currency translation reserve represents exchange differences relating
to the translation of the net assets of the Group’s foreign operations from
their functional currencies to the Group’s presentation currency (i.e. Hong
Kong dollar (“HK$”)) which are recognised directly in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in the foreign currency translation reserve. Such
exchange differences accumulated in the foreign currency translation reserve
are reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the foreign operations.

Share option reserve

The share option reserve comprises the fair value of share options granted
which are yet to be exercised. The amount will be transferred to the share
premium account when the related options are exercised, and will be
transferred to accumulated losses should the related options expire or be
forfeited.

Capital contribution reserve

Capital contribution reserve represents Mr. Zhang Chunhua (‘Mr. Zhang”),
a director and substantial shareholder of the Company, had accepted a
promissory note issued by the Company with terms of promissory note in
favor to the Group.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HEZ T - =4 -A=+—HILFE

2023 2022
—EZ=H T
HK$’000 HK$'000
TExT FHT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING REXBZHERE
ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax B 5% A /&5 18 (51,378) (46,154)
Adjustments for: AT YR
Employees share award scheme expenses BB EEF EIF X 521 =
Finance costs MBER 102 78
Bank interest income AT E WA (58) (30)
Amortisation of intangible assets EmEEHE 3,256 1,555
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  #1% - MERZR BT E 919 927
Depreciation of right-of-use assets TRAEEENE 1,093 1,915
Loss arising on fair value change of financial RAFEEFGTEBEFA
liabilities at fair value through BEnzemaBEATEE
profit or loss BHELFIE 9,617 7,476
Impairment losses recognised under RIRBEHESBEEXER
expected credit loss model, net of reversal LR EEE - MR EE 4,570 1,517
Share-based payment expenses B AEER 2R AX - 2,587
Operating cash flow before movements EEESEHAKERERE
in working capital (31,358) (30,129)
Change in inventories FE#E) (17,426) 3,322
Change in loan receivables R E K EE) (32,377) (18,319
Change in trade receivables B 5 R R 942 (4,877)
Change in prepayment, deposits and BRRIE - FTek
other receivables HAh i W 5k 1R & (5,598) 3,454
Change in trade payables B RENERRE (6) 6
Change in other payables and accruals H b S FRIB & B ST R IE & 616 48
Change in contract liabilities BHAaEE 17,588 889
Change in deposits from customers EYEVER/§ 24,267 7,272
Cash used in operations KEXEMAZES (43,352) (38,334)
Tax refund ERTIE = 59
Net cash used in operating activities REXBFAZEHLSFE (43,352) (38,275)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

n'l'.F iﬂ@ NLER i

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &

E_E_=F=ZA=+—HILEFEE

2023 2022
—EZ=H —E- &
HK$’000 HK$’'000
T#&T T T
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REEBZRERE
ACTIVITIES
Bank interest received BUWIR1TF B 58 30
Purchases of property, plant and equipment BAME  BELEE (348) (122)
Prepayment for acquisition of software W B B 2 TR SRR (211) =
Purchase of intangible assets BEEFEE (1,278) (11,260)
Advance to an associate M) — BB & AR B K (622) (606)
Net cash used in investing activities REXKFBAZRE&FRHE (2,401) (11,958)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING MEXBZHELRE
ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries without B2 B 7k 5 5 4% %l 4 2 [t B A 7
lost of control K FT 15 7K 18 - 35,100
Repayment of lease liabilities BEEREAR (1,021) (2,310)
Net cash (used in)/generated from MEXK(FFA) EEXzB$
financing activities FEE (1,021) 32,790
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH ReRBALZEY
EQUIVALENTS WL BE (46,774) (17,443)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of %&%Eﬂ%ﬂzfﬁ@&
the reporting period e EEY 92,144 109,508
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net T ) 2R (281) 79
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE HEHRzAERREEEY
END OF REPORTING PERIOD 45,089 92,144
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GENERAL INFORMATION

China Brilliant Global Limited is a limited liability company
incorporated in the Cayman lIslands. The address of its
registered office is Century Yard, Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive,
P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, the Cayman Islands.
The address of its principal place of business is Flat B, 9/F, 9
Des Voeux Road West, Hong Kong. The Company’s shares are
listed on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”). Its immediate and ultimate parent is Brilliant
Chapter Limited (“Brilliant Chapter”), a company incorporated in
Republic of Seychelles with limited liabilities and owned by Mr.
Zhang and Source Mega Limited which acts as nominee of Ms.
Zhang Chunping (“Ms. Zhang”). Both Mr. Zhang and Ms. Zhang
are the directors and Mr. Zhang is the brother of Ms. Zhang.

The principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) are trading and retailing of
gold and jewellery products, money lending and related business
and fintech business.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in HKS,
which is also the functional currency of the Company and all
values are rounded to the nearest thousand (“HK$’000”), unless
otherwise stated. The Group’s subsidiaries are operating in the
PRC and Republic of Kazakhstan (“Kazakhstan”) with Renminbi
(“BRMB”) and United States dollar (‘US$”) as their functional
currency. The directors consider that it is more appropriate to
present the consolidated financial statements in HK$ as the
shares of the Company are listed on the Stock Exchange.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B SRR RE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HEZ T - =4 -A=+—HILFE

—BREH

AEREEEBRAARA—HRAS
HEdMKZ < EBR AR - Eiftits
B 3b 4iF & Century Yard, Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand
Cayman KY1-1111, the Cayman Islands °
HET DX AR B EEEA
QRIMEBE c KRR 2R B A&
RSFABMR AR ([BAZAT]) GEM £ °
H B # K &4 & A7) &Briliant Chapter
Limited ([Brilliant Chapter] » —E R E &
REMBE MK ZMBRARF - ARE
A K Source Mega Limited (A3RE 4+
([REZLTDZRBANEB) - REER
KRZTHRBESEREERRLLT M
=

ARBREMBRAR(REBDZ X2
EBRESLKREEMBEERTE K
BREEEBAREBBRER -

BRABEAN RAMBERRIAET
TETD2  RNRABZEEB A
B MASHREORABREREOITMH
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Ko v ve B 38 A AN (e B2 72 738 |) &€
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B SRR RE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HEZ T - =4 -A=+—HILFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective
for current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) for the first time,
which are mandatorily effective for the annual periods beginning
on 1 April 2022 for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements:

2.

BRI REEETERMIEH
SEA(EBMFHREERD

RAFEEFER2EBUKHEE
B ($& 8T A)

RAFE  AEBEHAERHE S
EHAg(E5gstmAag)EMGED
REZZEZ—FMA—ARBZFEHRH
SR A B LA T ST B B I 15 5 24
B - AR BAR B IS 3R K

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework BB RERAZES  HAER R
Amendments to HKFRS 3, Narrow-scope Amendments (B3
HKAS 16 and HKAS 37 BRUBREEAESE . NERET
BREHENF6%
RE R &R E37
SETH)
Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment — Proceeds BB EAE16% nE - EERRE - HERE
before Intended Use (B3 AMFERA
Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Costs of Fulfiling a BB LR ETH BEEY) - BANMKE

Contract

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current
year has had no material impact on the Group’s financial
positions and performance for the current and prior years and/
or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A B SRR RE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HEZ T - =4 -A=+—HILFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs issued but not yet
effective

HKFRS 17 (including the October  Insurance Contracts'

2020 and February 2022
Amendments to HKFRS 17)
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and  Sale or Contribution of Assets between
HKAS 28 an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture?
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback®
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-
current and related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)!
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants®
Amendments to HKAS 1 and Disclosure of Accounting Policies!
HKFRS Practice Statement 2
Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates'
Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities

arising from a Single Transaction'

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.
9 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024.

The directors anticipate that the application of all new and
amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.

BRI REEETERMIEH
SEA(EBMFHREERD
(%)

S EME R E R 2 T R RIEET
EEMEREELN
BAUBRLENZTR(BE-EC RRAL

BETAR-T -6 AR

HRREERSTR(BE)

ERMHREENBORRER G RAZEARELAIARL
£ E20% (BT A) FHZEEHEURR
EEuBERENFOR (BT EAROAERE
AR EAEEY REMRDEXRIHIUR
FERBaR (224
ZRBET
B e ENZRBTD) ImRE L FRD AR
FROTENFRRERMARS SHBRRE
g U HEY
AR E AU HE SitfstES
EEREEACHEY HE-RAELNAERAR

BBMETRA

R-F_=F—A— A ZERARNFE
HR AR -
R E AR E R AR FERRER -

e R-Z_MFE—A— A2 RABRNFE
HR AR -

AAREERTRY - BAMA I LEE

AIERBMBREENRARERTSY

HAMBHRRENERTE -
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years
presented, unless otherwise stated.

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA
and accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong. In
addition, the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing
Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments
that are measured at fair value at the end of the reporting period.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value
of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants would
take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset
or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement
and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial
statements is determined on such a basis, except for share-
based payment transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS
2 Share-based Payment, leasing transactions that are accounted
for in accordance with HKFRS 16, and measurements that have
some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net
realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36
Impairment of Assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B SRR RE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HEZ T - =4 -A=+—HILFE

3. FETHHERME
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B SRR RE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HEZ T - =4 -A=+—HILFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. FEEHERMEW
POLICIES (Continued)

Basis of preparation (Continued) B E % (48)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value BEoh - RETHERE - A FEEFE

measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are
observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the

PREATEEG BRAETRRRE
ERAFEEHERAMEBERY
HERE—E E-ERE=E  #I
m

e FEBABERMEREESLARE
RERAEAZERMSENE
BRI RECRERE)

e FE_EBWAEREEXNBETVE
BRBEER 2B AB(TERER
AF—BORE) R

e F-EHAEABEREBETA
BR B AE-

aE
REMBBRREBARFARARNRRE R
HIfBARATES 2 B 2 B |mEK

Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the EARARNBFEUTERE @ BIEGE S
Company: FE

o has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if

facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control listed above.

s HHREHRITEREN:

. I/,\Txéfﬂ%‘riﬁﬁkﬁ’ﬁﬁkif’””@b
Bk BB =EGER

e ARNEREENIFEEDE -
WBEEERIFRBR L =R HER

EEHIALHRE  AEESE
M EEREHREHREREHE -
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control
until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to owners of the Company and to non-
controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries
is attributed to owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in
line with the Group’s accounting policies.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately
from the Group’s equity therein, which represent present
ownership interests entitling their holders to a proportionate
share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do not result
in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries are accounted
for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s
relevant components of equity and the non-controlling interests
are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in
the subsidiaries, including re-attribution of relevant reserves
between the Group and the non-controlling interests according
to the Group’s and the non-controlling interests’ proportionate
interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling
interests are adjusted, and the fair value of the consideration
paid or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to
owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiaries, the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (if any)
are derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss
and is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of
the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of
any retained interest and (i) the carrying amount of the assets
(including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary attributable to
the owners of the Company. All amounts previously recognised
in other comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary
are account as for as if the Group had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to
profit or loss or transferred to another category of equity as
specified/permitted by applicable HKFRSS).
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost
as established at the date of acquisition of the business less
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated
to each of the Group’s cash-generating units (the “CGUS”) (or
groups of CGUs) that is expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination, which represent the lowest level at which the
goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes and not
larger than an operating segment.

A CGU (or group of CGUs) to which goodwill has been allocated
is tested for impairment annually or more frequently when
there is indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill
arising on an acquisition in a reporting period, the CGU (or
group of CGUs) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested
for impairment before the end of that reporting period. If the
recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis
based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit (or group
of CGUs).

On disposal of the relevant CGU or any of the CGU within the
group of CGUs, the attributable amount of goodwill is included
in the determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal.
When the Group disposes of an operation within the CGU (or a
CGU within a group of CGUs), the amount of goodwill disposed
of is measured on the basis of the relative values of the operation
(or the CGU) disposed of and the portion of the CGU (or the
group of CGUs) retained.

Interest in an associate

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not
control or joint control over those policies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B SRR RE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HEZ T - =4 -A=+—HILFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Interest in an associate (Continued)

The results and assets and liabilities of an associate are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using
the equity method of accounting. The financial statements of
an associate used for equity accounting purposes are prepared
using uniform accounting policies as those of the Group for
like transactions and events in similar circumstances. Under
the equity method, an investment in an associate is initially
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share
of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the
associate. When the Group’s share of losses of an associate
exceeds the Group’s interest in that associate (which includes
any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the
Group’s net investment in the associate), the Group discontinues
recognising its share of further losses. Additional losses are
recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal
or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the
associate.

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the equity
method from the date on which the investee becomes an
associate. On acquisition of the investment in an associate, any
excess of the cost of the investment over the Group’s share of
the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the
investee is recognised as goodwill, which is included within
the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the
Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities over the cost of the investment, after reassessment, is
recognised immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the
investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence that
the interest in an associate may be impaired. When any objective
evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the investment
(including goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with
HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount
(higher of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal)
with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised is
not allocated to any asset, including goodwill, that forms part
of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that
impairment loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36
to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment
subsequently increases.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A B SRR RE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HEZ T - =4 -A=+—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Interest in an associate (Continued)

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the Group,
profits and losses resulting from the transactions with the
associate are recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial
statements only to the extent of interests in the associate that are
not related to the Group.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are held
for use in the production or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purposes. Property, plant and equipment are
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost
less subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

The cost of an asset comprises its purchase price and any
directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use. Expenditure incurred
after the property, plant and equipment have been put into
operation, such as repair and maintenance, is normally charged
to profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In situations
where it can be clearly demonstrated that the expenditure
has resulted in an increase in the future economic benefits
expected to be obtained from the use of the property, plant and
equipment, the expenditure is capitalised as an additional cost of
that asset.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off
the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its
residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual
rates used for this purpose are as follows:

30% or over the lease terms,
whichever is shorter

Leasehold improvements

Office equipment 30%
Computer equipment 30% to 50%
Furniture and fixtures 20%
Motor vehicle 20%

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period,
with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B SRR RE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HEZ T - =4 -A=+—HILFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss
arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property,
plant and equipment is determined as the difference between
the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is
recognised in profit or loss.
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Intangible assets BREE
Intangible assets acquired separately BRI E R EE A E

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation
and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for
intangible assets with finite useful lives is recognised on a
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The estimated
useful life and amortisation method are reviewed at the end of
each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
being accounted for on a prospective basis.

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets and intangible assets other than goodwill
At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets and intangible assets with finite useful lives to
determine whether there is any indication that these assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order to
determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use and intangible assets are estimated individually. When it is
not possible to estimate the recoverable amount individually, the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the CGU to which
the asset belongs.

In testing a CGU for impairment, corporate assets are allocated
to the relevant CGU when a reasonable and consistent basis of
allocation can be established, or otherwise they are allocated
to the smallest group of CGUs for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be established. The recoverable
amount is determined for the CGU or group of CGUs to which
the corporate asset belongs, and is compared with the carrying
amount of the relevant CGU or group of CGUs.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets and intangible assets other than goodwill
(Continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset (or a CGU) for which the estimates of future cash flows
have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is estimated
to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of
the asset (or a CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount. For
corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which cannot
be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis to a CGU,
the Group compares the carrying amount of a group of CGUSs,
including the carrying amounts of the corporate assets or portion
of corporate assets allocated to that group of CGUs, with the
recoverable amount of the group of CGUs. In allocating the
impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce
the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the
other assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount
of each asset in the unit or the group of CGUs. The carrying
amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest of its fair
value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if
determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment loss that
would otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated
pro rata to the other assets of the unit or the group of cash-
generating units. An impairment loss is recognised immediately
in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or CGU or a group of CGUs) is increased
to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or a CGU or a group of CGUSs) in prior
years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately
in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B SRR RE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HEZ T - =4 -A=+—HILFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on weighted average method. Net
realisable value represents the estimated selling price for
inventories less all estimated costs of completion and costs
necessary to make the sale. Cost necessary to make the sale
include incremental cost directly attribute to the sale and non-
incremental costs which the Group must incur to make the sales.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame
established by regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance with
HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss (“FVTPL") are added to or deducted from the fair value
of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate,
on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to
the acquisition of financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and
of allocating interest income and interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs
and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of
the financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a
shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest which are derived from the Group’s ordinary course of
business are presented as revenue.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

o the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method
for financial assets measured subsequently at amortised cost.
Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except
for financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired. For financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset
from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-
impaired financial instrument improves so that the financial asset
is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of the financial asset from the beginning of the reporting period
following the determination that the asset is no longer credit
impaired.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit loss (“ECL") model on financial assets (including loan
receivables, trade receivables, deposits and other receivables
(excluded other tax receivables), amount due from an associate
and bank balances). The amount of ECL is updated at the end of
each reporting period to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B SRR RE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HEZ T - =4 -A=+—HILFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. FEFHHRBEm@m
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued) £R T A (E)

Financial assets (Continued) TREEE)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued) DEEE A ()

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument.
In contrast 12-month ECL (“12m ECL”) represents the portion of
lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the end of the reporting period.
Assessment are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors,
general economic conditions and an assessment of both the
current conditions at the end of the reporting period as well as
the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognise lifetime ECL for trade receivables
without significant financing component.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance
equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group
recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL
should be recognised is based on significant increases in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.
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A B SRR RE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HEZ T - =4 -A=+—HILFE

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the end of
the reporting period with the risk of a default occurring on
the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In
making this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when
assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal credit
rating;

° significant deterioration in external market indicators of
credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread,
the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

o existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial
or economic conditions that are expected to cause a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations;

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor; or

° an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the
debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.
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POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued) £R T A (E)
Financial assets (Continued) TREEE)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued) DEEE A ()
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B SRR RE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HEZ T - =4 -A=+—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. FEEHERMEW
POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued) cof - g =N¢ )]
Financial assets (Continued) TREEE)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued) DEEE A ()

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the
Group presumes that the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition when contractual payments are more
than 30 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria
used to identify whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the
criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in credit risk
before the amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

The Group considers that default has occurred when a financial
asset is more than 90 days past due unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate that a
more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events of
default that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future
cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data about
the following events:

(@ significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;

(b) abreach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider; or

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty and
there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or has entered
into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables,
when the amounts are over three years past due, whichever
occurs sooner. Financial assets written off may still be subject to
enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery procedures,
taking into account legal advice where appropriate. A write-off
constitutes a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries
are recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B SRR RE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HEZ T - =4 -A=+—HILFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. FEFHHRBEm@m
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued) £R T A (E)

Financial assets (Continued) TREEE)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued) DEEE A ()

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of
default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there
is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is based on historical
data adjusted by forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL
reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is
determined with the respective risks of default occurring as the
weights. The Group uses a practical expedient in estimating
ECL on trade receivables using a provision matrix taking into
consideration historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
forward looking information that is available without undue cost
or effort.

Generally, the ECL is estimated the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance
with the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate determined at
initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL for certain trade receivables are considered on a
collective basis taking into consideration past due information
and relevant credit information such as forward looking

macroeconomic information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into consideration
the following characteristics when formulating the grouping:

° Past-due status;

o Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

o External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure the

constituents of each group continue to share similar credit risk
characteristics.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B SRR RE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HEZ T - =4 -A=+—HILFE

POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is credit
impaired, in which case interest income is calculated based on
amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their carrying
amount, with the exception of loan receivable, trade receivables
and amount due from an associate where the corresponding
adjustment is recognised through a loss allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the
Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred
asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the asset
and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the
Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise
the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing
for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B SRR RE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HEZ T - =4 -A=+—HILFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. FEEHERMEW
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued) £R T A (E)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments THABERRATIA

Classification as debt or equity EBSRAZ 52

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are SEEBBTCEBRRATATRE

classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance
with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group are recognised
at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities
All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method or at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL
Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the financial
liability is designated as at FVTPL.

A financial liability may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial
recognition if:

o such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a
measurement or recognition inconsistency that would
otherwise arise; or

o the financial liability forms part of a group of financial
assets or financial liabilities or both, which is managed
and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis,
in accordance with the Group’s documented risk
management or investment strategy, and information about
the grouping is provided internally on that basis; or

° it forms part of a contract containing one or more
embedded derivatives, and HKFRS 9 permits the entire
combined contract to be designated as at FVTPL.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B SRR RE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HEZ T - =4 -A=+—HILFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities (including trade payables, other payables
and accruals (exclude accrued staff costs, other tax payables
and receipt in advance) and deposits from customers) are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have
expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable is recognised in the profit or loss.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date when
derivative contracts are entered into and are subsequently
remeasured to their fair value at the end of the reporting period.
The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Embedded derivatives

Derivatives embedded in hybrid contracts that contain financial
asset hosts within the scope of HKFRS 9 are not separated. The
entire hybrid contract is classified and subsequently measured in
its entirety as either amortised cost or fair value as appropriate.

Derivatives embedded in non-derivative host contracts that are
not financial assets within the scope of HKFRS 9 are treated as
separate derivatives when they meet the definition of a derivative,
their risks and characteristics are not closely related to those of
the host contracts and the host contracts are not measured at
FVTPL.

Generally, multiple embedded derivatives in a single instrument
that are separated from the host contracts are treated as a
single compound embedded derivative unless those derivatives
relate to different risk exposures and are readily separable and
independent of each other.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B SRR RE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HEZ T - =4 -A=+—HILFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. FEEHERMEGE
POLICIES (Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents HeERREZEY

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated ReEKRESEEVREHTBEMKAKE
statement of financial position include: 5 - BEE

(@ cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand @ Re EpEFBERESLEHT

deposits, excluding bank balances that are subject to
regulatory restrictions that result in such balances no
longer meeting the definition of cash; and

(b) cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term (generally
with original maturity of three months or less), highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible to a known
amount of cash and which are subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value. Cash equivalents are held for the

o TEEXEERNMENERH
BBETBNARESEENRITE
B R

b BReFEY HEEREHEER
IHEA=EAXER) AR
BRACDHNBHEACAEESE
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purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments rather AT ESXEMER
than for investment or other purposes.
For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows, mAEFEaRERMS  REekBELE

cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents
as defined above.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is
probable that the Group will be required to settle the obligations,
and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of
the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the
end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and
uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a provision is
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present
obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash
flows (where the effect of the time value of money is material).
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Chi

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

Contingent assets

Contingent assets arise from unplanned or other unexpected
events that give rise to the possibility of an inflow of economic
benefits to the Group and they are not recognised in the
consolidated financial statements. The Group assesses
continually the development of contingent assets. If it has
become virtually certain that an inflow of economic benefits will
arise, the Group recognises the asset and the related income in
the consolidated financial statements in the reporting period in
which the change occurs.

Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a present obligation arising from past
events but is not recognised because it is not probable that
an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation or the amount of the obligation
cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.

Where the Group is jointly and severally liable for an obligation,
the part of the obligation that is expected to be met by other
parties is treated as a contingent liability and it is not recognised
in the consolidated financial statements.

The Group assesses continually to determine whether an
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits has become
probable. If it becomes probable that an outflow of future
economic benefits will be required for an item previously dealt
with as a contingent liability, a provision is recognised in the
consolidated financial statements in the reporting period in which
the change in probability occurs, except in the extremely rare
circumstances where no reliable estimate can be made.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services
underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to
the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a
bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct
goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control of the good or service may be transferred over time or at
a point in time. Control of the good or service is transferred over
time if one of the following criteria is met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the
Group performs;

° the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

o the Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed to
date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due)
from the customer.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
Revenue from sales of goods

The Group is engaged in the trading of gold and jewellery
products in the wholesale market and directly to customers
through its own retail outlets.

For trading of gold and jewellery products in the wholesale
market, revenue is recognised when control of the goods
has transferred, being when the goods have been shipped
to the wholesaler’s specific location. Transportation and
handling activities that occur before customers obtain control
are considered as fulfilment activities. Following delivery, the
wholesaler has full discretion over the manner of distribution
and price to sell the goods, has the primary responsibility for on
selling the goods and bears the risks of obsolescence and loss
in relation to the goods. The normal credit term is for a maximum
of 6 months upon the delivery pursuant to the relevant contracts.

For sales of jewellery products to retail customers, revenue is
recognised when control of the goods has transferred, being at
the point the customer purchases the goods at the retail outlet.
Payment of the transaction price is due immediately at the point
the customer purchases the goods.

A contract liability is also recognised when the wholesalers and
retail customers pay deposit before the Group transfers control
of the products to the wholesalers/retail customers.

Commission income

Commission income is recognised on a success basis, i.e. when
the relevant application for the services has been successfully
completed. The commission will be received by the Company
upon completion of the services.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time
in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date
of initial application of HKFRS 16 or arising from business
combinations on, the Group assesses whether a contract is or
contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS 16 at
inception, modification date or acquisition date, as appropriate.
Such contract will not be reassessed unless the terms and
conditions of the contract are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the contract to each lease component on the
basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and
the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components,
including contract for acquisition of ownership interests of a
property which includes both leasehold land and non-lease building
components, unless such allocation cannot be made reliably.

The Group also applies practical expedient not to separate
non-lease components from lease component, and instead
account for the lease component and any associated non-lease
components as a single lease component.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to leases of offices and warehouse that have a lease term
of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do
not contain a purchase option. It also applies the recognition
exemption for lease of low-value assets. Lease payments on
short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised
as expense on a straight-line basis or another systematic basis
over the lease term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B SRR RE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HEZ T - =4 -A=+—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. FEEHERMEGE

POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued) BE(E)

The Group as a lessee (Continued) REEERABEAGE)

Right-of-use assets EHELE

The cost of right-of-use asset includes: FRAEEEXANBIE

e the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability; ] HEAENVBRTI=28:

e any lease payments made at or before the commencement e RHMBABHES ZAIFTIERN FMA

date, less any lease incentives received:; ENF BREAMSHNEAEER

-

e any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and o ASKBEELAMNERVIBEENA
&

e an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in s AEEHFHREVKRBEBEE - &

EHEBEEMESLIKHEEE
EREEHERRERIGRERE
R REHS T EE £ (EFTRCAR ©

dismantling and removing the underlying assets, restoring
the site on which it is located or restoring the underlying
asset to the condition required by the terms and conditions
of the lease.

o A IR AR AE (7 B3 8 R
EFETE -

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses.

EREEEREGR A ERFH AN

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over

the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item
on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of lease
payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present
value of lease payments, the Group uses the incremental
borrowing rate at the lease commencement date if the interest
rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease
liability comprise:

o fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable; and
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B SRR RE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HEZ T - =4 -A=+—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. FESHBEMEE)

POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities (Continued)

o payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease
term reflects the exercise of an option to terminate the
lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by
interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

Employee benefits

Short term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid as and
when employees rendered the services. All short-term employee
benefits are recognised as an expense unless another HKFRS
requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an
asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such
as salaries and bonus) after deducting any amount already paid.

Retirement benefit obligations

Payment to Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) is recognised as an expense when employees have
rendered service entitling them to the contributions. The Group
operates a MPF Scheme under the Hong Kong Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those employees
employed under the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment
Ordinance. The MPF Scheme is a defined contribution scheme,
the assets of which are held in separate trustee-administered
funds.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B SRR RE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HEZ T - =4 -A=+—HILFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. FEEHERMEW
POLICIES (Continued)

Employee benefits (Continued) EERA(E)

Retirement benefit obligations (Continued) RIKEHNEE(E)

Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees are
each required to make contributions to the scheme at 5% of the
employees’ relevant income, with the employers’ contributions
subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000. The
Group’s contributions to the scheme are expensed as incurred
and vested in accordance with the scheme’s vesting scales.
Where employees leave the scheme prior to the full vesting of the
employer’s contributions, the amount of forfeited contributions is
used to reduce the contributions payable by the Group.

Employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are required to
participate in the employee retirement scheme operated by the
relevant local government bureau in the PRC. The contributions
to be borne by the Group are calculated at a certain percentage
of the salaries and wages for those eligible employees.

On behalf of its employees, the Group makes pension
contributions and pays termination benefits prescribed by
legal requirements of Kazakhstan. When employees retire,
the Group’s financial liabilities terminate and all subsequent
payments to the retired employees are made by national pension
savings fund.

The retirement benefits scheme contributions charged to profit
or loss represent contributions paid or payable to the funds by
the Group at rates specified in the rules of the schemes.

Share-based payment

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others
providing similar services are measured at the fair value of the
equity instruments at the grant date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B SRR RE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HEZ T - =4 -A=+—HILFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Share-based payment (Continued)

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments
determined at the grant date without taking into consideration
all non-market vesting conditions is expensed on a straight-
line basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s
estimate of equity instruments that will eventually vest, with a
corresponding increase in equity under the heading of share
option reserve. At the end of each reporting period, the Group
revises its estimate of the number of equity instruments expected
to vest based on assessment of all relevant non-market vesting
conditions. The impact of the revision of the original estimates,
if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that the cumulative
expense reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding
adjustment to the share options reserve. For share options that
vest immediately at the date of grant, the fair value of the share
options granted is expensed immediately to profit or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to share
premium. When the share options are forfeited after the vesting
date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in share option reserve will be transferred
to accumulated losses.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not
taken into account when determining the grant date fair value
of awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being met is
assessed as part of the Group’s best estimate of the number of
equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market performance
conditions are reflected within the grant date fair value. Any other
conditions attached to an award, but without an associated
service requirement, are considered to be non-vesting
conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the fair value
of an award and lead to an immediate expensing of an award
unless there are also service and/or performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met,
no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or
non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Share-based payment (Continued)

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as
a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not
been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In
addition, an expense is recognised for any modification that
increases the total fair value of the share-based payments, or is
otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the date of
modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as
if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense
not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately.
This includes any award where non-vesting conditions within
the control of either the Group or the employee are not met.
However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award,
and is designated as a replacement award on the date that it
is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they
were a modification of the original award, as described in the
previous paragraph.

Share-option granted to non-employees

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions with parties
other than employees are measured at the fair value of the
services received, except where that fair value cannot be
estimated reliably, in which case they are measured at the fair
value of the equity instruments granted, measured at the date
the entity obtains the counterparty renders the service. The fair
values of the services received are recognised as expenses
(unless the services qualify for recognition as assets).

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for
the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group
with no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they become receivable. Such grants are
presented under “other gains and losses, net”.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B SRR RE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HEZ T - =4 -A=+—HILFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. FEFEAHRBEE)
POLICIES (Continued)
Borrowing costs BE XA

All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they are incurred.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

Current tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from ‘loss before tax’ as reported in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income because it excludes items of income or expense that
are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are
never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current
tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used
in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available against which those deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets
and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from the initial recognition of assets and liabilities in
a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

i

B BRI EE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HEZ T - =4 -A=+—HILFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with interests in subsidiaries and interest
in an associate, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences associated with such interests are only recognised to
the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable
profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable
future.

The carrying amounts of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available
to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax for the year
Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the consolidated financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to the Group’s
most senior executive management for the purposes of
allocating resources to, and assessing the performance of, the
Group’s various lines of business and geographical locations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B SRR RE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HEZ T - =4 -A=+—HILFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Segment reporting (Continued)

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature
of products and services, the nature of production processes,
the type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute
the products or provide the services, and the nature of the
regulatory environment. Operating segments which are not
individually material may be aggregated if they share a majority of
these criteria.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the
rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions.
At the end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at
that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s operations
are translated into the presentation currency of the Group
(.e. HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each
reporting period. Income and expenses items are translated at
the average exchange rates for the period. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity under the heading of foreign currency
translation reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests as
appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal of
the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign
operation), all of the exchange differences accumulated in
equity in respect of that operation attributable to owners of the
Company are reclassified to profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A B SRR RE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HEZ T - =4 -A=+—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@ A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is
related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or the Group’s parent.

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and
fellow subsidiary is related to the others);

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of
a group of which the other entity is a member);

(i) both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party;

(iv)  one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

(viy the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iy
R

B BRI EE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HEZ T - =4 -A=+—HILFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Related parties (Continued)
(b)  (Continued)

(vi) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of
the entity); or

(viiiy the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a

part, provides key management personnel services
to the Group or to the Group’s parent.

A related party transaction is a transfer of resources, services or
obligation between the Group and a related party, regardless of
whether a price is charged.

Close family members of a person are those family members
who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that
person in their dealings with the entity.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements,
the directors are required to make judgments, estimates and
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future
periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period that may have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Estimated impairment of property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible
assets are stated at costs less accumulated depreciation and
amortisation and impairment, if any. In determining whether
an asset is impaired, the Group has to exercise judgment and
make estimation, particularly in assessing: (1) whether an event
has occurred or any indicators that may affect the asset value;
(2) whether the carrying amount of an asset can be supported
by the recoverable amount, in the case of value in use, the net
present value of future cash flows which are estimated based
upon the continued use of the asset; and (3) the appropriate
key assumptions to be applied in estimating the recoverable
amounts including cash flow projections and an appropriate
discount rate. When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount of an individual asset (including right-of-use assets), the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the CGU to which
the assets belong. Changing the assumptions and estimates,
including the discount rates or the growth rate in the cash flow
projections, could materially affect the net present value used in
the impairment test.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B SRR RE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HEZ T - =4 -A=+—HILFE

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Provision of ECL for financial assets measured at
amortised cost

Trade receivables with significant balances, trade receivables
classified as credit-impaired and all other financial assets
measured at amortised cost are assessed for ECL individually.

In addition, the Group uses practical expedient in estimating ECL
on trade receivables which are not assessed individually using
a provision matrix. The provision rates are based on aging of
debtors as groupings of various debtors taking into consideration
the Group’s historical default rates and forward-looking
information that is reasonable and supportable available without
undue costs or effort. At the end of each reporting period, the
historical observed default rates are reassessed and changes in
the forward-looking information are considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The
information about the ECL are disclosed in note 41.

Valuation of promissory note

As at 31 March 2023, the Group’s promissory note amounting
to approximately HK$58,149,000 (2022: HK$75,947,000) are
measured at fair value with fair value being determined based
on significant unobservable inputs using valuation techniques.
Judgment and estimation are required in establishing the
relevant valuation techniques and the relevant inputs thereof.
Changes in assumptions relating to these factors could result in
material adjustments to the fair value of these instruments. See
note 40 for further disclosures.
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group determines its operating segments based on the
reports reviewed by the executive directors, being the chief
operating decision maker (the “CODM?”), for the purpose of
monitoring segment performance and allocating resources
between segments that are used to make strategic decisions.

The Group has three reportable segments during the year
ended 31 March 2023 and 2022. The reportable segments are
based on the information about the operations of the Group that
management uses to make decisions.

The Group’s reportable segments are strategic business units
that operate different activities. They are managed separately
because each business has different markets and requires
different marketing strategies. Particulars of the Group’s
reportable segments for continuing and discontinued operations
are summarised as follows:

o Gold and jewellery business
o Lending business
° Fintech business
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B SRR RE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HEZ T - =4 -A=+—HILFE

5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. BRESHEH @)
(Continued)
Gold and
jewellery Lending Fintech
business business business Total
ESR%E
£5% BEE£E LSRMEER B
BE_B_Z=E HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
For the year ended 31 March 2023 ZR=t+-HLEE Ti#x Ti#x TEx Ti#x
REVENUE g 25
From external customers; RENBRE:
Trading of gold and jewellery products BeRKEEREE 88,928 = = 88,928
Lending business BEEH = 2,741 = 2,741
Commission income BalA - 429 - 429
Fintech business ERNRER = = 1,832 1,832
88,928 3,170 1,832 93,930
RESULTS 25
Segment results PBEE (928) (677) (31,346) (32,951)
Unallocated income EL L ON 124
Unallocated expenses RAORRARL (18,449)
Finance costs YEER (102)
Loss before tax BEAIEE (61,378)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 HEZ T - =4 -A=+—HILFE

5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. BRESHEH @)
(Continued)
Gold and
jewellery Lending Fintech
business business business Total
EERKE
£ BEEE  SRMEER @it
BE-®2--% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
For the year ended 31 March 2022 ZRA=+-HLEE TAT TAT TAT TAT
Continuing operations RERE
REVENUE g
From external customers: RENBRE:
Trading of gold and jewellery products EELGEEREE 71,324 - = 71,324
Retailing of jewellery products KEEMTE 2,606 - - 2,606
Lending business EEXHK - 3,178 = 3,178
Loan commission income BEFEE A - 209 - 209
Fintech business LRMRER - - 489 489
73,930 3,387 489 77,806
RESULTS 25
Segment results HPLEE P071) 2,810 (07,484) 26,745)
Unallocated income EON (7,429)
Unallocated expenses RAORRARL (11,908)
Finance costs HKER (78)
Loss before tax BiAEE (46,154)

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the
same as the Group’s accounting policies described in note 3
to the consolidated financial statements. Segment (loss)/profit
represents the (loss suffered)/profit earned from each segment
without allocation of central administrative costs, certain other
gains and losses, net, other expenses, finance costs and certain
impairment losses recognised under expected credit losses
model, net of reversal which not included in segment results.
This is the measure reported to the Group’s management for the
purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A B SRR RE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HEZ T - =4 -A=+—HILFE

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. BRESHEH @)
(Continued)
The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities BRESDE D AEBEERAGD
by operating segment: oo :
2023 2022
—E-= —_F -
HK$°000 HK$’000
T FATT
SEGMENT ASSETS THEE
Gold and jewellery business B LHREER 28,157 13,136
Lending business BEER 28,988 49,336
Fintech business & mBHE 75 107,230 95,617
Segment assets DEEE 164,375 158,089
Interest in an associate A RN - - -
Unallocated assets RoBLEE 4,389 10,712
Total assets BEEWQSE 168,764 168,801
SEGMENT LIABILITIES SEEE
Gold and jewellery business B RHRBEY 18,816 3,220
Lending business BEXER 3 =
Fintech business & mBHE E 75 35,853 10,554
Segment liabilities SEEE 54,672 13,774
Unallocated liabilities ROBEEE 65,033 79,888
Total liabilities BEHEE 119,705 93,662

For the purposes of monitoring segment performances and

allocating resources between segments:

° all assets are allocated to operating segments except
interest in an associate, amount due from an associate,
certain property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets,
prepayment, deposits and other receivables and cash and
cash equivalents held by the respective head offices; and

o all liabilities are allocated to operating segments except
certain other payables and accruals, lease liabilities and

promissory note.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A B SRR RE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HEZ T - =4 -A=+—HILFE

5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 5.

(Continued)

Geographical information

Information about the Group’s revenue from external customers,
presented based on geographical location of the customers,
and information about the Group’s non-current assets other
than financial assets and prepayment, presented based on
geographical location of the assets are detailed below:

RETBEM A

i 35 & B
BHAAREEREINBER 2 W E R
NEFPzZHBAEZY - MEBBAEE
TRl EE RTANRIBERINZ ERBE E
BHRDNEEZMBUEZY - 1540
T

Revenue of
external customers Non-curreqt assets
REIBER 2 ERBEE
2023 2022 2023 2022
—E-= —E- —Eg=-= —E-—F
HK$’00_0 HK$'000 HK$j00_0 HK$'000
Ti#&x FB T TiEx FAT
The PRC H 88,928 74,139 5 39
Hong Kong &7 5,002 3,667 14,150 15,863
Kazakhstan I5 B 72 H7 48 - - 49 28
Total B 93,930 77,806 14,204 15,930

Note: Non-current assets exclude prepayment.

Information about major customers
Revenue from customers of the corresponding years contributing
over 10% of the total revenue of the Group is as follows:

Bret: FERBEESBEAMHIA -

FREIEEF2 AN
16575 58 [ AR 4 AR 26 1B10% 2
SETIRE

2023 2022

—F=-= -z
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FExT &L
Customer A' A 13,629 35,563
Customer B! ZFB - 10,875
Customer C! EEC - 9,063
Customer D! EFED - 7,824
Customer E =FE 25,591 N/AZ 3 Fi2
Customer F! ZEF 24,089 .
Customer G! ZEG 22,368 -

1 Revenue from gold and jewellery business 1 REES RIHKEEHH K=

2 The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of the total
revenue of the Group.

Except disclosed above, no other customers contributed 10% or
more to the Group’s revenue for both years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B SRR RE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HEZ T - =4 -A=+—HILFE

5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. BRESHEH @)
(Continued)
Other segment information HitpHER
For the year ended 31 March 2023 BE-_ZE_=F=A=+—HILEE
Gold and
jewellery Lending Fintech
business husiness business Unallocated Consolidation
EERKE
5 BEER  SRNEER FAE &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T Tén Ti#n TiEn TE®

Amounts included in the measure of ~ BHERAHERH
segment profit or loss or segment BEHENSE:

assets:
Amortisation of intangible assets EVEERH = = 3,256 = 8,256
Depreciation of property, plant and nx BERREL

equipment E 7 - 179 733 919
Depreciation of right-of-Use assets FREEENE = = = 1,09 1,093
Loss arising on fair value change of fnancial  MAATEEF B ERHAR

liabllties at fai value through profitor loss %z 2B AEATEES

HELEZER - - - 9,617 9,617

Impairment losses recognised under REBRBEEBER

expected credit loss model, net of BRLABEE Nk

reversal F3H] 41) 3,805 514 292 4,570
Addtions to non-current assets (aofg) REERDEEW ) 12 = 1,611 1925 3,548
Amounts regularly provided to the EHREFIEEE

CODM but not included in the REABRFARD

measure of segment profitorlossor ~ EXHIPEEHE

segment assets: MeR:
Bank interest income RITHEHA (28) (26) 4 = (58)
Finance costs BBER = = = 102 102
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B SRR RE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HEZ T - =4 -A=+—HILFE

5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. BRESHEH @)
(Continued)
Other segment information (Continued) Hit 2 BEH (8)
For the year ended 31 March 2022 BE—_T- " F#=HA=+—HItFE
Gold and
jewellery Lending Fintech
business business business Unallocated Consolidation
S BEXE SRMREER AR A
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tin TEL THL TEL TEL

Amounts included in the measure of ~ BHERABERG T
segment profit or loss or segment BEHENSE:

assets:
Amortisation of intangible assets EVEERH - - 1555 - 1555
Depreciation of property, plant and nx BERREL

equipment Vil 2 - 110 815 97
Depreciation of right-of-Use assets FREEENE - - - 1915 1915

Loss arising on fair value change of financlal  MAATFEEF 8 ARHAR
liabllties at fai value through profitor loss %z 2B AEATEES

DELLER - - - 7476 7476
Impairment losses recognised under REBRBEEBER
expected credit loss model, net of BRLRBEE Nk
reversal &E (223 53 144 1,080 1517
Addtions to non-current assets (ofg) REERDEEW ) - - 16,052 - 16,052

Amounts regularly provided to the EHREFIEEE

CODM but not included in the REABRFARD
measure of segment profitorlossor ~ EXHIPEEHE
segment assets: Mes:

Bank interest income RITHEMA (2) - @) = (30)
Finance costs BER 2 - - 76 78
Note: Non-current assets included property, plant and equipment, right-of- K ERBEEREYSE  BERSEE - F

use assets and intangible assets. FAEEENAREREE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B SRR RE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HEZ T - =4 -A=+—HILFE

6. REVENUE 6. Urz2s
2023 2022
—EgE=-= T
HK$’000 HK$’000
TiE&x FAET
Revenue from contract with customers RIET B FHEER
with HKFRS 15 EIRZ2EE SN
Recognised at a point in time TR e A5 B 5 7 R
Trading of gold and jewellery products B hHREEREE 88,928 71,324
Retailing of jewellery products KEEMTE = 2,606
Commission income HEBA 429 209
Revenue from contracts with customers REBFEH W= 89,357 74,139
Revenue from other source: IR B E b 3R B9 48 7 -
Loan interest income B3 F B A 2,741 3,178
Net interest income from fintech business RES B EBAF A
W AR 1,832 489
Total revenue 4G = 93,930 77,806
Interest income from fintech business ELXBETYIEEN SR
arising from: B S -
— Loans and advances to customers: -EEEREER
Corporate loans and advances REER KRB 2,157 493
2,157 493
Less: interest expense from fintech business WEEBTNIIEERN SR
arising from: B EBNERX:
— Deposits from customers - BPEX
Corporate and individual customers TERBEARP (325) @)
(325) @)
Net interest income from fintech business RETRBI R EBRRN
FEW A F5E 1,832 489

SEEEFAVNAMBRBHREINX

Transaction allocated to the remaining performance

obligation for contracts with customers 2
The Group has applied the practical expedient in paragraph 121 REEE BB BB mELERE155% 5
of HKFRS 15 to its sales contract for gold and jewellery products RIBEFHNEREREEEZERAREEES R

KREERNHEESLN  AEEY ARWE
ERASEERTRVNAHFERHE
A—FREEMNHEESNETHRSRE
WEERSERESHKDZMNER -

that the Group does not disclose information about revenue
that the Group will be entitled to when it satisfies the remaining
performance obligations under the sales contract that had an
original expected duration of one year or less.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 HEZ T - =4 -A=+—HILFE

7. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES, NET

7. HitlzsREBEFHE

2023 2022
—E=-= ==
HK$’000 HK$’000
TExT T
Bank interest income (other than those arising ~ $E1TFI. B W A CRE £ @Rl
from fintech business) BB RIBR SN 58 30
Exchange losses, net ME 5 E518 %58 (295) (270)
Loss arising on fair value change of financial AAFEEG=ZBEGFA
liabilities at fair value through b= bl ==K PNNT
profit or loss BEZHELZEIE (9,617) (7,476)
Government grants I8 IS #6 BN 227 =
Information technology services income = BBl AR 75 Uk A 342 =
Refund of consultancy service fee BREBARGE = 116
Sundry income MIEWA 28 74
(9,257) (7,526)
During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group recognised HE-_Z-_=—F=-A=+—HLEFEH

government grants of HK$227,000 in respect of Covid-19-
related subsidies which relates to Employment Support
Scheme provided by the Hong Kong Government and subsidies
provide by the PRC local government as a support. There
were no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to these
government grants.

M ARERR-F-AEREEEE
R§227 000787 + B TYREBTTIR 6%
{04 31 3¢ 41 81 e B bt 5 BURHIR kS
WA - BEENRFREHEZ R
BRI AR -

8. FINANCE COSTS 8. MKEH
2023 2022
—EZ=fF —E- &
HK$’000 HK$’'000
TiE&xT FAETT
Interest on lease liabilities HEBERNE 102 78
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 HEZ T - =4 -A=+—HILFE

9.

LOSS BEFORE TAX 9. MRBIATEIE
The Group’s loss before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting): AEBBRFBAIESELHNR,GEA) T
BIEBIER:
2023 2022
—g== -
HK$°000 HK$’000
T FE T
Amortisation of intangible assets BB E 2 3,256 1,555
Cost of inventories sold ELTFERKAE 87,916 72,786
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  #1% - BMERZXEZITE 919 927
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CTRAREEZIE 1,093 1,915
Impairment losses recognised under expected 278 B{5 & E B R X FE R
credit losses model, net of reversal ZOBEEE (R ERE)
— amount due from an associate - JEUR B & R R FUA 2,209 1,060
— trade receivables - FEURBE Tk (102) 29
— loan receivables - AR 2,484 681
— deposits and other receivables — 7] & M B fih JE WK IE (21) (253)
4,570 1,517
Expenses relating to short-term leases REEEEE R 725 278
Expenses relating to low value assets REBEEERHEZRAX 18 18
Auditor’s remuneration 1% SR B
— audit services - BETRTS 949 948
Share-based payment expenses in respect of BRI AR 2 AR D
consultants REM 2R HALZ - 2,587
Employee benefits expense (including directors’  {& 8 1& #| 5 %
remuneration): (BREEEH2) :
— Wages, salaries, allowances and benefits -I&  %e 2K
in kind =k 14,006 14,902
— Discretionary bonus - BIBIEA 987 596
— Employees share award scheme on -WEBAREEMNES
subsidiary level B 1n BB ET &l 521 =
— Retirement benefit schemes contributions - RIREETEIH R 516 620
16,030 16,118
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10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed
The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017 (the “BIll”)
which introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The
Bill was signed into law on 28 March 2018 and was gazetted on
the following day. Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime,
the first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying group entity will
be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million will be taxed
at 16.5%. The profits of group entities not qualifying for the
two-tiered profits tax rates regime of Hong Kong Profits Tax will
continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

Accordingly, starting from current year, the Hong Kong Profits
Tax is calculated at 8.25% on the first HK$2 million of the
estimated assessable profits of qualifying group entity and 16.5%
on the estimated assessable profits above HK$2 million.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT
Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate
of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for both years.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made for
both years as the Group has no assessable profits arising in
Hong Kong for the year ended 31 March 2023 and the Group’s
assessable profit were offset by one-off tax reduction of Hong
Kong Profits Tax provided by Inland Revenue Department for the
year ended 31 March 2022.

No provision for the PRC Enterprise Income Tax has been made
for both years as the Group has no assessable profits arising in
the PRC.

The subsidiary established in the Kazakhstan is generally subject
to Kazakhstan Corporate Income Tax on its taxable income at
an income tax rate of 20% and assessed for a calendar year. All
Kazakhstan legal entities and branches of foreign legal entities
are subject to Corporate Income Tax.

Until 1 January 2066, in accordance with paragraph 3 of article
6 of the Constitutional Law of the Kazakhstan “On the Astana
International Financial Centre”, the Group is exempt from
corporate income tax on income received from providing the
financial services in the AIFC.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B SRR RE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HEZ T - =4 -A=+—HILFE

10. Fie MM X

R-ZE-NEFE=A=+—B8 BB LA
BB —EFHEUSFTNETHR) K
PIEZR(HEFIEZ]D) + LAS| AFIS R
#il o EPIERKR=_Z—)\F=HA=+/\H
BEXAELE UINBEHESHRTE -
RBEFSHRMARL  GEKzSEEE
B2E &S Tim M 2 B 58.25% 1M
BiB2E & A TTim M 2 B E A 516.5% ©
AEEEBFNEHMAL 2 EEE B R
I 1% 48 48 DA B — B Z16.5% mr 1t ©

At BAFER  AEREEEREMG
FHERBUA N B E2H B8 7T 1K8.25% AT
BEBNEH - MEB2ESETG
JEFR T8 M 12 16.5% st HEBE B RS -

RBHBECREMEVEREMEHR
EDREERFSBAR AR - B
B AR MIEFEZHER25% °

AR AREBBE T -_=F=A=1—
BIEFEYEETBELERFEF
EAREBNERB SRR EREZ
- —F - A=t HIFERED
ERMEFRE R R - M
Eoh W EFE /BB F SRR
& -
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W AE A (] B4 o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B SRR RE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HEZ T - =4 -A=+—HILFE

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued) 10. RS H XX (@)

No provision for Kazakhstan corporate income tax has
been made for both years as the Group has exempted from
Kazakhstan corporate income tax or no assessable profits
arising in Kazakhstan.

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the
loss before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income as follows:

MR AEEER R HANRE AT EE
PSR adt EN IR E e M 1B E L BR
Mo M) - B A P fE 6 2 A R B e
BREMEVIELEE -

AERZAEHAXRGEERNEM
2EBER CBRHEABESRNAT:

2023 2022
—EE=HF —E -
HK$’000 HK$'000
TF#&xT T T
Loss before tax B i B 1B (51,378) (46,154)
Tax at domestic income tax rates EBRAMSRRETE 2
718 (8,120) (7,592)
Tax relief of 8.25% on first HK$2 million B2EE B TRERRTANZ
assessable profit F8.25% 2 B WUk % = (13)
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purpose 3 78 &R £ W A 2 Bt 75 52 £ (41) (11)
Tax effect of expense not deductible for tax TR MBREZ 2B B E
purpose 6,980 6,583
Tax effect of estimated tax losses not recognised 7k & 721 51 1 8 5 18 2
i & 1,194 1,348
One-off tax reduction of Hong Kong Profits Tax i %5 /& &% H £ — X £
by Inland Revenue Department BB NS TR % = (10)
Utilisation of estimated tax loss previous not &) A %5 Bl R T SR B
recognised e IR B A (13) (305)
Income tax expense for the year FEMEHHAX = =

The Group determined that it was not probable that the tax
losses and other deductible temporary differences of the Group
could be utilised in foreseeable future. As at 31 March 2023,
the estimated unused tax losses not recognised amounted of
approximately HK$103,019,000 (2022: HK$97,758,000). The
unrecognised tax losses could be carried forward indefinitely
except for the tax losses arising in the PRC to of approximately
HK$4,244,000 (2022: HK$4,015,000) that will expire within five
for offsetting against future taxable profits.

AEEEEZSHIEEEKEMA] T
WE R ERE AR EER A RER -
MN-TB-_=F=F=+—H KE®BERZ
fhFT AR {5 A TE B 18 4 5108,019,000/%8
TT(ZZT = —4 : 97,758,000/ 7T ) ° K P
B = A 2 B8 B 18 494,244,000 7T (=
T = 4 : 4,015,000/ 70) 5 - REERT
BEBAERESE  MzEEHEBERA
FREm @ ATIRERRERT & F -
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 HEZ T - =4 -A=+—HILFE

11. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The remuneration of directors was set out below:

(a)

Executive directors:

1.

EEMS
EEHEHIMT:

(@ HWMTES:

Salaries, Retirement
allowances and Discretionary  benefit schemes
Fee  benefits in kind honus contributions Total
e 2ER
He EnRIa MERL  BRSHIAMR @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiEx Tiéx T T T
2023 “BZF
Mr. Zhang (Chairman) FRE(ER) = 360 - 18 318
Ms. Zhang RRT - 1 7 - 23
Ms. Chung, Elizabeth Ching Yee gnEnt(est)
(‘Ms. Chung’) - 1,200 100 17 1,317
- 1,731 172 35 1,938
Salaries, Retirement
allowances and benefit schemes
Fee benefits in kind  Discretionary bonus contributions Total
£6 EHR
% Enils MEEL  BiResaEts &3t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
ThL iR TR TEx T
2022 S
Mr. Zhang (Chairman) FRE(ER) - 360 - 18 378
Ms. Zhang KT - 171 - - 171
Ms. Chung B0t - 1,200 100 18 1,318
- 1,781 100 36 1,867
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B SRR RE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HEZ T - =4 -A=+—HILFE

11. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (Continued) 1. EFMH£ @)
(b) Independent non-executive directors: (b) BIUFEPMITES:
Salaries, Retirement
allowances and benefit schemes
Fee benefits in kind contributions Total
e 2R
fe ENNE  RALSEAX @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TéR TER Ti#n T
2023 2
Ms. Chan Mei Yan, Hidy REBLL 180 - - 180
Mr. Zhang Weidong FEREE 360 = = 360
Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean ZBg0L 180 - - 180
720 - - 720
Salaries, Retirement
allowances and benefit schemes
Fee benefits in kind contributions Total
26 EHR
g Enfls RIS st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AL AL AL AL
2002 “E-CF
Ms. Chan Mei Yan, Hidy Bxaat 180 - - 180
Mr. Zhang Weidong (appointed on RERLE
12 November 2021) (RZB_—4+-4
t-REZf) 139 - - 139
Mr. Kwan Chi Hong (resigned on BEREE (W2B=-%
12 November 2021) T-ATZREH) 111 - -
Ms. Lee Kiwun Ling, May Jean XS 180 - - 180
610 - - 610
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A B SRR RE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HEZ T - =4 -A=+—HILFE

1.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (Continued)

Ms. Chung is also the chief executive of the Group and her
emoluments disclosed above include those for services rendered
by her as the chief executive.

Mr. Zhang Weidong is also the independent non-executive
director of Brillink Bank Corporation Limited (“Brillink Bank”) and
his emoluments disclosed above include those for services as
the director of Brillink Bank from the date of his appointment as
independent non-executive director of the Company.

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their
services in connection with the management of the affairs of the
Company and the Group.

The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown
above were for their services as the directors.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 HEZ T - =4 -A=+—HILFE

1.

12.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (Continued)

No emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office for both years. None of the
directors have waived or agreed to waive any emoluments for
both years.

Except as disclosed in note 37 to the consolidated financial
statements, no other transactions, arrangements or contracts of
significance to which the Company, its ultimate holding company
or any subsidiaries of its ultimate holding company was a party
and in which a director had a material interest, whether directly
or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year.

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included one
(2022: one) director, details of whose remuneration are set out in
note 11 to the consolidated financial statements above. Details
of the remuneration for the year of the remaining four (2022:
four) highest paid employees who are neither a director nor chief
executive of the Company are as follows:

1.

12.

EEM £ @m

G R W E F R 2 A E S S B
T AMESREIRFMARE BN
AREERZ BB RBERAEE -
BEENEXRBERREAMNE -

BRERA B S RA M TR ES  AD
7 HRRERATRERRERAT
2B AR TS A B F R
A RS E AR TR ERS
RAEERZ EABENAGRZEE
25 RPRAD o

IEGEEHES

FRN—EZEaFEERE R (ZE=_=
F:—R)EE EMESHFBER XL
AEEHRARM S o FREHTNE
TEZCF NR)EERRFESEHE
ZTHRABNESFEEZCHEF BN
T

2023 2022

—F=-= —TE -4

HK$’000 HK$’'000

T FAET

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e FMEEYA = 4,346 4,243
Discretionary bonus B 15 TE AT 343 155
Retirement benefit schemes contributions RIKEET B K 54 47
4,743 4,445
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B SRR RE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HEZ T - =4 -A=+—HILFE

12.

13.

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (Continued)

The number of the highest paid employees who are not the
directors whose remuneration fell within the following bands is as
follows:

12.

IEESHES @

MeBRATHERZEEEN TS H &
B AEMT:

Number of employees

EE A
2023 2022
—EgE-= -
Nil to HK$1,000,000 = 21,000,000/ 7T = =
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001/ 7T 21,500,000 7T 4 4
4 4

No emoluments were paid by the Group to the above individuals
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office for both years. None of the above
individuals have waived or agreed to waive any emoluments for
both years.

DIVIDENDS

No dividends was paid or proposed to pay by the Company
during the year ended 31 March 2023 (2022: nil), nor has any
dividend been proposed by the board of directors subsequent to
the end of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A B SRR RE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HEZ T - =4 -A=+—HILFE

14. LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share
attributable to owners of the Company is based on the following

14. EREE

AR
Ty AT BB 3t

AEEARIGEREARETER

data:
2023 2022
—E—-= =
HK$’000 HK$'000
TExT T
Loss E#E
Loss for the purpose of basic and diluted loss ~ AR EFRE LXK
per share (loss for the year attributable to BEEE 2 EE (AR
owners of the Company) HEAEBGEFANER) (40,784) (37,322)
2023 2022
—Eg=-= —=E -
’000 ’000
T8 T A%
Number of shares g g
Weighted average number of ordinary shares RAREESR
for the purpose of basic and diluted EAREEBEY
loss per share niETFEEEKRER 1,457,239 1,457,239

As the Company’s outstanding share options had an anti-dilutive
effect to the basic loss per share calculation for both years, the
exercise of the above potential ordinary shares is not assumed
in the calculation of diluted loss per share. Therefore, the diluted
loss per share is same as basic loss per share.

HRARRRIARITEBRESMEFE 2
BREANBEBRZGEARBEZE &
i

S

B 21T o Filt - BREEERR

HEREEE R RRR LlE

BREANEIBRE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 HEZ T - =4 -A=+—HILFE

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

15. £ - MENRR

Office and
computer
equipment,
Leasehold furniture and
improvements fixture  Motor vehicle Total
HOER
= BER
HENXEE BHREE BH st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR THET THL THET
Cost K&
As at 1 April 2021 RZEZ—FEMA—H 2,415 3,385 - 5,800
Additions e - 122 - 122
Disposal k3 - (1,084) - (1,064)
Exchange alignment EHRE - (80) - (80)
As at 31 March 2022 and RZZZZF=f=+-HAkK
as at 1 April 2022 “Z-_FNA-H 2,115 2,363 - 4,778
Additions NE - 160 188 348
Exchange alignment ERAE = (28) = (28)
As at 31 March 2023 RZE-=#=A=+-H 2,415 2,49 188 5,098
Accumulated depreciation and RARERAE
impairment
As at 1 April 2021 NZZ-€MA-AH 1,094 2,517 = 3,611
Charged for the year FRMK 483 444 - 927
Disposal HE - (1,084) - (1,064)
Exchange alignment BT - (81) - 1)
As at 31 March 2022 and W-B-—F#=A=+-Hk
as at 1 April 2022 “2-"FNA-H 1,577 1,816 - 3,393
Charged for the year FRMG 483 414 22 919
Exchange alignment ERAE = (22) = 22)
As at 31 March 2023 RZE-=F#=A=+-H 2,060 2,208 22 4,290
Carrying amounts REE
As at 31 March 2023 R=B-=%=F=+-H 355 287 166 808
As at 31 March 2022 RZBZZ#=A=+-H 838 547 - 1,385
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A B SRR RE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HEZ T - =4 -A=+—HILFE

16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

16. FHEEE

Leased
properties
HEWE
HK$'000
AT
Cost A
As at 1 April 2021 RZZE_—FMA—H 7,396
Termination of lease BIEFRE (3,088)
Exchange alignment bE 3 & 11
As at 31 March 2022 and as at 1 April 2022 RZEBE-_—_F=ZA=+—8Kk
- _FW™A—H 4,319
New lease entered HIEiR k) 1,922
Expiration of lease A9 E (4,319)
As at 31 March 2023 MR-ZE-_=F=HA=+—H 1,922
Accumulated depreciation and impairment ZitiT € R E
As at 1 April 2021 R-ZE-_—FmM/—H 5,311
Charge for the year F AR 1,915
Termination of lease RIEHE (3,088)
Exchange alignment ME 5 8 B 11
As at 31 March 2022 and as at 1 April 2022 RZEBE-_—_F=A=+—H8BK
—E-__4A—H 4,149
Charge for the year F A HIBR 1,093
Expiration of lease A E (4,319)
As at 31 March 2023 RZE_=F=A=+—H 923
Carrying amounts IREE
As at 31 March 2023 R-E-=f=H=+—H 999
As at 31 March 2022 R-E-——F=A=+—H 170

The Group does not have the option to purchase the right-of-use
assets for a nominal amount at the end of the lease terms.

Notes:

1. As at 31 March 2023, the Group is committed to approximately
HK$576,000 (2022: HK$693,000) for short-term leases.

AEEEREHNERBULESHB
BEEREEE -

Kt et
1, RZZE-_=F=A=+—H AEERE

HAFH B i A HE 49 B576,0008 T (ZF
— — % : 693,000 7T) °

2. The total cash outflow for leases amounted to approximately 2. HE-_ZT-_=F=A=+—HLFE H
HK$1,764,000 (2022: HK$2,606,000) for the year ended 31 March B SN B R1,764,0008 7T (ZF
2023. — — % :2,606,000/8 7T) °

3. During the year ended 31 March 2023, the expenses relating
to short-term leases and low value assets are approximately
HK$725,000 (2022: HK$278,000) and HK$18,000 (2022: HK$18,000),
respectively.

3. BE-_ T -_=—F=-A=1+—HIFE"
RHEERAIREEBEEERI AR
A725,000/% U (= F = — 4 : 278,000/
7T) 18,0005 7t (=T = — £ : 18,000/
JT) °
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 HEZ T - =4 -A=+—HILFE

16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)

For both years, the Group leases various offices for its
operations. Lease contracts are entered into for fixed term of
ranging from 2 to 3 years. Lease terms are negotiated on an
individual basis and contain different terms and conditions. In
determining the lease term and assessing the length of the non-
cancellable period, the Group applies the definition of a contract
and determines the period for which the contract is enforceable.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for offices
and warehouse. As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, the portfolio of
short-term leases is similar to the portfolio of short-term leases to
which the short-term lease expense disclosed above.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B SRR RE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HEZ T - =4 -A=+—HILFE

17. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 17. BEE
Software
and system
BYERZAEG
HK$'000
TAT
Cost A
As at 1 April 2021 NZEZ—FMHH—H =
Additions NE 15,930
As at 31 March 2022 and as at 1 April 2022 N—ZE-—F=A=+—HE
—E-__FMA—H 15,930
Additions NE 1,278
As at 31 March 2023 RZE_=F=A=+—H 17,208
Accumulated amortisation g
As at 1 April 2021 RZE—_—FWMA—H =
Amortisation for the year F R 5 1,555
As at 31 March 2022 and as at 1 April 2022 RZE-_—_F=A=+—HK
—E- 4 /F—H 1,555
Amortisation for the year F N 3,256
As at 31 March 2023 MR-ZE_=F=HA=+—H 4,811
Carrying amounts IREE
As at 31 March 2023 R-—E-Z=F=H=+—H 12,397
As at 31 March 2022 MR-ZEZ—F=A=+—H 14,375
The above intangible assets have finite useful lives. Such it EENERFHER - %%
intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over 5 BVEERBRENSFANEH -
years.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 HEZ T - =4 -A=+—HILFE

18.
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GOODWILL 18. B2
HK$'000
FE T
Cost R A
As at 1 April 2021, as at 31 March 2022, MRZZE_—FHA—H ZZEZ_F=H
as at 1 April 2022 and as at 31 March 2023 =+t—H ZEZ=FMWA—HK
—E-_=F=RA=+—H 3,908
Accumulated impairment losses Rt EEE
As at 1 April 2021, as at 31 March 2022, EC_E:—EE A—B - -ZZ=—=—%=H
as at 1 April 2022 and as at 31 March 2023 =+—H ZZE-—FHA—AK
—E-_=F=A=+—H 3,908
Carrying amounts REE
As at 31 March 2023 R=-B=-=%=H=+—H -
As at 31 March 2022 R-ZEZ—_F=A=+—H -
Before recognition of impairment losses, the carrying amounts of RERBEEER  mENEREESD
goodwill were allocated to groups of CGUs as follows: ERSEABMARNNAT:
2023 2022
—g=-= T
HK$’000 HK$’000
T#&T T T
Lending business BEEER 994 994
Trading and retailing of gold and jewellery B hHRBEEENMRTE 2,914 2,914
3,908 3,908




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B SRR RE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HEZ T - =4 -A=+—HILFE

18. GOODWILL (Continued) 18. B (@)
Impairment tests for CGUs containing goodwill SEHEZReEL BN ZRERR
The Group tests goodwill annually for impairment, or more AEBFFHGEETRERR » sy
frequently if there are indications that goodwill might be impaired. EMRBETENRERER - BIE A

ERIFRE

Goodwill acquired has been allocated for impairment testing WEHEBEDEENTZREEAS
purposes to the following CGUs: L AERE AR A% :
- Lending business - [BEE®
—  Trading and retailing of gold and jewellery - TehKREEERTE
Lending business BE %f%
As at 31 March 2020, since lending business segment suffered RZZEZFTF=A=+—H BHREE
losses and based on value in use calculation, the recoverable X% o EiirsEE BiRFEREER
amount was less than the carrying amount of this CGU. An g eSS BEREREEABMER
impairment loss of approximately HK$994,000 was recognised H B o B 58 8 (B &5 18 49994,0007% 7T
and the goodwill in respect of this CGU was fully impaired. MR EeEEEMHEDBEHE -
Trading and retailing of gold and jewellery HEeRHKEEERTE
As at 31 March 2019, since trading and retailing of gold and RZZBE-NF=A=+—H =S
jewellery segment suffered losses and based on value in use &3 EEE&f%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ SEE - AR
calculation, the recoverable amount was less than carrying BEREBETE  ZIRecELESBEM 2T
amount of this CGU. An impairment loss of approximately WeElezBENEEE - ERRREEIE
HK$2,914,000 was recognised and the goodwill in respect of this 472,914,000 7T - BAMZESELES
CGU was fully impaired. NHEEETBERE
19. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE 19. REBIE QT 2 S
2023 2022
—Fg== —=E- =
HK$’000 HK$'000
T T T
Unlisted investments: ELETIRE
Investment at cost BT R2EE 10,000 10,000
Less: Share of post-acquisition losses B (G B R (585) (585)
9,415 9,415
Less: Impairment loss recognised B BEERBEEE (9,415) (9,415)
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 HEZ T - =4 -A=+—HILFE

19. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued) 19. Rt E DT 22 (|)

Detail of the Group’s an associate is as follows: AEBE—HBER R ZFBOT:

Country of incorporation/ Proportion of ownership
principal place interests and voting  Principal

Name B of business rights held by the Group activities
HMELER AEEREZ
TREENY BERESRREELH TEXEK
2023 2022
ZBCZF —To—f
Darling Paganini Holding Limited  Darling Paganini The Republic of Seychelles/ 40% 40%  Trading of luxury products
(“Darling Paganini’) Holding Limited Hong Kong BEZGm
([Darling Paganinll) ~ EERLRE/ &5
The associate is accounted for using the equity method in the KRB —_=FR_E-_—_F=ZA=+—
consolidated financial statements as at 31 March 2023 and B BERrEAERERNZEHREY
2022. BRERALR °

Summarised financial information of material
associate

Summarised financial information in respect of Darling Paganini
is set out below. The summarised financial information
represents amounts shown in the associate’s consolidated
financial statements prepared in accordance with HKFRSs.

EXBERTAZHBERME

A B8 Darling PaganiniZ B 5 & K 2 &
FIENTE - Bt AR 2 IS E R EER
BIEEBHERELEARE 28 & AT
REPMBREFINRZEHE -

2023 2022

—Eg-= =T
HK$’000 HK$’000
T FATT
Non-current assets ERBEE = 1,080
Current assets VIR ES 4,735 6,643
Current liabilities mEBE (9,010) (8,388)
Non-current liabilities ERBEE = =
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

i

B BRI EE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HEZ T - =4 -A=+—HILFE

19.

INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued) 19. REtE RIS (@

Summarised financial information of material

associate (Continued)

EXBEQAT2MBENBEGR)

2023 2022
—Fg== =
HK$’000 HK$'000
TF#&xT T T
Revenue & 118 2,400
Loss for the year FABE (3,610) (5,464)
The Group’s share of loss RNEB EIHEE (1,444) (2,186)
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to OB 2 B S A R R GRS B S R
the carrying amount of interest in an associate recognised in the RN —HEE AR R REED
consolidated financial statements: R
2023 2022
—E-= =
HK$’000 HK$'000
T#&T FiE T
Net liabilities of the associate BENmBEFE (4,275) (6695)
Proportion of the Group’s ownership interests ZANCSJE TN % RNAEZ
in the associate FiT 75 8 # 2z tb 51 40% 40%
Share of net liabilities of the associate DMEHE LRI ZBESE (1,710) (266)
Add: the Group’s share of goodwill m:AEBEDhHEE 7,495 7,495
Adjustment for unrecognised loss of the i ARl AREREE
associate A 3,630 2,186
Less: impairment loss recognised B ERRBEER (9,415) (9,415)
Carrying amount of the Group’s interest REEREE QA
in an associate w2 REE = -
2023 2022
—EB-= =
HK$’000 HK$'000
T#&T T T
The unrecognised share of loss of an associate £ A 7k #& 52 7 15 B & A &l
for the year 2 BB 1,444 2,186
Cumulative unrecognised share of loss of an ZETRER D (LB E AT
associate ZE1E 3,630 2,186
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B SRR RE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HEZ T - =4 -A=+—HILFE

20. INVENTORIES 20. 78
2023 2022
—E-= —EF- =
HK$’000 HK$’'000
TiE&x TAT
Finished goods X & 16,816 634
Inventories are expected to be recovered within one year. FEEHAR —FRKE -
21. TRADE RECEIVABLES 21. FEUER X
2023 2022
—EgE=-= —E- =
HK$’000 HK$’000
TiE&x FAET
Trade receivables from contracts with customers & F & # & I BR =X 4,413 5,686
Less: allowance for credit losses B EEEERE (174) (293)
4,239 5,393

As at 1 April 2021, trade receivables from contracts with RZEZ—FHA—H BEFAHEK
customers (before allowance for credit losses) amounted to R (EEBERER) £8445575,000
V>

approximately HK$575,000. T ©

The Group’s trade receivables, which generally have credit terms BIBEBWEEH  NEEZERER—R
of a maximum 6 months pursuant to the relevant contracts, i"]ﬁ?ﬁﬁ'ﬁ/_\ﬂﬂZEffﬁﬁ o JE UK BR X
are recognised based on goods sold or services provided \ifmﬁﬁ’i?uﬁﬁ AW LRI RS
and carried at the original invoice amount, and an estimate %ﬁﬁlJﬁE A 7E A] BE S B 2 Bl [ IR/
of impairment of trade receivables is made and deducted JE U BR SORE I FT I%LA?DH o JEUL
when collection of the full amount is no longer probable. R AEEERER - BRERRZRE
Trade receivables are unsecured and interest-free. Details of %1& BRI 41 -

impairment assessment of trade receivables are set out in note

41.

China Brilliant Global Limited | Annual Report 2022/23



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B SRR RE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HEZ T - =4 -A=+—HILFE

21.

TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

As at 31 March 2022, trade receivables of approximately
HK$41,000 was due from a related company, which Mr. Zhang is
the director and shareholder of the related company.

None of trade receivables were past due as at 31 March 2023.

As at 31 March 2022, included in the Group’s trade receivables
balance (net of allowance for credit losses) are debtors with
aggregate carrying amounts of approximately HK$41,000 which
are past due more than 90 days at the end of the reporting
period and are not considered as credit-impaired due to good
track record of the debtors with the Group. The Group does not
hold any collateral over these balances.

An aging analysis of the Group’s trade receivables, net of
allowance for credit losses, based on earlier of the invoice date
or revenue recognition date is as follows:

21. EYER FX (@)

MR-ZT-——F=A=+—H  BREZD
41,0007 JT 4 e W — FE B B A m) 3R
REEAZBHARNESNER -

R-ZZEZ=F=A=+—H HEEK

R-ZBE-_—F=A=+—0  A&EE2
FEW BR R A ek (HIBRE BB BB H) 21
42 BE T {E /5 441,000 7T 2 JFE U BR 3 -
T 5 JE U BR 30 3R 25 B R 781 BIQ0 B LA |
BREAREBHR FEEM THEAE
BERE ARBEVERZSEHRTEE
AR o

AEERKERANGEEBERER
REZZEHHIWAERBHUURSE
ERE)ZRESITMT

2023 2022

—F-= T4

HK$’000 HK$’'000

TiE&x FET

Within 3 months =@EAR - 5,299
4 to 6 months mzE7<EA 4,223 54
7 to 12 months t=+=—@A 16 40
4,239 5,393

All trade receivables were denominated in RMB.

e RURFAARKEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A B SRR RE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HEZ T - =4 -A=+—HILFE

22. LOAN RECEIVABLES 22. ERER
2023 2022
—2_-= —T_——
HK$’000 HK$’000
Ti#&xT T T
Loans and advances from fintech business SRBIREBRER R EK
— Corporate loans and advances — REIER KRBT 49,480 13,482
Accrued interest B F & 379 75
49,859 13,557
Less: allowance for credit losses B EEEERE (659) (145)
Loans and advances, net ER KRB FEE 49,200 13,412
Loan receivables from lending business BEEBZERER 26,646 30,572
Less: allowance for credit losses B EEEERE (3,948) (1,979)
Loan receivables, net N E R FEE 22,698 28,593
71,898 42,005
Loans and advances from fintech business ERBEERERRER

All loans and advances from fintech business were corporate
customers and unsecured loans with borrowers’ provided both
personal and corporate guarantee. Loan and advances are
interest bearing at standard trade finance rate or Hong Kong
Interbank Offered Rate (“HIBOR”) over a spread of ranging from
5.0% to 11.0% per annum (2022: 7.5% to 11.5% per annum) as
appropriate. Loans and advances from fintech business have
lending term of 2 months to 1 year (2022: up to 2 months).
Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 41.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

i

B BRI EE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HEZ T - =4 -A=+—HILFE

22.

LOAN RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Loans and advances from fintech business (Continued)
Loans and advances from fintech business (before allowance
for credit losses) as at 31 March 2023 denominated in RMB are
approximately HK$12,127,000 (2022: nil).

None of the loans and advances from fintech business were
past due as at 31 March 2023 and 2022. Subsequent to the
end of the reporting period, all loans and advances from fintech
business were fully settled.

Loan receivables from lending business

As at 31 March 2023, loan receivables represent five loans
(2022: five) which include one unsecured personal loan (2022:
one) and four unsecured corporate loans (2022: four). The
loan receivables carry interest at fixed rate ranging from 5% to
8% (2022: 5% to 8%) per annum. The loan receivables have
lending term of 1 month to 1 year (2022: 1 month to 1 year).
The aggregate principal amount outstanding at the end of
the reporting period is approximately HK$25,855,000 (2022:
HK$29,592,000) and the carrying amounts shown above
includes interest receivables of approximately HK$791,000
(2022: HK$980,000). Details of impairment assessment are set
out in note 41.

None of loan receivables with the amounts were past due as
at 31 March 2023 and 2022. Subsequent to the end of the
reporting period, loan receivables from lending business with the
amounts of approximately HK$23,069,000 were settled.

The loan receivables (before allowance for credit losses)
outstanding as at 31 March 2023 denominated in US$
and Euro (“EUR”) are approximately HK$15,990,000 (2022:
HK$20,851,000) and nil (2022: HK$269,000).

22. ERER @

EHMBMEERERRER(E)

REZZEZ=F=A=+—H8 ' UARK
FTE RESBBEFBHER K BRK
(FIREEEEREER) 4 /12,127,000

T(ZEZ—F:F)-

K_v_—i&_g::ifﬂf+—
CHERESRBIEEBNERK
mt% o RI|EHIKRIE - %ﬁXE%ﬂ
MEESHERRBRCERLES -

BEEBRZEWER

R-ZZE-_=F=A=+—H8 ' ' EKREXRK
ERAEER(CZEZ_F :HH) B2
—IFEEREAAER(ZZEZF: —IH)
MNBEEERARTER(ZE = —F 1
T8) o EREFRIEE%E8% (T = —4F:
5% %£8%) K [E T FF K5 B o EWE K
ZEFRBAIEARIFE(ZE - —_F 1
BAZEIF) s RI|EHKR WAEEZ
K4 BEEH) 525,855,000 L (Z T ==
£ : 29,592,000 JT) + kit HEWE@%

J& W FI B 49791,0008 T (ZF = =
980,000/ B 71:) /)—X@ Pl:l: 1E D$ ‘ %@EA Bﬁ uf
41 e

%_7_*¢&_$::¢*H*+—
CESEC AR BIRER - BRIk

i%%& REEREBREWRE LD

23,069,000/8 JLE 48 °

RIE-_=F=A=+t—H UETK
BX 7T ([BRTT ) 5T E A R K (5 28 IR E 3R
(B = B B 18 B f5 A1) 49 /315,990,000
B (ZE = —4 : 20,851,000 ) K E
(ZF = =% : 269,000 JT) °
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23. PREPAYMENT, DEPOSITS AND OTHER

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HEZ T - =4 -A=+—HILFE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

23. FE{TFRIA - AT & % Hith B UK

RECEIVABLES 15
2023 2022
—E== T
HK$’000 HK$'000
TET T
Prepayment AN 9,126 4,793
Prepayment for acquisition of software 17 B 8L 1—'? B T8 5 508 211 -
Other tax receivables H A & IR AR 5K 1,976 =
Deposits and other receivables 71 I E b fE Y SR IE 592 1,702
11,905 6,495

Less: prepayment classified as non-current DR 3'5 BN EB D HY
portion 78 1‘1‘/ 15 (211) =
11,694 6,495

Prepayment mainly comprised of prepaid information technology BRNRIEEZREEMNEERMERESE R

services and financial services of approximately HK$5,644,000
(2022: HK$4,176,000) and prepaid inventories of approximately

HK$3,421,000 (2022: HK$176,000).

As at 31 March 2023, the Group’s deposits and other
receivables denominated in US$ and RMB is approximately
HK$92,000 (2022: nill) and HK$77,000 (2022: HK$1,181,000)

respectively.

Details of impairment assessment of deposits and other

receivables are set out in note 41.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A B SRR RE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HEZ T - =4 -A=+—HILFE

24. AMOUNT DUE FROM AN ASSOCIATE

Detail of amount due from an associate is as follows:

24. ER—HBEQAT ZMRE

FEW — R B & AR 2 SRR BT

Maximum
amount
outstanding
during the year 2023 2022
FRREE
EEME =—¥=-= -
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FiEx TiEx FET
Paganini Miliano (HK) Limited ~ Paganini Miliano (HK) Limited 8,858 8,858 8,236
Less: allowance for credit B EEEERE
losses (4,275) (2,066)
4,583 6,170

The amount due from an associate include loan to an associate
of approximately HK$7,462,000 (2022: HK$7,040,000) (before
allowance for credit losses) as at the year ended 31 March 2023
was non-trade nature, unsecured and interest bearing at 6%
per annum and repayable on demand. The remaining balances
are non-trade nature, unsecured, interest-free and repayable on
demand. Details of impairment assessment are set out in note
4.

BHE_Z-_=F=A=+—HIEE
FEUEE & RRI R IBRERE L ARE
it B X #97,462,0008 T (T = —
7,040,000/ T (N Bk (5 B B B E A& RT)
BIEBSHME - EEPI IR FH E6%
TEEREREEE - K TTRBEHAIE
BE5MEHE - KT - 28 BEREREE
2 o RMEF GBI T4 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B SRR RE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HEZ T - =4 -A=+—HILFE

25. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 25. RERWEZEEY

2023 2022
—E-= —_F-_=
HK$’000 HK$’'000
T#&T FiE T
Cash and cash equivalents ReERREEEY 45,089 92,144

Bank balances earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates, except for amounts of approximately
HK$37,224,000 (2022: HK$55,904,000) were interest-free
as at 31 March 2023. The bank balances are deposited with
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group’s cash and cash equivalents
denominated in US$, RMB, EUR and Kazakhstan Tenge (“‘KZT”)
are approximately HK$7,408,000 (2022: HK$32,359,000),
HK$10,871,000 (2022: HK$7,473,000), HK$71,000 (2022:
HK$4,000) and HK$37,000 (2022: HK$37,000) respectively.

RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies, however,
under the PRC Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB
for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign
exchange business.

For the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, the Group
performed impairment assessment on bank balances and
concluded that the probability of defaults of the counterparty
banks are insignificant, no allowance for ECL is provided for the
years.
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BITHEBBESARTERMNEEE
ZEBAEGFE  MRZE=_=F=A
== E%’]B?,Q%,OOO%TEE’U@%E%E
BN ZTEZ =4 : 55,904,000 7T) °
%ﬁ%ﬁﬁéﬁﬁﬁﬁzﬁé;&,ﬂsﬁiﬁéﬁT\E:i&aﬁﬂ
EEBRITZBIT -

R-ZE-=F=A=+—08 KEEB
EL AR BT MG E R IiE B
XMBEXDFENRESERBESEEY
2 Bl #) A&7,408,0008 T (Z T = — 4
32,359,0005% 7t) ~ 10,871,0005 7T (==
— —%F : 7,473,000/ 7T) * 71,0008 7T (=
= — —4F : 4,000 Jr) &37,0007%8 T (=
T~ —4F : 37,0007 7T) ©

ARBTAEHABRAEMESE  HR

BHRBEZINEE RGN - ARKE &

ERNEEERE AREREEEEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A B SRR RE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HEZ T - =4 -A=+—HILFE

26. TRADE PAYABLES

An aging analysis of the Group’s trade payables, based on the

26. EZBMAIRM

AEERBEZENEZIRAER K

invoice date is as follows: WA

2023 2022

—E=F —E- =
HK$’000 HK$'000
T#&T T T
Within 3 months =EAA = 10
Over 1 year BiE—F 4 -
4 10

The average credit periods granted by suppliers range from 30

to 180 days.

All trade payables were denominated in RMB.

27. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

HERE R T HF15E & BN F30E180
H e

EESRNETAAREEE -

27. HitEAREBER B RE

2023 2022

—EB-=HF T
HK$’000 HK$'000
TET FHT
Loan from a related company RE—HBEB AR CER 2,281 2,463
Other payables H A &5 5K I8 158 462
Receipt in advance TE U R IE 540 540
Amounts due to related companies FE A5 B Bk A Bl 3R IR 56 -
Accruals FEEtRIE 7,181 4,379
10,216 7,844
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
eI ERRMGE
For the year ended 31 March 2023 HEZ T - =4 -A=+—HILFE

27. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS (Continued)  27. E{th FE {4 FX 18 &% FE 51 FXIE (@)

Accruals mainly comprised of accrued interest expense of
promissory note which due to Mr. Zhang with the amounts of
approximately HK$4,285,000 (2022: HK$2,335,000), accrued
auditor’'s remuneration of HK$900,000 (2022: HK$900,000)
and accrued staff costs of approximately HK$660,000 (2022:
HK$494,000).

The loan from a related company was unsecured, interest-
free and repayable on demand. Mr. Zhang is the director
and shareholder of the related company. Loan from a related
company was considered as connected transaction but fully
exempted from shareholders’ approval, annual review and all
disclosure requirements under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing
Rules.

Amounts due to related companies were unsecured, interest-free
and repayable on demand.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group’s other payables and accruals
denominated in US$ and RMB are approximately HK$4,285,000
(2022: HK$2,617,000) and HK$2,255,000 (2022: HK$3,197,000)
respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A B SRR RE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HEZ T - =4 -A=+—HILFE

28. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

28. @A E

2023 2022
—2_-= —E——
HK$’000 HK$’000
Ti#&xT T T
Advance from customers BRI 18,700 2,495

As at 1 April 2021, contract liabilities amounted to approximately
HK$1,503,000.

Contract liabilities represented advance payments received from
customers for sales of goods pursuant to the respective sales
contracts before the control of the products are passed to the
customers.

The Group classifies these contract liabilities as current because
the Group expects these balances to be settled in its normal
operating cycle which is within 12 months after the end of the
reporting period.

As at 31 March 2023, contract liabilities of approximately
HK$109,000 (2022: HK$116,000) was advanced from a
related company as a deposit, which Mr. Zhang is the director
and shareholder of the related company. Contract liabilities
advanced from a related company was considered as connected
transaction but fully exempted from shareholders’ approval,
annual review and all disclosure requirements under Chapter 20
of the GEM Listing Rules.

All contract liabilities were denominated in RMB as at 31 March
2023 and 2022.

R—ZZE-_—FW™A—A8"
1,503,000 7T °

BHREYD

BHNARBRERERENEERE
$E%J§$HE§¢% BHRHEERmATPY
R FEA R0R o

AEEEZEANERHIEERD - B
RAAEBE RS SRR — R
S 40 25 (B 39 25 0 4 3R 112180 7 ) 14
fit o

R-ZZBE-_=F=F=+—H - £109,000
BIL(ZZ = — 4 :116,000/8 7T) Z & %)
BEAR—HEB AR %%iﬁ%
AR cEERBE - @A A
HrzeataEwRrEERS ﬁmﬁ
GEM_EMRAF20EEE2HE N 2 BT
RitfE  FEZMHARMERERT -

R —=FR_E-_—_F=ZA=+—
B AIEEHNEBEHUUAARKSE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B SRR RE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HEZ T - =4 -A=+—HILFE

29. DEPOSITS FROM CUSTOMERS 29. EFER

2023 2022
—EgE== —_F_=

HK$’000 HK$’000
T#&T FiE T

Demand deposits EHITER
— Corporate customers —RAIRP 14,022 3,309
— Individual customers —EARP 7,317 3,958
21,339 7,267

Time deposits EHFR
— Corporate customers —RAIRP 2,811 5
— Individual customers —RBAEF 7,260 -
10,071 5
Accrued interest FE T F & 129 -
31,539 7,272

Deposits from customers for demand deposits were interest
bearing at fixed interest rate of 0.01% (2022: 0.505% to 1.725%)
and time deposits were interest bearing at fixed interest rate
ranging from 2.5% to 5.2% (2022: 1.5%) and will be matured
ranging from 1 month to 12 months (2022: 1 month) from date of
placement.

As at 31 March 2023, deposits from customers with amounts
of approximately HK$13,034,000 (2022: HK$64,000) and
HK$73,000 (2022: nil) were denominated in RMB and EUR
respectively.

As at 31 March 2023, deposits from customers of approximately
HK$7,548,000 (2022: nil) and HK$708,000 (2022: nil) was
deposited by Mr. Zhang and Ms. Chung, the directors of the
Company, and senior management of the Company respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B SRR RE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HEZ T - =4 -A=+—HILFE

30. LEASE LIABILITIES 30. HE&E
2023 2022
—B-=HF =S
HK$’000 HK$’000
T#&T FAT
Within one year —FA 1,032 94
After one year but within two years —FREMFEA 65 -
1,097 94
Analysed for reporting purposes as: HEWMENITAT :
2023 2022
—EZ=H T
HK$’000 HK$’'000
TiEx TAT
Current liabilities mENBE 1,032 94
Non-current liabilities ERBEE 65 =
1,097 94
All lease liabilities were denominated in HKS$. FHEEBEHUNBILEE -
As at 31 March 2023, the effective incremental borrowing rate R-EBE-_=F=ZA=+—H BEEEE
was 7.91% (2022: 6.30%). HHEE791% (ZF = =4 :6.30%) °
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31. PROMISSORY NOTE

On 19 January 2021, the Company completed to issue a
promissory note to Mr. Zhang, a director and substantial
shareholder of the Company, at US$10,000,000 (equivalent
to HK$78,000,000). The promissory note was unsecured
interest-bearing at 2.5% per annum and payable on the maturity
date in arrears and repayable on the date of six months after 19
January 2021. The Company has the rights and also exercised
the option to extend the initial maturity date for two successive
periods of six months. The promissory note was matured on 18
July 2022.

On 18 July 2022, the Company completed to issue a new
promissory note to Mr. Zhang, at US$10,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$78,000,000) for repayment of the promissory note issued
on 19 January 2021. The promissory note is unsecured, interest
bearing at 2.5% per annum and payable on the maturity date
in arrears and repayable on the date of six months after 18 July
2022. The Company has the rights to extend the initial maturity
date for four successive periods of six months (the “Extension
Option”).
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1. R EE

RZTBE=Z—F—A+hHB ' ARRZK
MAAREER B ER L AEEITHE
~NZ¥ - £ % 410,000,0003% 7T (FHER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A B SRR RE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HEZ T - =4 -A=+—HILFE

31. PROMISSORY NOTE (Continued)

31. R EE @)

The Extension Option is not closely related to the host contract
and regarded as embedded derivatives in the host contract. The
Company designated the promissory note and the extension
option as a whole in accordance with HKFRS 9 and classified as
financial liabilities at FVTPL. As the Company has right to defer
the settlement of the promissory note up to 24 months from
the issue dates, the promissory note classified as non-current

EHEZREWIEE F S E T AHME LW
REBEEHHHRARNITELEA - XAF]
R AR & S B 75 3 5 2RI B0t B BS 45 °F
ENEBEREREEERSBARIZAT
BEFTABZENESREE - AREA
AARBEARNEEEERTEETHEE
ARE-TNER MR =F=

portion as at 31 March 2023. A=+—8 ANEESEAEREI
5 o
Promissory Promissory
note issued note issued
in 2022 in 2021
TEICERT T FBT
KR E R 9 A 2
HK$’000 HK$'000
TET T
Proceed from issue of promissory note BITANEBEAEHIE 78,000 78,000
Less: deemed capital contribution from W RIERREE
shareholder (25,465) (12,328)
52,535 65,672
HK$'000
T
As at 1 April 2021 R=ZZF=—_—FMA—H 70,421
Interest payables JE AT F) B (1,950)
Fair value changes (note 7) RNEEBEEEHF7) 7,476
As at 31 March 2022 and as at 1 April 2022 RZZEZZ_F=A=+—HK
—_E-__FWMA—H 75,947
Issue of new promissory note BITANEER 52,535
Repayment of promissory note BEANEE (78,000)
Interest payables FE T F) B (1,950)
Fair value changes (note 7) NEEBEEEHZ7) 9,617
As at 31 March 2023 MR-—E-_=F=H=+—H 58,149

The fair value of promissory note with the amount of
approximately HK$52,535,000 as at issue date (i.e. 18 July 2022)
and at the end of each reporting period have been arrived by
reference to the valuation performed by International Valuation
Limited (“IVL), an independent qualified external valuer. The
effective interest rate of the promissory note at the issue date is
20%.

RETHHE 22—+ A+/\H)
MEREHRANEENAFEELD
52,535,000/ JL Jh 1& 2 E L & BIEHN
B E AN B R AT A R A E (VL) # 1T
RIfHERE - RETHBANRERD
BB F = 520% °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A B SRR RE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &2 -& — =

FZA=+—HILFE

32. SHARE CAPITAL 32. g7
Number of
shares Amount
&3 8B &8
’000 HK$’000
T TER
Authorised: BE:
Ordinary Shares: Tk
As at 1 April 2021, as at 31 March 2022, RZE_—F@mA—RH "
as at 1 April 2022 and as at 31 March 2023 —E-—F=A=+—H"
“TFMA-HR
—Z-=#=fA=1+—H
- HK$0.10 each - BREE0I0E T 2,500,000 250,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTRAR:
As at 1 April 2021, as at 31 March 2022, as at R=—T=-—FMA—H-
1 April 2022 and as at 31 March 2023 —Eg-=—f=A=+-—-H -
—E--FWMA—-BR
—EZ=f=8A=+—H 1,457,239 145,724
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B SRR RE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HEZ T - =4 -A=+—HILFE

33. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES 33. BIREE

Pursuant to a resolution passed at annual general meeting of
the Company held on 10 September 2021, a new share option
scheme (the “2021 Scheme”) was adopted by the Company.

The previous share option scheme of the Company (the “2011
Scheme”) was expired on 9 August 2021, no further options
can be granted under the 2011 Scheme thereafter. However,
all outstanding share option granted under the 2011 Scheme
prior to the said expiry shall remain valid and exercisable in
accordance with the provisions of the 2011 Scheme.

The 2011 Scheme became effective for a period of 10 years
commencing on 10 August 2011. The 2021 Scheme became
effective for a period of 10 years commencing on 10 September
2021,

Eligible participants of the scheme include all directors and
employees of the Group, suppliers, customers, consultants who
provided services to the Group, shareholders of the subsidiaries
of the Group and joint venture partners. Under the scheme,
the directors may, at their sole discretion, grant to any eligible
participants options to subscribe for ordinary shares of the
Company at the highest of (i) the closing price of shares of the
Company on GEM as stated in the Exchange’s daily quotation
sheet on the date of the offer of grant; (ii) the average closing
price of the shares of the Company on GEM as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five trading days
immediately preceding the date of the offer of grant; and (iii) the
nominal value of the Company’s share. The offer of a grant of
options may be accepted within 21 days from the date of the
offer. A nominal consideration of HK$1 is payable on acceptance
of the grant of an option. The exercise period of the options
granted is determinable by the directors, which commences
after the date of offer with a certain vesting period and ends in
any event not later than 10 years from the respective date when
the share options are granted, subject to the provisions for early
termination thereof.

The total number of shares which may be allotted and issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under the scheme is
an amount equivalent to 10% of the shares of the Company in
issue as at the date of the 2011 AGM or 2021 AGM.

The maximum number of shares to be allotted and issued upon
the exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be
exercised under the scheme and any other share option schemes
of the Group must not in aggregate exceed 30% of the relevant
class of shares of the Company in issue from time to time.

BERARRR=ZZ=_—FNLAT+BET
ZBERBFASLEBBZIRER AR
AR -EFEREAE( T _—F
HEl -

ARBEAOBRESE (=T ——F
HEDER=ZZ=—FNANABER "
BHEAGRE ST ——FiE8#E—FK
BB RE o AT - R Ll ERATIR R —
T——FFFEIRH Z A ARTT B
BB IMAER XARE T ——F5t
B ZRXATRE »

—F——FHEE—F——F\A+E
LR BETE  —F =i a
B-F-—FAATRRER  BHT
E o

FEICAEREEREASBNAS
ENEE - HER BFE - AAEEIR
HIRG 2 BN «  AEEHB AR Z KR
DEEDCERH - BiEZTE > 50
2REBMERERTMNEERIEEZRTY
BEREHE - IR RBHE L BB AT
FHMERXR EMHIEGEMZ AA R KD
WHE: (\Z2EBHOREBHIARERS
BEt R Fr e B R EXR LTI AR RRRD
FEGEMZ W T B © K (iii) &R &) % 10
HAEZERUARSEAE)REARR
ZEB o BARLEBREZL 2 ER
AEHEBRESF -+ —HBR - ERZE
ERER AN ZBAREIET - AT
BHBREZITHEHARMAESETE - I
NEBHNBHERG TEETHEEY
REAMBR TREBEANR HEBREZ
EZEEBESRA T FER 0 AR
B Z AR SCFTIR IR o

RITERBZT B R L 2 A BRE
RAIACE R BT 2D A2 H2BAM
EFRBE_T——FRREFASH -
T -FRRBEFAERITAYPZIAR
BIE BTN 210% °

RITERE X AT 8 AR B 2 [ E A
BB RT &I PR B R AN RAT 68 2 P i
REITE 2 BER & TRCE RBITZ
Bihmxe8E eI SEBTREHE
T2 ARE A RIE R B D 230% °
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33. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (Continued)

The number of shares in respect of which options may be
granted to any individual in any 12-month period is not permitted
to exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any point
in time, without prior approval from the Company’s shareholders.
Options granted to substantial shareholders or independent non-
executive directors in excess of 0.1% of the Company’s share
capital and with an aggregate value in excess of HK$5 million
must be approved in advance by the Company’s shareholders.
The scheme does not provide for any minimum period for
holding of options or any performance target before exercise of
options.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or
to vote at shareholders’” meetings.

No share option was granted under the 2021 Scheme.
The following table discloses movements of the Company’s

share options held by directors, employees and consultants
during the year:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B SRR RE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HEZ T - =4 -A=+—HILFE

33. BRREE (@

PEAR -+ {E BB AT R T EfAE A 2
BEREAEZ MBI - EREARRTF
BRERELI AR - T EBARNRARE
ARREETRNZ1% - BRTEEMR
KBIUIFRTEFTCBREHBEALR
BIRAZ01% N BEEBSESBTT - &
AEABANRRIRRYLE - ZFH B &
MEE AR B BREZ REHRHIATE
BRER ZEMRRALE -

BT A ETRHE AR SRR
RRELEBEZEN -

BERE T Fi 8 RHBARE -

TEREEES  BRERERRFAME
ARRIEREZZE:

Number of share options

BREYE
Exercise price Outstanding Granted Exercised Lapsed Outstanding
per share as at during during during as at
Share option type (HK$) 1 April 2022 the year the year the year 31 March 2023
R-B-_F R-ZBZ=
BRTEE MA—H =HA=+-H
BREER (&) el R AT REAREH RERTTE RERXH fel K AT 1
Options granted on
27 June 2018 under
2011 Scheme
RZZ—\EFRA=++H
BIE-T——F5t 8l
RHRERE 0.59 71,860,000 - - - 71,860,000
Options granted on
18 December 2018
under 2011 Scheme
RZZ-\F+=A+N\AB
BIE-T——F5t 8l
R ERE 0.33 35,000,000 - - - 35,000,000
106,860,000 - - - 106,860,000
Exercisable at the end of
the reporting period
REEERA T4 105,820,000
Weighted average
exercise price (HK$)
mEFTHEECET) 0.50 = = = 0.50
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 HEZ T - =4 -A=+—HILFE

33. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (Continued) 33. Bz 2 ()
Number of share options
BREHE
Exercise price Outstanding Granted Exercised Lapsed Outstanding
per share as at during during during as at
Share option type (HKS) 1 April 2021 the year the year the year 31 March 2022
RZE-—&F NZE=-—=
BRITRE MA—A =A=t+—H
BRERR (#7T) W RIT R RERK L RERTTE RERKR W AT

Options granted on
27 June 2018 under
2011 Scheme
R-E—N\EXA-t+tH
BiE-T——F:tE
Esuliof4: 0.59 74,210,000 = = (2,350,000) 71,860,000
Options granted on
18 December 2018
under 2011 Scheme
R-ZE-NE+-A+N\H
BiE-T——F:tE
psuilzof4i 0.33 35,200,000 = = (200,000) 35,000,000

109,410,000 = = (2,550,000) 106,860,000

Exercisable at the end of
the reporting period
RBERARA I 104,780,000

Weighted average
exercise price (HKY)
MEFHTREET) 0.51 - - 057 050
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B SRR RE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HEZ T - =4 -A=+—HILFE

33. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (Continued)

(@)

On 27 June 2018, the Group granted an aggregate number
of 78,600,000 shares to certain eligible participants who
are directors, employees and consultants of the Group.
The holders are entitled to exercise share option at
HK$0.59 per share.

41,400,000 options granted to the executive directors were
vested in full on 27 June 2018 and are exercisable during
the period from 27 June 2019 to 27 June 2028 (both dates
inclusive).

1,200,000 options granted to the non-executive director
and the independent non-executive directors were vested
in full on 27 June 2018 and are exercisable during the
period from 27 June 2019 to 27 June 2028 (both dates
inclusive). The remaining 36,000,000 will be vested in
tranches from 27 June 2018 onwards and are exercisable
during the period from 27 June 2019 to 27 June 2028
(both dates inclusive). In addition to the service condition,
there are vesting conditions related to achievement of
certain performance targets as set out in the respective
offer letters.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Company
entered into agreement with certain consultants to modify
the vesting conditions to further extend 9 months for them
to achieve of performance targets. The modified vesting
conditions was achieved during the year ended 31 March
2022 and share-based payment expenses of HK$554,000
was recognised as a result of performance targets were
achieved by the consultants.
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33. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (Continued)

(b)

On 18 December 2018, the Group granted an aggregate
number of 35,500,000 shares to certain eligible
participants who are directors and consultants of the
Group. The holders are entitled to exercise share option at
HK$0.33 per share.

800,000 options granted to the non-executive director
and the independent non-executive directors were vested
in full on 18 December 2018 and are exercisable during
the period from 18 December 2019 to 18 December 2028
(both dates inclusive).

The remaining 34,700,000 will be vested in tranches from
18 December 2018 onwards and are exercisable during
the period from 18 December 2019 to 18 December 2028
(both dates inclusive). In addition to the service condition,
there are vesting conditions related to achievement of
certain performance targets as set out in the respective
offer letters.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Company
entered into agreement with certain consultants to modify
the vesting conditions to further extend 9 months for them
to achieve of certain performance targets. The modified
vesting conditions was achieved during the year ended
31 March 2022 and share-based payment expenses of
HK$2,033,000 was recognised as a result of performance
targets were achieved by the consultants.

Details of the share option to directors, employees and
consultants are set out in the “Report of the Directors”.

As at 31 March 2023, the Company’s outstanding share options
of 106,860,000 options (2022: 106,860,000) under the 2011
Scheme, representing approximately 7.51% (2022: 7.51%) in the
Company’s shares in issue as at that date.

33.

BIRESE ()

(b)

£
EWRE

Rn=

R=ZZ—NFE+=—A+/\B &%
BrRsTeaEK2EE(BAEE
EEMEM) R LA 35,500,000
MBI - HH ANIZER0.338
TCATfE BB AR o

BYIERITEERBYIENITES
2800,000f7 fE IR IER =T —\F
+—A+N\BEERHEB - R
E—NEF+_AF+NBZEZZT_N
FHZA+tNAILLHE(BEER
M HE)R] FITfE o

#2T34,700,000175 & L #E #E A =
—N\F+= ﬂﬂ\El;t“%ﬁtt?"v
THR=_ZF-—NF+=-_A+\BE=
E-N\F+-_A+NHI-EE (B
BEMAB)A FITE o ARSI
SN BREIERE TEREENEFRB
BHERSEL R -

HE_E_-__F=HA=1+—HItF
ER K AIEE TRERBEI M HE
LMERT BB - E— P ERIE
HMLW S TEEBR - K485
FBKHERNBEE_E-_F=A
—t+t—BLtFEERBEARBERE
ERRIEEE  WHERUKRNDA
E 2 4 7B 2,033,000 7T °

1@5\&@ R EFBERNE

T_=Ff=ZA=+—HB AR

$ETF_f**¢a+¥UE’Jr‘15E ﬂE'EE%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B SRR RE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HEZ T - =4 -A=+—HILFE

33. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (Continued) 33. ARG E (@)
These fair values were calculated using the binomial model. The ZEANTFEEFEAZBENGE - HiZ
inputs into the model were as follows: B 2 ABBRNAT
31 December 18 December 27 June
2021 2018 2018
—T-—F —ZE—)N\F —EN\F

+—A=+—H8H +=-—A+/\H ~HAZ-++tH

Share price at grant date (HK$) A& H BEAMIREGET) N/A 0.32 0.56
Exercise price (HK$) TEECET) 0.33-0.59 0.33 0.59
Expected volatility (%) T8 AR 18 (%) 76.88 75.20 75.57
Expected life (years) ?ﬁ HH B E () 6.49 10 10
Risk-free rate (%) % ) 2 (%) 1.227 2.106 2.297

Expected dividend yield (%) J’E ,Hﬂ fix B 2= (%) - - -

Expected volatility was determined by using the historical AR VA AR RREBREFE 2
volatility of the Company’s share price over the previous FEEREmMERT - RARMATEHE K
years. The expected life used in the model has been adjusted, HNDERBEE 2 xEME - St
based on management’s best estimate, for the effects of EMTERVNRTAZEERRNTZE
non-transferability, exercise restrictions and behavioural T A o

considerations.

The binomial model has been used to estimate the fair value of THEBEATDANUNGEEREZATE
the options. The variables and assumptions used in computing B sTEEREATEBERMAZEK
the fair value of the share options are based on the directors’ BREDENRESZZ EMET - BlREZ
best estimate. The value of an option varies with different BETES TEEB KK 2R Em e
variables of certain subjective assumptions. 1k o

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the share-based payment BE—_ZT-_—F#=-A=1+—HIt&FEE
expenses recognised in respect of share options granted to AHR=ZZE-—N\FRAAZTEARZE
consultants on 27 June 2018 and 18 December 2018 are —N\F+=A+/\BRIEEME L ERE -
approximately HK$554,000 and HK$2,033,000 respectively. FHRZEAHF L 2 BRERER Z AR

AR 2 HE 5 B4 A554,000
7 7T 122,033,000/ JT ©
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eI ERRMGE
For the year ended 31 March 2023 HEZ T - =4 -A=+—HILFE

34. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 34. AP HBRRARREMB

RESERVE OF THE COMPANY

2023 2022
=== —T_——
HK$’000 HK$’000
FiEx TATT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS EREEE
Property, plant and equipment Y% BENEE 250 980
Right-of-use assets ERAEEE 999 170
Interests in subsidiaries A NEENGI - E 2,587 2,587
Amounts due from subsidiaries JFE W BB A R) 2 R IB 85 85
Total non-current assets ERBEELTE 3,921 3,822
CURRENT ASSETS mEEE
Prepayment, deposits and other receivables FENFIE - FTE Xk
H {th fE U 5K IR 569 591
Amount due from an associate JE Wy — i Bt = A B 2 FROB 531 618
Cash and cash equivalents ReRREEED 1,500 2,260
Total current assets mEBEEHE 2,600 3,469
CURRENT LIABILITIES mENBE
Other payables and accruals H A B FRIE K B T RE 5,250 3,307
Promissory note AN EE - 75,947
Lease liabilities HEBE 1,032 94
Total current liabilities mEAELERE 6,282 79,348
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES mENBERE (3,682) (75,879
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EEEBERREAE
LIABILITIES 239 (72,057)
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES EREEE
Amounts due to subsidiaries & 1~ B B A B 2 FXIE 3,776 3,795
Promissory note AN EE 58,149 -
Lease liabilities HEBE 65 =
Total non-current liabilities ERBAEETE 61,990 3,795
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A B SRR RE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HEZ T - =4 -A=+—HILFE

34. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 34. AR RBREE @)

RESERVE OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

2023 2022
—EBC-=F —E-—
HK$’000 HK$’000
TExT FAET
NET LIABILITIES BERHE (61,751) (75,852)
EQUITY s

Share capital &N 145,724 145,724
Reserves & (207,475) (221,576)
TOTAL CAPITAL DEFICIENCIES BEAREBMEEE (61,751) (75,852)

Signed on its behalf by: HATATREESSRZ:

Mr. Zhang Chunhua Ms. Chung, Elizabeth Ching Yee
REELRLE EFELL
Chairman Director
FE BF
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A B SRR RE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HEZ T - =4 -A=+—HILFE

34. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVE OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

34. AT BEARR TR E@E

Movements of the Company’s reserve ARRREZEH
Share Share Capital
premium option  contribution Accumulated
account reserve reserve losses Tota
RGpEER ERERE BRIARE ZitEE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TEL TAT TAT TEL
As at 1 April 2021 RZZZ-FmA—A 523,511 30,232 12,308 (701,660) (135,589)
Loss and total comprehensiveloss ~ ERBERZEFBLEE
for the year - - - (88,574) (88,574)
Recognition of equity settled share-  FEFA A & & E LA B 7 A
based payment ERNEIR - 2,587 - - 2,587
Lapsed of share options BRERN - (355) - 355 -
As at 31 March 2022 and WZE-—#=f=+-Hk
as at 1 April 2022 “Z-_&#NA-H 523,511 32,464 12,328 (789,879) (221,576)
Loss and total comprehensiveloss ~~ ERBERZEFBLEE
for the year - - - (11,364) (11,364)
Deemed capital contribution from issue  # fE& T AN Z 558
of promissory note - - 25,465 - 25,465
As at 31 March 2023 R=FZ=£=A=+-H 523,511 32,464 37,793 (801,243) (207,475)
Note: B &t -

As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, in the opinion of the directors, the Company
had no reserves available for distribution to shareholders.

RZZE—_=FFK-_T-_—F=fF=+—H E=F
RERNARWEEETDIRTRE -
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35. TRANSACTION WITH NON-CONTROLLING

INTERESTS
For the year ended 31 March 2023

On 30 June 2022, the Group entered into a share swap with
non-controlling interests in which the Group agreed to allot
4.63% equity interests of Brillink Holdings Limited (“Brillink
Holdings”) by exchanging 5% equity interests of Brillink Fintech
Limited (“Brillink Fintech”) held by same non-controlling interests.

The fair values of the consideration paid by the Group for the
share swap were determined by reference to the valuation
performed by IVL, an independent qualified external valuer
engaged by the management of the Group. IVL, with the
assistance of the management of the Group, established the
appropriate valuation technique and inputs to be applied to
the valuation model. The fair value of was valued by using
discounted cash flow method under the income approach. The
inputs to the model were taken from observable markets where
possible, but where this was not feasible, the determination of
the inputs to be used in the valuation methodology involved
estimation uncertainty. Reasonably possible changes in
assumptions and estimates used in arriving at these inputs
could significantly affect the reported fair values of these
considerations received and paid by the Group. The Group
classifies the fair value measurement of these considerations,
amounting to approximately HK$19,522,000 for 4.63% equity
interests of Brilink Holdings and HK$18,751,000 for 5% equity
interests of Brillink Fintech, as level 3 of fair value hierarchy.

As a result of completion of share swap, the Group’s
shareholding in Brillink Holdings decreased from 69.9%
to 66.7% while the Group’s shareholding in Birillink Fintech
increased from 66.4% to 66.7%. As a result of share swap,
the Group recognised a decrease in non-controlling interests
of approximately HK$8,099,000 and a increase in equity
attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
HK$8,099,000.

For the year ended 31 March 2022

On 26 October 2021, an independent third party completed to
subscribe 2.1% equity interest in Brilink Holdings amounting to
US$4,500,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$35,100,000).
As a result of the subscription, the Group’s shareholding in
Brillink Holdings will be decreased from 72% to 69.9%. The
Group recognised an increase in non-controlling interests
of approximately HK$35,461,000 and a decrease in equity
attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
HK$361,000.
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36. PARTICULAR OF SUBSIDIARIES

General information of subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 March 2023
and 2022 are as follows:

36. fIBATIH1E

MEQARAZ—REH

KRB —_=F R _E-_—_F=A=+—

B AARIMBARZFBMT:

Nominal value
of issued Percentage of ownership
Place/country of ordinary share/ interests and
incorporation/ registered voting rights attributable
Name registration and operations capital to the Company Principal activities
MR/ ERR BRTEER/ _ALFEE
g# EEEX/HE AMEXAZEE  FAEEEZREFEEAL IERE
2023 2022
k- S-S —E--
Lighting Storm Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands US$50,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
EBRAES 50,000% T REER
Mastery Jewellery Co. Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
FERERRAA Bk 10,0007 T RERR
FEYMEA(MIERAR  PRC HK$30,000,000 100% 100%  The design, research and development,
wholesale and retail of gold, jewellery
and related ancillary business
Gl 30,000,000/ 7 &6 KEEHOR  HE BT
ZERRBRERH
(CBG Finance Limited Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 100% 100%  Money lending
RERRIBERLA g 1,000,007 &R
Hong Kong Milion Group Limited Hong Kong HKS1 100% 100%  Investment holding
RE(PE)ARAA Bk BT RERER
Silver Venture International Limited ~ Hong Kong HKS1 100% 100%  Investment holding
NEERERA Bk 1B REER
CBG Financial Services Group British Virgin Islands US$50,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
Limited
REERCRREEEERAT RERKEE 50,000% 7T REZR
Brilink Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands US$5,000,000 66.7% 69.9%  Investment holding
BRERERAR RERAES 5,000,000% T REZR
Brillink Fintech Limited Hong Kong HK$19,750,004 66.7% 66.4%  Investment holding
BRERMRARRA B 19,750,004 RERR
Brilink Bank Corporation Limited Kazakhstan US$5,000,000 66.7% 66.4%  Operation of digital bank
REREA 5,000,000% 72 BeFin
PERE RN ERAR PRC HK$10,000,000 66.7% 66.4%  Information transmission, software
and information technology service
and information system software
development
EF 10,000000% 7T FREH RHNEERHREREEZ
REERE

Registered as a wholly-foreign-owned enterprises under the PRC Law.

: REFEDARZEM I EBERE -
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36. PARTICULAR OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

General information of subsidiaries (Continued)

Except for Lighting Storm Holdings Limited and CBG Financial
Services Group Limited, all other subsidiaries are indirectly held
by the Company.

None of the subsidiaries had debt securities outstanding at the
end of the reporting period or at any time during the year.

The subsidiaries in PRC are private companies with limited
liabilities.

Brillink Holdings share aware scheme

On 2 December 2020, Brillink Holdings Limited, a subsidiary
of the Company, adopted a Share Award Scheme (the “BHL
Share Award Scheme”). The principal objectives of the BHL
Share Award Scheme are (i) to recognise the contributions
by employees and to provide them with incentives in order to
retain them for the continual operation and development of the
Fintech segment; and (i) to attract suitable personnel for further
development of Fintech segment.

On 30 September 2022, the board approved to grant an
aggregate number of 180 shares under the BHL Share Award
Scheme to certain employees. The fair value of the 180 shares
awarded on the grant date was valued at HK$21,761 each share.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the related fair value of
the share award of approximately HK$521,000 (2022: nil) was
recognised as employee benefit expenses.
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36. PARTICULAR OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 36.

General information of subsidiaries (Continued)

The following table shows financial information of Brillink
Holdings and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “Brillink
Group”) that has non-controlling interests material to the
Group. The proportion of ownership and voting rights held by
non-controlling interests are 33.93% (2022: 30.1%) as at 31
March 2023. The summarised financial information represents
amounts before inter-company eliminations.

B /B 2 Bl 3% 18 (&)

MEBARZ—RER (&)

TR ANEEEEEANIEERE
mMEBREZER R EWB AR (HREIE R
EB MUK EE - RZE_=ZF=A8
=+—8  FEERESERRNE#E
R ERELL B A33.93% (ZF ==
30.1%) ° B 7= B E R K A5 K 8
AR £ 58 °

2023 2022
—F=-= -z

HK$’000 HK$’000

FiEx TATT

Current assets mENE E 94,087 95,288

Non-current assets ERENE E 13,159 14,776

Current liabilities mBERE 95,402 67,188
Equity attributable to owners of the PN/NGIEZ RN 2y

Company (18,936) (6,033)

Non-controlling interests of Brilink Group %% B &= [& £ JF 4% IS & 30,780 48,909
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36. PARTICULAR OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 36. MiB B8 (@)

General information of subsidiaries (Continued)

MEQRZ—REN(E)

2023 2022
—E-= —_F-—
HK$’0(£) HK$'000
TET FET
Revenue Y & 2,290 489
Expenses > (33,971) (27,973)
Loss for the year FREE (31,681) (27,484)
Loss attributable to owners of the RARHEBAEILERE
Company (21,087) (18,652)
Loss attributable to the non- BRAEEIEIE R R LR B
controlling interests of Brillink
Group (10,594) (8,832)
Loss for the year FANEE (31,681) (27,484)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) ApElERE AEEEMbEAKES
attributable to owners of the (E1#8)
Company 86 (25)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) SR
attributable to the non-controlling e EMm 2w/ (EE)
interests of Brillink Group 43 (11)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) FREMEmKZE(EE)
for the year 129 (36)
Total comprehensive loss attributable 22 A1 #E A A FE (5 & HE &5 18 42 58
to owners of the Company (21,001) (18,677)
Total comprehensive loss attributable %5 BA £ B JE 128 i # 25
to the non-controlling interests of B2 EBERSE
Brillink Group (10,551) (8,843)
Total comprehensive loss for the year — F AN 2 [H & 18 858 (31,552) (27,520)
Dividends paid to non-controlling M %5 BA S [ SE 12 Ik i
interests of Brillink Group XA EY AR B — —
Net cash used in operating activities ~ &L XA 2R S FHE (21,857) (34,355)
Net cash used in investing activities WEEBAZE &35 (1,818) (11,374)
Net cash (used in)/generated from BEXESRE F5E
financing activities (115) 56,445
Net cash (outflow)/inflow Be (R, WA FHE (23,790) 10,716
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37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(@)

37. BHEALTRS

In addition to those related party transactions and (a)
balances disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial
statements, the Group had the following transactions with
its related parties during the year:

BRiERAMBRREMEIBREZ
SZERRBEANLRGRERIN K
SERNAFEERAGHEAL
ETATRS

2023 2022
=2== B
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FE T
Interest on promissory note payable ERNEEAMNEERE
to a director 1,950 1,950
Trading of gold and jewellery products to [ & 5 # A I% 2 #9 BE Bt A 7
related companies which the director EEmsNMKEEM
has equity interests 442 139
Commission income from related KE—EESHRRE A
companies which the director has /NG N
equity interests 429 209
Other administrative expenses paid to a & 13 2 25 5 A #£ 25 HY [ Bt
related company which the director NAIMEMITHRAX
has equity interest 95 —
Interest expense from fintech business X FARAIEEN T F
paid to the directors of the Company B B A E R X 52 -
Interest expense from fintech business S F & HE BN 4 &
paid to senior management [EEFES - TNN T 15 =
Royalty fee to an associate m— B E QRS H
Bt EE R - 497
Loan interest income from an associate B — 8 & AR 2
B RCH B A 422 401

The above transaction are considered as continuing

connected transaction but fully exempted from
shareholders’ approval, annual review and all disclosure
requirements under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

MR ZHEREFEBERS - 2
ﬁéfzi %L—rGEMJ:miE@U
20E I8 FHRR R B /& - FEEH
NETBEBERTE -
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37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(b)

Details of compensation of key management personnel
of the Group are included in notes 11 and 12 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The remuneration of the directors and key management
personnel is determined by the remuneration committee
having regard to the performance of individuals and market
trends.

Transactions with the directors:

On 19 January 2021, the Company completed to issue a
promissory note to Mr. Zhang, a director and substantial
shareholder of the Company, at US$10,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$78,000,000). The promissory note
was unsecured, interest-bearing at 2.5% per annum and
payable on the maturity date in arrears and repayable on
the date of six months after 19 January 2021 (the “Initial
Maturity Date”). The Company has the rights to extend
the Initial Maturity Date for two successive period of six
months. Issuance of promissory note was considered
as connected transaction but fully exempted from
shareholders’ approval, annual review and all disclosure
requirements under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

On 18 July 2022, the Company completed to issue a new
promissory note to Mr. Zhang Chunhua, at US$10,000,000
(equivalent to HK$78,000,000) for repayment of the
promissory note issued on 19 January 2021. The
promissory note was unsecured interest bearing at 2.5%
per annum and payable on the maturity date in arrears and
repayable on the date of six months after 18 July 2022.
The Company has the rights to extend the initial maturity
date for four successive period of six months. Issuance of
promissory note was considered as connected transaction
but fully exempted from shareholders’ approval, annual
review and all disclosure requirements under Chapter 20 of
the GEM Listing Rules.

Details of balances with related parties at the end of the
reporting period are set out in notes 21, 27, 28, 29 and 31
to the consolidated financial statements respectively.
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38. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS 38. EXBEXRS

The Group entered into the following major non-cash investing
activities which are not reflected in the consolidated statement of
cash flows:

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group entered
into a new lease agreement for the use of office. On the lease
commencement, the Group recognised right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities of HK$1,922,000 and HK$1,922,000 respectively.

On 18 July 2022, the Company completed to issue a new
promissory note to Mr. Zhang, at US$10,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$78,000,000) for repayment of the promissory note issued on
19 January 2021.

On 30 June 2022, the Group had completed a share swap of
the shares of subsidiaries. The Group had allotted 4.63% share
of Brillink Holdings to non-controlling interests for exchanging
5% share of Brillink Fintech held by the same non-controlling
interests.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group’s acquired
certain intangible assets settled by the prepayment of
approximately HK$4,670,000 which prepaid during the year
ended 31 March 2021.

AEBHRBTUTEZENERGIREE
% ZEFXEBAREHZEBREERERPR
At :

REBEE_ZE_=F=-A=1+—HILFE"
NEBRERPAEZI L HFHER
o NAABGE AEBEDHRIER
FRAEEENMEEAE1,922,0008 T &
1,922,0005% JT ©

RZZE-_—_F+A+NA\B ' Ax2a MK
10,000,000 7T (#8& 7478,000,000/% 7T )
MSRAEAZITHANER  MEERZ
T-—F—A+NBETZENZE -

RZEB__FXA=+H XxKEE=
P B R R IRy AR - AREBE AIE
7% PR M 55 i 35 4.63% 1Y B BAE AR AR 19
IR E — R RS AR ANERAS
AR R EY5% A

BHE_ T - _—_F#=A=1+—HItFE
AEBURBHNETEFREENEEZE=Z
——FZA=t+—HULEFEBNHNEN
FXIA 494,670,000/ TLAEE o
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 39. EHEA S22 THE
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial RMEHR SESITEZREEBER
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: ™
Financial assets TMEE
2023 2022
—E-= ==
HK$’000 HK$’000
T#&T FiE T
Amortised cost: BEEH AR A
— Loan receivables - BB R 71,898 42,005
— Trade receivables - FEUBR K 4,239 5,393
— Deposits and other receivables - 7] % K E b jE K IE 592 1,702
— Amount due from an associate - Bl — B2 AR 2 FIA 4,583 6,170
— Cash and cash equivalents -RekREeEED 45,089 92,144
126,401 147,414
Financial liabilities eRasE
2023 2022
—2-= —E-—F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FTER FAT
Financial liabilities at FVTPL BERTEEAEGZ2EMEE
— Promissory note - A E& 58,149 75,947
Amortised cost: B A :
— Trade payables - B IR ERR 4 10
— Other payables and accruals - EA eI 3B R AT IA 8,912 6,530
— Deposits from customers -BEPEX 31,539 7,272
98,604 89,759
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40. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 40. €M T HZ T EE

Some of the Group’s financial instruments are measured at fair
value for financial reporting purposes.

In estimating the fair value, the Group uses market-observable
data to the extent it is available. For instruments with significants
unobservable input under level 3 of fair value hierarchy, the
Group engages third party qualified valuers to perform the
valuation. The management works closely with the qualified
external valuers to establish the appropriate valuation techniques
and inputs to the model. The management reports the findings
to the directors at the end of each reporting period to explain the
cause of fluctuations in the fair value.

Fair value of the Group’s financial liabilities that are
measured at fair value on a recurring basis

Some of the Group’s financial liabilities are measured at fair value
at the end of each reporting period. The following table gives
information about how the fair values of these financial liabilities
are determined (in particular, the valuation technique(s) and
inputs used).

REBEBTE  AKEBHEMIA
HERATEEHE -

B AT EER  AXEREFEATS
ABEEYE HEATEEERE=
EBTEARNAEZGASENTE K
SRS RREERE=AHEMETH
B BREERZEEEINEHERMER
SE MUBEHERMEZERXN 26
AE - EREREHRERRAEFER
AMER  UBREBEATEERES 2R
.

AEBEREEERATFHENE
NEMAENQFEE
AEBETSREENREREHRERA
FEERE - TREIA R IAEE %
FeRmAaBATEE®NRMAMGE
itk AB)WEH o

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F—E 2l - | F=E Eat
HK$’000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000
TABT FAB T FA T FAT
Fair value hierarchy R-—ZE_=F
as at 31 March 2023 =A=+—8H1
ATEEEER
Financial liabilities at FVTPL ERAFEERA
EnlENemasE
— Promissory note - B EE = = 58,149 58,149
Fair value hierarchy A =S =
as at 31 March 2022 =A=+—HH®
NEEBEER
Financial liabilities at FVTPL ERAFEERA
EnENemasE
— Promissory note - BN EE - = 75,947 75,947
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40. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

Fair value of the Group’s financial liabilities that are
measured at fair value on a recurring basis (Continued)
The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and out of fair
value hierarchy levels at the end of the date of the events or
change in circumstances that caused the transfer.

During the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, there were no

transfers between level 1 and level 2, or transfers into or out of
level 3.

Information about level 3 fair value measurements

40. M T HE 22T EE®Em

AEBEEEEEEQAFEHERE
NEMAENQIFEEGER
AEBBRRRERANERE R 24
HEREHHBZ AERENRFEE
BREREEE -

BE_ T —Fh T - —F=ZF=+—
BItFE F—EBRF_EBZBLRAE
HE MNEEEAREHEZE -

EHE=EATHEHENEN

Significant Relation of significant
Valuation unobservable unobservable
techniques input inputs to fair value

EXTUHEBRAE
fEE K EXTAERBAEL HERATEENEEZ
Promissory note EINES Synthetic method Yield to maturity rate of Increase yield to maturity rate,

BRE 21.73% (2022: 13.813%) decrease the fair value

) #9555 %21.73% ReIHkEE  BEATE

The reconciliation of fair value measurement of promissory note
is set out in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements.

Fair value change on promissory note is included in “other gains
and losses, net”.

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities carried at
other than fair value

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and
financial liabilities carried at amortised cost were not materially
different from their fair values as at 31 March 2023 and 2022.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 HEZ T - =4 -A=+—HILFE

4.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The major financial instruments of the Group included loan
receivables, trade receivables, deposits and other receivables
(excluded other tax receivables), amount due from an associate,
cash and cash equivalents, trade payables, other payables and
accruals (exclude accrued staff costs, other tax payables and
receipt in advance), deposits from customers and promissory
note. Details of the financial instruments for the Group are
disclosed in respective notes to the consolidated financial
statements.

The principal risk management objective of the Group is to
manage the risks associated to the unpredictability of financial
markets in a prudent manner. They are measured by degree
of such risks and their effects to the financial performance and
financial positions of the Group.

It is, and has been, throughout the year under review, the
Group’s policy that no trading in financial instruments shall be
undertaken. The management seeks to minimise the adverse
effects of such risks to the Group by closely monitoring individual
exposure.

The main risks arising from the financial instruments are credit
risk and impairment assessment, liquidity risk, interest rate
risk and foreign currency risk. The management reviews and
agrees policies for managing each of these risks and they
are summarised below. No changes were made in the risk
management objectives, policies, processes and the methods
used to measure the risks during each of the years ended 31
March 2023 and 2022.

(@) Credit risk and impairment assessment
The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to financial
assets at amortised cost (including loan receivables, trade
receivables, deposits and other receivables, amount due
from an associate and bank balances) as at 31 March
2023 and 2022.

As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, the maximum exposure
to credit risk of the Group which will cause a financial loss
to the Group due to failure to discharge an obligation by
the counterparties is arising from the carrying amount of
the respective recognised financial assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

4.

HEEABEERRERBR

AEBEZFZeRTIABDERKENR
FEU RN ~ 7T & I H Al WA (N 8
EEMBWHER) - Bl — R E QR
Z2HE BekReFEY BEZEN
FRA - Bt AR R BT RIE(RE
KRB TR « Bt A B3k R FE UK
RE) BEFEREANERER - A&HE
TR TANFBERGS PR M
AR

AEEzIERBEEERAREER
By mmis Al FRANE AR 2 B o 5%
R IA R R IEE R E AN B R
BRMBARZZETE -

REEREFE AKSEEETRE
TRTABEZHE - ERERNEBR
) B 5 E B [ 25 R 5k 5 R
REBZTNZE -

CRTAMEAZFERRAREER
% MORER L B E R - FIKE
B RINERR BEEFHLHES
T ERER R 2 BUR - BEE R
MR REBEE_Z_=ZFR_T_——
—“A=T—RHBLEFESF  BEREEE
= BOR - RIERRRGT =R A ES
@ o

(@ EERMRREEFM
R-ZB-_=FKR-_ZT-__%F=H
=+—8 FAEENEERREE
BB AT EC SREE (B
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A B SRR RE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HEZ T - =4 -A=+—HILFE

41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

(a) Credit risk and impairment assessment

(Continued)

In order to minimise the credit risk, the directors have
delegated a team responsible for determination of credit
limits and credit approvals. Other monitoring procedures
are in place to ensure that follow-up action is taken to

recover overdue debts.

The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment
comprises the following categories:

BHEREEARRBKR®E

(a) 1= & b K w5 14 (4)

RBERE

=&
I:l/\

- BREEERIR

%Efé%mﬁﬁ ﬂE%ﬁ REEH
% o AEBE OS] BB EE -
NRERFERRETSHREBHE

7 o

AEBEHNAEEEE

Ig/v\ l:l:l: i& l:l$ 13

BEATER:

Internal credit rating Description Trade receivables Other financial assets
ABEE TR B JE U5 R X HitteWMEE
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default and does  Lifetime ECL — (not credit- 12m ECL
not have any past-due amounts impaired)
igEN XEZEFNRNRRRE BV ERAMNAHNRE 2HEBEEER-KE T-HEARHGCEER
EEERE
Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates but Lifetime ECL — (not credit- 12m ECL
usually settle in full impaired)
BRELE EBEALERIBRZES BREL2ELEE EWfﬁxﬁgﬁfﬁﬁ TEABRHEEER
/
Doubtful There have been significant increases in credit risk  Lifetime ECL — (not credit- Lifetime ECL — (not credit-
since initial recognition through information impaired) impaired)
developed internally or external resources
& FERRESPBANRBEZENCEBAIDK i%ﬁﬂiégﬁf$¥EWﬁ%1%%Ef$¥
MEPBRFAENESR) HEERE HEERE
Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is credit- Lifetime ECL — (credit- Lifetime ECL — (credit-
impaired impaired) impaired)
E# BRBBTIZAECREGENAE PHESEEBRE-CF 2HRHEEFR-C¥
EEERE EEERE
Write off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in Amount is written off Amount is written off
severe financial difficulty and the Group has no
realistic prospect of recovery, or in the case of
trade receivables, when the amounts are over
three years past due, whichever occurs sooner
s ﬁmﬁﬁfi%Aﬁﬁﬁém%ﬁla AEE WEEHEHE MBS
R A B &R A B TA - o e I AR X
ﬁg’mﬂﬁﬁ%iﬂ EGREHEEA
)
Trade receivables FE UL B 2k

The Group performs impairment assessment under ECL
model on trade receivables are grouped using a provision
matrix with past due status grouping or individual basis as
appropriate. In this regard, the directors consider that the
Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B SRR RE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HEZ T - =4 -A=+—HILFE

41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

(a)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Loans and advances from fintech business

The management of Brillink Bank is responsible for setting
the Group’s risk management strategy and the overall
risk tolerance level. The management of Brillink Bank
also monitors the Group’s risk management process
and regularly assesses the Group’s risk position and
risk management strategies. The management of Brillink
Bank gives advice on internal controls relating to risk
management. The Group established credit committee
who is responsible for implementing Brillink Bank’s overall
risk management system. Besides risk monitoring and
control, the credit committee is also responsible for
formulating risk management policies and authorisation
proposals for credit business. The board of directors of
Brillink Bank is responsible for formulating the authorisation
proposals for credit business. To ensure the independence
of credit approval, the credit committee is independent
from customer relationship and product management
departments. Credit committee carry out credit businesses
according to the Group’s risk management policies and
procedures.

The Group continuously improves the internal control
mechanism and strengthens the management of
the fintech business. The Group has established
comprehensive assessment and inquiry mechanisms,
assigning the credit management accountability to the
relevant departments and individuals.

(a)

4. BEERKREEBERBE@E

15 & 2 b X% inl {51 5F 1 (48)

TRBREBEEREBER
Brilink Bank® % 2 /8 & & #| E A
& B | 5 S IR SRR K 4R A bR A
ZKF - JRESRARE B R R E B
B E R A A S E /R AR
R R E IR RS AR SR
EREREBIEGIR H 2R - ASEE
BTEEZEg - B&EEEBrlink
Bank 2 EE @ [ B IR | E - B E
BN EEZEE2NAERIG
R B I BRI ik E B AE E A
BIEE R 7R - Brilink BankH) =
EEHERERGEBNRES
BHER - AERREEMNE L
M EEZEEBIYURNEFHER
MEMERITM - EEZESR
BAEERRRERERERREF
FERREFES -

eSS F P e TR
MBESBMMRXEBEE - AEE
ERUEFERBEES - 1
515 E R PR A B B P R
A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B SRR RE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HEZ T - =4 -A=+—HILFE

41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

(a)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Loans and advances from fintech business (Continued)
For corporate and institutional businesses, the Group has
established industry-specific limits for credit approval. It
has put in place continuous monitoring mechanism, with
regular reporting of credit exposures to the management of
Brillink Bank. The Group’s credit risk management covers
key operational phases, including pre-lending evaluations,
credit approval, and post-lending monitoring. With
respect to pre-lending evaluations, the Group assesses
customer credit ratings and performs integrated analysis
on the risk and return of the loan. In the credit approval
phase, all credit applications are approved by designated
credit officers. During the postlending monitoring, the
Group continually monitors outstanding loans and other
credit related businesses. Any adverse events that may
significantly affect a borrower’s repayment ability are
reported immediately, and actions are taken to mitigate the
risks. Customer relationship managers and risk managers
work independently to manage the key risk points
throughout the process of credit business.

The Group has applied the general approach to measure
ECL on individual basis. All of loans and advances to
customer are classified as low risk as at 31 March 2023.
Based on assessment, the loss given default is low in
view of the historical of default and the forward-looking
information. An allowance for credit losses of approximately
HK$659,000 (2022: HK$145,000) was recognised as at 31
March 2023.

China Brilliant Global Limited | Annual Report 2022/23

4. BEERKREEBERBE@E

(a)

15 & 2 b X% inl {51 5F 1 (48)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B SRR RE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HEZ T - =4 -A=+—HILFE

41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

(a)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Loan receivables from lending business

The directors estimate the estimated loss rates of loan
receivables based on historical credit loss experience
of the debtors. Except for loan receivables with the
amounts of approximately HK$3,787,000 (2022: nil) where
classified as loss, all other loan receivables are classified
as low risk (2022: low risk) as at 31 March 2023. Based
on assessment by the directors, except for a loan from a
customer of approximately of HK$3,787,000 (2022: nil), the
loss given default is low in view of the history of default and
the estimated realised amount of ultimate disposal of the
collaterals. An allowance for credit losses of approximately
HK$3,949,000 (2022: HK$1,979,000) was recognised as at
31 March 2023.

Amount due from an associate

The Group regularly monitors the business performance of
the associate. The Group’s credit risks in these balances
are mitigated through the value of the assets held by
these entities and the power to participate the relevant
activities of these entities. An allowance for credit losses
of approximately HK$4,527,000 (2022: HK$2,066,000) was
recognised as at 31 March 2023.

Deposits and other receivables

For deposits and other receivables, the directors make
periodic individual assessment on the recoverability
of other receivables and deposits based on historical
settlement records, past experience, and also quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportive forward-looking information. An allowance
for credit losses of approximately HK$5,000 (2022:
HK$17,000) was recognised as at 31 March 2023
while amounts of approximately HK$3,000,000 (2022:
HK$3,000,000) was classified as lifetime ECL (credit-
impaired).

4. BEERKREEBERBE@E

(a)

15 & 2 b X% inl {51 5F 1 (48)

BEEBRERKER

EEENEBANBAEGEBEREL
BATTENERNHTEEE - &
EE_=F=A=1+—H" K&
BE49/53,787,0008 T (- T = —4F:
D)W BEAEBBRNERERIN
B Bt I B 38 52 4R AR R iR
ZTE-ZFRER - REES
#) 7T 4% (493,787,000 T (ZZE = —
FENZTEPERBRIN  ERE
SR RN EER AT ER
SR BHEKNEBERE - RZ
T —F-A=-+-BHEREEE
18 B 15 493,949,000/ L (ZE = —
£ : 1,979,000 B L) °

JFE Uz — B & A R) 2 3R B
AEETFHHERZBE DA RNE
BREA - AEBRZELEHTH
EERBAEHZSERANEE
BEEBELRSHZEERERE
BHENGUNEN R-T ==
F=ZFA=+—HHEREEEIEE
##14,527,0008 L (ZZE = =4 :
2,066,000/ 7T) °
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Ko w14 B AT U O] 1 17 A4S o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B SRR RE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HEZ T - =4 -A=+—HILFE

41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

(a)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Bank balances

The Group deposited bank balances with approved and
reputable banks. Bankruptcy or insolvency of banks may
cause the Group’s right with respect to bank balances held
to be delayed or limited. The directors monitor the credit
rating of these banks on an ongoing basis, and considered
that the Group’s exposure to credit risk as at 31 March
2023 and 2022 were minimal.

Loan receivables and trade receivables as at 31 March
2023 contributed by the largest customer of the Group
was approximately 10% (2022: 16%) which represents a
corporate borrower with credit terms of 2 months (2022: a
corporate borrower with credit terms of 1.5 months). Loan
and trade receivables as at 31 March 2023 contributed by
the five largest customers of the Group was approximately
49% (2022: 68%) which include corporate borrowers from
lending business and fintech business (2022: individual and
corporate borrowers from lending business and jewellery
customer from gold and jewellery business). The credit
term ranges from 1 month to 1 year (2022: 1 month to 1
year). Concentration of credit risk is managed by control
over credit term over the individual customers.

China Brilliant Global Limited | Annual Report 2022/23

41.

BHEEMEEBRRBXR@E

(a)

1= & 3 b X% il {5 5T 4 (4])

R1T 4R
RNEBBRITEBRTARRA X
SERITMIRTT - RITBEXNE
NEEMREERASERHETF
BRMITHE A ERFLEE LT
BER EEHBERZERT
SENS TRAEASER=Z
TEFRZE-__F=/A=+—H
FrAS B (=B R KRB -

REBEHEAREFPEIER2ZE=_=F
“A=t—BHZEKERKEK
BRRKA10% (ZZEZZF : 16%) °
BB A2E AN EERAZ
T —F EEHAISEANDE
BRAN)  REBRAAZFREER
T F=-A=t—HZREWKE
K EWER KA B49% (ZFE ==
F:68%) BREREBEEEHRD
BARHE R A B EE R A LKA
(ZZE - —F :RABEEBNIKE
B RRBEEBNKERF 2@
ARBEERAZFRE) - EEH
NF1EABIF(ZZTEZZF : 1#
AZE1F) - AEEFEBIZESIERF
FZEHEREEREEERAR -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A B SRR RE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HEZ T - =4 -A=+—HILFE

41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

4. BEERKREEBERBE@E

(a) Credit risk and impairment assessment (@) EERKEFETEME)
(Continued)
Measurement of ECL on collective basis RERBAEGERHEESE
As at 31 March 2023, trade receivables are assessed RZZBEZ=F=A=+—H " KK
based on provision matrix except for trade receivables RAEEERENEYERSNZTAET
with the amounts of approximately nil (2022: HK$160,000) — =~ —4F : 160,000/8 7 1% 1@ 7
which considered as credit-impaired was assessed ECL on EEFHEHEEBEIN B
individual basis. The following table provides information R BB - TRIEHE
about the Group’s exposure to credit risk and ECLs for AAREER _TE_=F=A=1—
trade receivables as at 31 March 2023: ARt FTEEE 2 E B ER &
FEHEERBRER
As at 31 March 2023 R=-—B=-=f=H=+—8H
Average Gross
expected carrying Loss
loss rate amounts allowance
TigFEH A a R BEREE BiERE
HK$°000 HK$°000
TET FET
Neither past due nor impaired ~ BEAR B HI IR K H 3B
BB 3.9% 4,413 174
As at 31 March 2022 R-BZ-ZZ=ZH=A=+—8
Average Gross
expected carrying Loss
loss rate amounts allowance
15 78 HR S 18 BEEE BB
HK$'000 HK$’000
FAIT FHBIT
Neither past due nor impaired B K #1 HA IR oK H 38
B 2.4% 5,428 130
Past due between one to three I Hi— %= =& A
months 3.5% 56 2
Past due between three to twelve #HI =&+ —f& A
months 3.2% 42 1
5,626 1168
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B SRR RE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HEZ T - =4 -A=+—HILFE

41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

(a)

4. BEERKREEBERBE@E

Credit risk and impairment assessment (a) EERKRXEEFTMEE)
(Continued)
Average expected loss rates are based on actual loss FHEHEREEERNBEIHEN
experience over the past years. These rates are adjusted EREELCE ZSHEBELH
to reflect differences between economic conditions during FE A B B B A 4% 37 SR 5 ER B LU &
the period over which the historic data has been collected, WBTHE 2HNESE  BHAEMN
current conditions and the Group’s view of economic St K 7N £ [ ) pE W AR SRR TR 5t 4 HR
conditions over the expected lives of the receivables. A EY AR AR O B R BE o
The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL TREFRERE LT EDEREW
of trade receivables that has been recognised under ERNEHEREEBEEZS:
simplified approach:
Lifetime ECL Lifetime
(not credit- ECL (credit-
impaired) impaired) Total
ZHIFEEE E ZHIFEHEA
BEJUEA FEEE
RIim{E) (EERE) 85t
HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000
T T T AT
As at 1 April 2021 RZTZ—F
mA—H — 252 252
Impairment losses recognised & #& 72 8 B &5 18 128 - 128
Impairment losses reversed [SECATNCEEN SEiE! (99) (99)
Exchange alignment bE A & 7 12
As at 31 March 2022 and T =
as at 1 April 2022 =A=+—HBK
=
mAE—H 133 160 293
Impairment losses recognised & #& 2R 1E &5 18 181 — 181
Impairment losses reversed [ ENRENTE (128) — (128)
Written off i 85 = (154) (154)
Exchange alignment ME H, 38 B (12) (6) (18)
As at 31 March 2023 W=
=RA=+—H 174 - 174
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B SRR RE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HEZ T - =4 -A=+—HILFE

41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

(a)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

The following table shows the reconciliation of loss
allowance of loan receivables from lending business that
has been recognised under general approach:

4. BEERKREEBERBE@E

(a) 1= & b K w5 14 (4)

TEREBINEA—RITEAEROE
EXB R E S R B Hk -

Lifetime ECL
12m ECL (credit-impaired) Total
ZHEY
+={EA FEER
FEBR (EERE) @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR AT AT
As at 1 April 2021 R-ZE-—&MA—H 1,443 - 1,443
Impairment losses recognised ERZARNESE 536 - 536
As at 31 March 2022 and as at R-E-_—#=fA=+—8Ak
1 April 2022 —“E-_FMA—H 1,979 - 1,979
Transfer to lifetime ECL ERE>HEREERRE
(credit-impaired) (EERE) (61) 61 =
Impairment losses recognised ERRREER 262 2,427 2,689
Impairment losses reversed EELHEER (720) = (720)
As at 31 March 2023 R-ZE-=$=H=+—-H 1,460 2,488 3,948

The following table shows the reconciliation of loss
allowance of loans and advances to customers from

TR FEA—RNDEZERNE
BEMREPERRIAN R EE#

fintech business that has been recognised under general 15 /) BR
approach:
12m ECL
+=E A
FEER
HK$'000
TAETT
As at 1 April 2021 RZZEZ—FMA—H _
Impairment losses recognised B FE 2R (E & 1B 145
As at 31 March 2022 and R-ZB-_—_F=A=+—A0RK
as at 1 April 2022 R-ZTE-——FMA—H 145
Impairment losses recognised B2 (E B 659
Impairment losses reversed B 85 3] 5 (& &5 18 (145)
As at 31 March 2023 R-B-=%=A=+—H 659
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A B SRR RE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HEZ T - =4 -A=+—HILFE

41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

(a) Credit risk and impairment assessment (a)

(Continued)

The following table shows the reconciliation of loss
allowance of deposits and other receivables that has been

4. BEEREEBERBE@E

15 & 2 b X% inl {51 5F 1 (48)

TREIIRA— R EAEROF]
REMBKFIBBERENY

recognised under general approach: iR -
Lifetime
ECL (credit-
12m ECL impaired) Total
ZHIFEEA
+=EATEH EEER
FEEBE (FERE) Bt
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
T FAT FHBIT
As at 1 April 2021 R-_ZE—_—FMA—H 268 3,000 3,268
Impairment losses reversed ERERESE (253) = (253)
Exchange alignment BE 5, 8 B 2 = 2
As at 31 March 2022 and R-T__
as at 1 April 2022 —A=+—H8k
T FMHA—H 17 3,000 3,017
Impairment losses recognised  #& FR J5 B &5 18 5 - 5
Impairment losses reversed B ERE BB (16) = (16)
As at 31 March 2023 R-ZBE-=F
=H=+—H 6 3,000 3,006
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B SRR RE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HEZ T - =4 -A=+—HILFE

41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

(a)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

The following table shows the reconciliation of loss
allowance of amount due from an associate that has been
recognised under general approach:

41.

B IR EIEEERBUR @)

(a) 155/ B % R E 5 14 (4)

TREFNRA—RITEER AWK
BERARREBBEREGBNYE:

12m ECL

+—{E R FEEA

EEEE

HK$'000

T T

As at 1 April 2021 R —_—FWMA—H 1,006

Impairment losses recognised HRBEBE 1,060
As at 31 March 2022 and as at 1 April 2022 RZ-ZE_—_F=HA=+—HRK

—T-__FH—H 2,066

Impairment losses recognised HRBEBE 2,209

As at 31 March 2023 R=-B|Z-=%=A=+—H 4,275

During the year ended 31 March 2023, amounts of
approximately HK$4,570,000 (2022: HK$1,517,000) of
impairment loss allowance for ECL was recognised in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

HE—_T-_=F=H=+—HItF
&+ TEHi{= B E518494,570,000/% T
(ZZ = — 4 : 1,517,000 7T.) &9 &
BEEEREREABEREME
AU =R AT AR °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B SRR RE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HEZ T - =4 -A=+—HILFE

41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

(b)

4. BEERKREEBERBE@E

Liquidity risk (b) MENEEER
Liquidity risk is the risk of non-availability of funds to meet MEECRERIERERNESE I
all contractual financial commitments as they fall due. The eI A B Hl 2 & %) B A5 2 R
objective of the Group is to apply prudent treasury policy to b o AEE 2 BIZRREURE 20
monitor liquidity ratios against risk limits with a contingency HBHE EERRBRBERR
plan for funding, to ensure the Group has sufficient funding BRE  WHRBESZERTE -
for operation needs. The management manages liquidity BRAEEEETHWIRE AER
risk by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash HEETE -EHEEEAFES
flows, and by matching the maturity profiles of financial RENHEERRERERERS
assets and liabilities. B E E & B E 2 B H I AL ¥ 2K
EERDESRR
The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities at RIFEHR - AEBRBEASDORTT
the end of the reporting period based on the contractual RBNRAEZEREBEZHNEE
undiscounted payments is as follows: N
Morethan ~ More than
Weighted  On demand one year two year Total Total
average orwithin  butless than  but less than  undiscounted carrying
interest rate one year two years fiveyears  cash flows amount
MEEY  RERY  -EHE WENE  RFRRS
ik -ER  EORRE EBHRIE  REEE KEOELE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Balt Fix FiEx T i TEx
As at 31 March 2023 it
=B=+-8
Trade payables BHEMEN = 4 = = 4 4
Other payables and accruals A EMFE RSB = 8,012 = = 8,012 8912
Promissory note ENER 2.50 1,950 79,560 - 81,510 58,149
Depostts from customers RPER 1.35 31,539 - - 31,539 31,539
Lease liabilties fEaE 191 1,080 66 - 1,146 1,097
43,485 79,626 - 123,11 99,701
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B SRR RE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HEZ T - =4 -A=+—HILFE

41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

(b)

(c)

4. BEERKREEBERBE@E

Liquidity risk (Continued) (b) REELE(E)
More than More than
Weighted ~ On demand one year two year Total Total
average orwithin -~ butlessthan  butlessthan  undiscounted carrying
interest rate one year two years five years cash flows amount
¥ BEXT —FENE MENE  AFBRE
il —Ef  EORWE  BIREE  RELE KEGEES
% HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
AAl AT ThL iR AL T
As at 31 March 2022 RZE-=
=A=1-H
Trade payables BAEMNEN - 10 - - 10 10
Other payables and accruals A ENFE RS - 6,530 - - 6,530 6,530
Promissory note NS 25 78,582 - - 78,582 75,947
Depostts from customers REGR 05 7272 - - 7012 7012
Lease liabities HEBE 63 % - - % 9
92,489 - - 92,489 89,853
Interest rate risk (c) FI== bk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in
relation to fixed-rate loans and advances to customers
from fintech business, fixed-rate deposits from customers,
promissory note and lease liabilities. The Group is also
exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to
variable-rate bank balances and variable-rate loans and
advances to customers from fintech business. The Group
cash flow interest rate risk is mainly concentrated on the
fluctuation of interest rates on bank balances and standard
trade finance rate or HIBOR arising from loans and
advances to customers from fintech business. The Group
aims at keeping borrowings at variable rates. The Group
manages its interest rate exposures by assessing the
potential impact arising from any interest rate movements
based on interest rate level and outlook. The management
will review the proportion of borrowings in fixed and floating
rates and ensure they are within reasonable range.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B SRR RE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HEZ T - =4 -A=+—HILFE

41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for non-derivative
instruments. The analysis is prepared assuming the
financial instruments outstanding at the end of the
reporting period were outstanding for the whole year.
A 50 basis point increase or decrease in variable-rate
bank balances and variable-rate loans and advances to
customers from fintech business are used when reporting
interest rate risk internally to key management personnel
and represents management’s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in interest rates.

If interest rates had been 50 basis points higher/lower and
all other variables were held constant, the Group’s post-tax
loss for the year ended 31 March 2023 would increase/
decrease by approximately HK$235,000 (2022: decrease/
increase in post-tax loss HK$208,000). This is mainly
attributable to the Group’s exposure to interest rates on its
variable-rate bank balances and variable-rate loans and
advances to customers from fintech business.

Foreign currency risk

The Group operates in Hong Kong, the PRC and
Kazakhstan and majority of transactions are denominated
in HK$, RMB, KZT and US$. Foreign exchange risk arises
from trading transactions, recognised assets and liabilities,
which are denominated in a currency that is not the
functional currency of the Group.

The Group is not exposed to foreign exchange risk in
respect of HK$ against the US$ as long as this currency is

pegged.

As assets and liabilities denominated in RMB and KZT
arise mainly from entities with functional currency of RMB
and KZT the Group considers there has no material foreign
currency risk exposure in respect of RMB and KZT.

The Group has no significant exposure to foreign exchange
rate fluctuations.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 HEZ T - =4 -A=+—HILFE

42. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 42, EXER

The primary objectives of capital management are to safeguard
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to
provide returns for shareholders and to maintain an optimal
capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
management may make adjustments on the dividend policy or
capital structure policy in light of changes in conditions and the
risk characteristics of the underlying assets. No changes were
made in the objectives, policies or processes for managing
capital during each of the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022.

The Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital
requirements, except for Brillink Bank which licensed by the
Astana Financial Services Authority are obliged to meet the
regulatory liquid capital requirements under the rules set by
Astana Financial Services Authority at all times.

Gearing ratio

The directors review the capital structure regularly. As part
of this review, the directors consider the cost of capital and
the risks associated with each class of capital. Based on
recommendations of the directors, the Group will balance its
overall capital structure through payment of dividends, issue of
new share and redemption of existing shares as well as the issue
of new debt or the redemption of existing debts.

The gearing ratio at the end of the reporting period was as
follows:

BEAEE 2T ERRREAANEERER
BB - AIRCREE (0 o B 4 45 &
BERRBIARDESKA

BESNAREARER  BEERER
B R 2 & LR E E R RS
BEREBRIENEBHEK - HE_Z
T =FERE-_F=A=+—HIEF
EEF BAEEZBE  BERIARE
I EE D) o

KNEBHBBEETITMINRERNBRTE
ML HTE NS B RTEEIE BT A
Brillink Bank 5 2 75 18 £ & W 2 35 49 &
BREERENHRAFEREERIE
B ERKERIN o

EXxRAELE
ESTEHRMEARE - BEALLAR
A BEEREERARESEERNERE
AZRBRAZE EREFRZHEE
B AEESEBRMNKRE - BITHRK
N BB EIR B Bt DA Ko 3 17 3 (B 2 B M 3R
EEBVFTEHEBRERRE -

RBEERRZERNERAFLRMT

2023 2022

—g== T
HK$’000 HK$'000
TExT T
Total debts (note) VA ) 61,527 78,504
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEED (45,089) (92,144)
Net debt/(cash) &%,/ (Re)FHE 16,438 (13,640)
Equity attributable to owners of the Company  RA G B A FEAG # 25 18,279 26,230
Total debts to equity ratio BIFAEREE X 337% 299%

Note: i

EBRBERERE —REB AR ZER AN
ERMHEERE -

Total debts comprises loan from a related company, promissory note and
lease liabilities.
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43. RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

The Group operates a MPF Scheme under the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance. The assets of
the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group
in funds under the control of an independent trustee. Under
the MPF Scheme, the employees are required to contribute
5% of their monthly salaries or up to a maximum of HK$1,500
and they can choose to make additional contributions. The
employer’s monthly contributions are calculated at 5% of the
employee’s monthly salaries or up to a maximum of HK$1,500
(the “Mandatory Contributions”), and this is the only obligation of
the Group with respect to the MPF Scheme to make the required
contribution.

The employees are entitled to 100% of the employer's Mandatory
Contributions upon their retirement at the age of 65, death or
total incapacity.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are
members of a state-managed retirement benefit scheme
operated by the government of the PRC. The subsidiary is
required to contribute certain percentage of its payroll costs to
the retirement benefit scheme to fund the benefits. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement benefit
scheme is to make the specified contribution.

On behalf of its employees, the Group makes pension
contributions and pays termination benefits prescribed by
legal requirements of Kazakhstan. When employees retire,
the Group’s financial liabilities terminate and all subsequent
payments to the retired employees are made by national pension
savings fund.

There was no forfeiture of retirement benefits scheme
contributions for both years.

The contributions arising from the above retirement benefits
scheme are charged to profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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44. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for

4. METHFELEERZHIR

TRAFASERETDMELABZ
2% RRATRIIRSED - BER
PBELRERAREMEDHARKRE

which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in MEPRASRBEGRARERERSER
the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows BEEFHHNREREAE -
from financing activities.
Lease Interest Promissory
liabilities payables note Total
HEARE ERFE REER @zt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THT THT THET
As at 1 April 2021 R-ZE-_—%WA—H 2,288 385 70,421 73,094
Non-cash changes FRELH
Loss arising on fair value change of financial NAFEEFZAEGFABRE S/
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss BEATEEZYEL L
(note 7) BB #7) - - 7,476 7,476
Interest expenses recognised ERERFNERE
(note 8) (H17£8) 78 - - 78
Exchange alignment [ 5 5 2 38 - - 38
Interest on promissory note ERNZEANE - 1,950 (1,950) -
Cash flows RERE
— Qutflow from financing activities -REREEDZ
RBemd 2,310) - - (2,310)
As at 31 March 2022 and as at R-ZZB-—%=H
1 April 2022 =+—HEkINA—RH 94 2,335 75,947 78,376
Non-cash changes FREEH
Loss arising on fair value change of financial ~ WAF(EE: £ AEAABRE 2 £
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss BEATEEEDEAL
(note 7) BEWH7) - - 9,617 9,617
New lease entered HIE ki) 1,922 - - 1,922
Issue of new promissory note BOMEREE - - 52,535 52,535
Repayment of promissory note BEANER - - (78,000) (78,000)
Interest expenses recognised EHRHEHX
(note 8) (H17£8) 102 - - 102
Interest on promissory note AREERNE - 1,950 (1,950) -
Cash flows ReME
— Outflow from financing activities -REREES 2
Beimit (1,021) - - (1,021)
As at 31 March 2023 R-ZBZ=
=A=+-H 1,097 4,285 58,149 63,531
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45. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 17 May 2023, the Company obtained a loan from Mr. Zhang
with an amounts of approximately HK$19,600,000. The loan is
unsecured, interest-bearing at 2.5% per annum and repayable
on demand.

46. APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the board on 30 June 2023.
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